
www.klepierre.com
Click on the hyperlinks 
in the text to receive
more detailed 
information from 
our website.

> Group profile 01

> Chairman’s message 02

> Profitable growth 06

- The Klépierre model 06

- Stock market 10

> Responsible development 12

- Supervisory Board and Executive Board 12

- Corporate governance 14

- Organization chart 14

- Human resources 16

- Sustainable development 18

> Key figures 22

> Highlights 24

> Shopping centers 26

> Office properties 40

- Financing policy 48

- Revalued net assets 50

- Competition 55

> Notes to the financial statements 56

- Notes to the consolidated financial statements 56

- Notes to the corporate financial statements 63

> Draft resolutions 67

> Financial statements 71

- Consolidated financial statements 72

- Corporate financial statements 104

> Legal information 127

Management report: page 1 to 66

04 Strategy

20 Business 

46 Finances

@@



KLEPIERRE2002 financial report

2
00

2 
fin

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t

@@ www.klepierre.com

Klépierre  
6, bd des Capucines
75009 Paris
Tel.: 33 (0)1 40 67 57 40
Fax: 33 (0)1 40 67 40 31

Registered principal office
21, avenue Kléber
75116 Paris

A French corporation 
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In just five years, Klépierre has produced an exemplary real-estate

business growth model founded on the development, ownership and

management of shopping centers in Continental Europe. With over 

185 shopping malls and leasable floor area totaling 1,150,000 square

meters, Klépierre leads the market in France, Spain and Italy and 

is present in Belgium, Portugal, Greece and the Czech Republic. 

Its holdings are currently valued at €4.7 billion, with €3.5 billion invested

in shopping centers and €1.2 billion in office properties.

The driving force behind Klépierre’s success in the shopping center

segment is Ségécé’s unique management expertise in Europe. 

A subsidiary in which Klépierre holds a 75% controlling interest, Ségécé

manages 307 shopping centers and constitutes a powerful tool for

development and integration.

Klépierre’s positioning in markets with high growth potential, the quality 

of its holdings and its management capability support its target of steady,

double-digit growth in its net current cash flow over the medium term.

Thanks to the stability of its core business, which offers ongoing

opportunities to reinvest regularly generated cash flows, Klépierre is able

to use its acquired expertise in office real estate to take full advantage 

of the upside opportunities in this very liquid market.

Listed on the Paris Euronext stock exchange (Premier Marché), Klépierre

has increased its market capitalization from €440 million to €1,930 million

in five years. Its primary shareholder, BNP Paribas, owns 53.1% 

of is equity capital. ●

Klépierre: at the heart of retail in Europe





Klépierre has experienced extraordinary growth 
in the last six years, multiplying its holdings and revenues
sixfold since 1997. But for a real-estate asset manager
like Klépierre, an increase in scale of this kind 
is not an end in and of itself. The real significance 
of this achievement lies in the fact that Klépierre’s stock
has doubled in value over the same period, while the
annual dividend payout has increased by an average 
of 10%.

Admittedly, Klépierre has benefited from a propitious
environment in recent years. Economic growth 
in France and Europe since 1997, a healthy property
market and lower interest rates have combined 
to drive Klépierre’s excellent performance, 
which was particularly impressive in 2002.

But most of all, Klépierre has taken advantage of this
positive environment to ensure its future profitable
growth over the medium term, despite heightened
economic uncertainty.

In fact, Klépierre’s strong growth has been
accompanied by a gradual enhancement of its risk
profile. First, Klépierre reduced risk by shifting its
investment focus to shopping centers, which offer
sustained income growth and minimum exposure 
to economic downturn. It also concentrated its office
property business, which now accounts for only 
a quarter of its total revenues, on locations that are 
the least exposed to vacancy risk. Moreover, Klépierre
capitalized on record low interest rates to extend its
debt schedule and increase hedged debt.

Having successfully secured most of its income 
growth and sheltered its debt from a rise in interest
rates, Klépierre is now well equipped to pursue
implementation of its property development model,
thereby ensuring robust and steady improvement 
in its key performance indicators.

The company is blessed with two essential assets 
in its pursuit of these aims: the skilled and motivated

employees of its subsidiaries in France and abroad,
and its first-rate portfolio of shopping center projects 
in Europe, both products of the partnerships Klépierre
has cultivated over the years in a climate of mutual
confidence and respect.

The wisdom of strategic choices is only truly tested 
in times of difficulty. It is clear that 2003 will provide
many opportunities for insight in this respect.

The fact that we are asking shareholders to approve
another substantial dividend increase at our annual
meeting is a sign of our confidence in the future 
of our company.

Michel Clair
Chairman
of the Executive Board 
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Growth and visibility
“Today, Klépierre is well equipped to pursue robust 
and steady improvement in its key performance indicators.”
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Klépierre’s business model is built on recognized expertise and the ability to generate
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The Klépierre model
Klépierre’s financing policy is consistent with its

growth st rategy,  which in  turn is  based on 

a specific business model. This model, which

once again proved its worth in 2002, also enabled

Klépierre to improve its r isk profi le. In 2003,

Klépierre will further reduce risk by diversifying its

financial resources, reinforcing its debt structure

and increasing its debt hedging activity.

Sustained growth
In four years, Klépierre’s real-estate assets have

virtually tripled. Over the same period, the per-

centage invested in shopping centers climbed from

36% to 75%, while foreign holdings grew from 1%

to 25%. Over the same period, debt increased 

by €1.7 billion, without exceeding 43% of revalued

net assets. Shareholders’ equity rose by €625 mil-

lion, €290 million of which is owned by minority

partners and €190 million by private investors. 

The remaining €145 million has been appropriated

to reserves. The Group share of equity capital

increased by close to €335 million, up 42% in four

years, while market capitalization rose by 

72%, reaching €1.9 billion (versus €1.1 billion 

>PROFITAB 

Seeking to create steady
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In addition, the predominant trend in most of these

markets is to combine shopping centers with 

hypermarkets.

The French leader in this sector, Klépierre tried and

tested the sustainability and quality of its growth

model in France over a period that lasted several

years. The integration within France of the first 

70 shopping malls acquired in connection with the

Carrefour partnership provided further evidence 

of the strength of this model. The acquisition 

of 52 shopping malls in Spain in late 2000 and

throughout 2001 gave Klépierre a leading position

in Spain, further strengthened by the purchase 

of a 50% interest in Centros Shopping Gestion,

which made Ségécé the number one shopping 

center manager in Spain.

In 2002, the model was rolled out on a large scale

in Italy, where the Group has been present since

1998 through its partnership with Finim. Under the

terms of its agreement with Carrefour, Klépierre

acquired 11 Italian malls and invested in 9 other

malls in partnership with Finiper. Ségécé and Finim

now own 50% each of PSG, following its merger

with Eurocenter. PSG is now the Italian leader 

in shopping center management.

Business model validated in 2002
Klépierre achieved internal growth in lease income 

of 6.6% (including office properties). Taking into

account the additional income generated from the

reinvestment of €82 million of available cash (net

current cash flow less dividends) in new shopping

centers, primarily in France, organic growth was 9.3%.

External growth brought further benefits to Klépierre:

the full-year impact of investments and disposals

completed in 2001, plus an additional €254 million

(net of disposals of €150 million), mainly invested 

in shopping malls in Italy. Lease income grew by a

total of 14.6%, while revenues (excluding develop-

ment operations) rose by 13.2%, without any increase 

in fees charged to third parties. Excluding manage-

ment fees, cash flow from operations rose by 12.1%. 

The leverage provided by debt financing pushed net

current cash flow up 20.2%. On a fully diluted basis,

net current cash flow per share increased by 16.6%,

exceeding the 15% target set in early 2002.

Double-digit growth
Klépierre recently announced that it would pursue

a 10% increase in net current cash flow per share

in 2003. ●

at year-end 1998). The stock float tripled, increas-

ing from €385 million to €900 million over the

four-year period.

Expansion throughout Europe
The Klépierre and Ségécé business development

model primarily involves owning and managing

shopping centers. The principal sphere of activity

is Europe, where legal restrictions on supply 

and consumer spending patterns are similar. 

 LE GROWTH
3xthe
stock float
in four years

75%
in shopping
centers
versus 36% 
at year-end 1998

and profitable value
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Giussano-Milan/Italy

Financial strength
Klépierre’s growth model for the Shopping center

sector also contr ibutes to i ts economic and

financial strength by providing resources to fund

strong external growth.

Lower risk profile
The Klépierre business model improves the

portfolio risk profile in three ways:

>the acquisition of shopping centers (for a total

o f  € 512 mi l l ion )  g ives K lépier re  add i t iona l

expertise in a steady growth market;

>disposal of off ice properties (for €150 mil-

lion) reduces the Group’s exposure to cyclical

downturns in this market. 75% of Klépierre’s 

real-estate assets are now shopping center

properties. This percentage is expected to swell

in 2003 as Klépierre sells more office properties

(for €150 million) and acquires shopping centers

(for over €600 million);

> cont inued growth abroad enhances the

geographic diversity of Klépierre’s assets, of

which a quarter are located outside of France 

in high-potential markets such as Spain, Italy,

Greece and Portugal.

More shareholders’ equity
Outstanding performance, further external growth

and a r ise in i ts stock pr ice have combined 

to enable Klépierre to raise equity by €147 million

through the early redemption of the convertible

bonds maturing in early 2006. By reinforcing its

f inancing structure,  Klépierre has managed 

to reduce the Loan To Value ratio from 45.9% 

to 42.7%. At the same time, lower interest rates

The virtuous circle of healthy growth

have enabled Klépierre to extend interest-rate

hedging activit ies and reschedule debt while

lowering average interest expense.

Favorable tax reform
The 2003 finance bill introduces new tax treatment

for French listed real-estate companies (SIIC),

exempting them from taxation on rental income

and capital gains realized on assets located in

France. To qualify for this status, companies must:

> dis t r ibute  the major i ty  o f  the i r  earn ings 

to shareholders (85% of current profits and 50% 

of future gains), thereby avoiding double taxation

of these profits;

> pay a 16.5% exit tax on any unrealized gains

on French real-estate assets as of the date 

of election of the new status.

Pending promulgation of definitive regulations, 

a pre l iminary analys is  of  the impact of  th is

legislation follows.

If Klépierre elects for SIIC status, this would increase

return on investment for its shareholders, since 

the profits that are distributed to them will no longer

be subject to double taxation.8

> PROFITABLE GROWTH



This change in status should allow Klépierre to op-

timize the divestiture of French assets it has owned

for long periods. Klépierre already enjoys reduced

local taxes on most of its recently acquired foreign

holdings, in particular due to the type of financing

employed.

With the twofold increase in its real-estate assets

over the past two years, Klépierre (including sub-

sidiaries that are likely to qualify for SIIC status)

would be liable for the payment of an exit tax esti-

mated at €138 million. Allowing for the higher

dividend distribution and tax savings are factored

in, this tax expense would not diminish Klépierre’s

ability to finance its growth. ● 9
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Stock market
The CAC 40 bottoms out
Following a 22% decrease in 2001, the CAC 40

index declined by 34% in 2002. On October 9,

2002, the CAC fell to 2,656 points, its worst

performance since 1997.

After sending out a few posit ive signals, the

long-awai ted economic recovery in  the US 

was  no t  as  robus t  as  expected .  Ongo ing

uncer ta in ty  re la ted  to  the  I raq  c r i s i s  and  

the decline of the dollar continue to disorient 

the markets.

Real-estate companies
still offer security
Investors cont inue to show a great  deal  of

interest in European real-estate companies,

which offer high earnings visibi l ity compared 

with other sectors.

The EPRA EuroZone benchmark index outper-

formed the CAC 40 by 47% and the Eurostoxx

EuroZone by 50%. In terms of absolute value, this

performance remains impressive: the EPRA

EuroZone recorded a 15% increase and EPRA

France rose by 19%.

Impressive run for the Klépierre share
Closing out the year at €129.1, the Klépierre share

performed quite remarkably in 2002, moving up

20.3%. The share price grew steadily during the

first half, reaching its yearly high at €134.6 on May

31st. Severe stock market depreciation throughout

the summer drew the share price down to its low-

est level (€108.2) on October 10th. This decline is

partly attributable to the early retirement of the 

convertible bond. The share then bounced back 

in early November, intensifying its upswing at the

end of the month when the introduction of a new

tax status for listed French real-estate companies 

(SIIC) was made public.

The redemption of convertible bonds and the stock

price increase led to a 61% rise in the stock float,

Klépierre stock performance stands out

which climbed from €560 million at end 2001 

to €899 million at end 2002. Klépierre’s liquidity was

also enhanced: trading increased by an average of

44% per month, with daily volume of around 11,800 sha-

res. Over the long term, the performance by the

Klépierre share also reveals significant growth.

Successful redemption
of convertible bonds
According to the terms of its 3% convertible bond

issue contract (November 1998), Klépierre had the

option of retiring bonds early as from January 1,

2002, if the stock price exceeded 130% of the 

issue price.

On July 15, 2002, 31% of the issue was sponta-

neously presented for conversion. Noting that the

10
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KLÉPIERRE SHARE PERFORMANCE

2002
129,1

+20.3%
-33.7%

1998 1999 2000 2001
Closing price 86.9 96.0 100.1 107.3
% change +46.5% +10.5% +4.3% +7.2%
Change in CAC 40 +33.6% +51.1% -0.7% -22.0%



conditions for early redemption were fulfilled at this

time, Klépierre elected to exercise its options and

retire the outstanding bonds. On November 14,

2002, at the end of the three-month period during which

bondholders were given the option of choosing 

between conversion or redemption, 745,763 bonds

were presented for conversion. Overall, almost 99%

of the convertible bonds issued were converted, 

resulting in the issuance of 1,977,509 new shares.

A total of 1,536,364 of these shares were issued 

in 2002, strengthening equity by €147 million for

the year and €190 million overall. ● 11
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MICHEL CLAIR

(56) A graduate of ENA, until 1991, Michel Clair worked 

in government, first as an auditor, then as a commissioner 

of the French government Audit Office. During this period, 

Mr. Clair held a variety of positions with the French Planning

Office and the Industrial Affairs Office and served as chief 

of staff for the Vice-Minister of Finance and Economy 

in charge of Commerce, Crafts and Services from 1986 

to 1988. In 1991, he joined Compagnie Bancaire, where he was
head of Human Resources, before being appointed Corporate

Secretary and member of the Executive Board.

After the Paribas-Compagnie Bancaire merger, Mr. Clair was

appointed to a seat on the Paribas Executive Committee 

as the senior executive in charge of real estate and pooled

corporate services. He is Chairman and Chief Executive 

of Klépierre since 1997 and also Chairman of the Klépierre

Executive Board since 1998.

CLAUDE LOBJOIE
(54) An engineering graduate

from INSA Lyon, Mr. Lobjoie

joined Compagnie Bancaire 

in 1970, where he served 

as Corporate Secretary of UCB

(1991-1996) and then Chief 

Real Estate Officer (1996-1998).

He has been a member of the

Klépierre Executive Board since

1998, and is head of the Office

property division and Corporate

Secretary. He is also President 

of Klégestion. He was appointed

Chairman of Klépierre Services

on January 1, 2002.

> Vivien Lévy-Garboua (55) was elected

Chairman of the Supervisory Board on April 12,

2000. He is also member of the Executive

Committee of BNP Paribas. 

> Christian Manset (61) has served 

as Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

since July 21, 1998. He is also President 

of Compagnie Financière Ottomane.

> Philippe Dulac (60) was elected 

to the Supervisory Board on July 21, 1998.

> Bertrand de Feydeau* (54) 

was elected to the Supervisory Board

on July 21, 1998. He is also Senior Executive 

Vice President of Economic Affairs 

for the Archdiocese of Paris. 

> Bertrand Jacquillat* (58) was elected 

to the Supervisory Board on April 12, 2001. 

He is also Chairman and CEO of Associés 

en Finance and a member of the faculty 

of the Institut d’Études Politiques de Paris.

SUPERVISORY BOARD

12



JEAN-PAUL SABET

(48) A graduate of HEC, 

Mr. Sabet began his career

with Banque Paribas as head

of Mergers and Acquisitions

involving the food industry

before becoming head of the

Food Industry and Retail

Consumer Goods division 

of Paribas Affaires

Industrielles in 1993.

He later became Chairman

and CEO of Société Centrale

d’Investissements, then

Chairman of Marais

Investissements. He has been

a member of the Klépierre

Executive Board in charge 

of Finance and Development

since 1998. He is also 

a member of the board 

of various companies.
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ÉRIC RANJARD

(57) An engineering graduate

from ESTP, Mr. Ranjard has

spent most of his professional

career with Ségécé. He was

appointed Chairman of Ségécé

in 1999. Since 1998, he has

been a member of the Klépierre

Executive Board, in charge 

of the Shopping center division.

He was appointed to several

positions in Klépierre’s

subsidiaries, including

Chairman of Ségécar in France,

Chairman of Centros Shopping

Gestion in Spain, and Vice

Chairman of PSG in Italy. An

expert for the Administrative

Court of Paris, he was elected

Vice President of the Conseil

National des Centres

Commerciaux in 2000.

> Bertrand Letamendia* (55) was 

elected to the Supervisory Board on July 21, 1998. 

He is Chief Real Estate Officer of AGF Group.

> Jean Nunez (42) was elected to the Supervisory

Board on July 21, 1998. He is also 

head of Finance and Control for the Banque de

Financement et d’Investissement of BNP Paribas.

> Laurent Treca (55) was elected to the

Supervisory Board on April 12, 2001. He is also 

a member of the Executive Committee 

of BNP Paribas, where he is head of Development.

In accordance with Klépierre’s bylaws, the Supervisory

Board must meet at least 4 times each year. 

The Supervisory Board has granted its Chairman 

the power to independently authorize the Executive

Board to carry out the following transactions, 

provided that no single transaction exceeds 

€46 million or the equivalent in another currency: 

> buy and sell any stake in any company 

(no restriction applies to intragroup transactions)

> acquire or dispose of any buildings (no restriction

applies to intragroup transactions)  > in the event 

of a dispute, enter into agreements or transactions 

and accept compromise settlements. 

As set forth in the company bylaws, only half 

of the annual compensation of members 

of the Supervisory Board is fixed. The variable

portion of their compensation is contingent 

on their attendance at Supervisory Board meetings.

Independent auditors

> Incumbent:
Ernst & Young Audit

Mazars et Guérard

> Alternates:
Jean-Marc Montserrat

José Marette

* An independent board member, who is not bound 
by any relationship to the company, its group or its 
management that could interfere with his exercise 
of independent judgment.
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Initially set up in 1998, Klépierre’s corporate

governance structures ensure that the company’s

strategic decisions are evaluated by independent

specialists.

Investment Committee members:

Vivien Lévy-Garboua – Chairman

Christian Manset

Bertrand de Feydeau

Laurent Treca
The Investment Committee studies the terms 

and conditions of potential acquisitions to ensure

that they are in line with investment strategy.

Following the review of the investment criteria 

at the beginning of the year, the committee

focused on tracking the value created by the

investments realized. This information is 

a prerequisite to all future decisions to acquire,

dispose of, or retain assets. Financing hypotheses

for future investments were also developed. 

The committee met 4 times in 2002, voting 

on key items such as the significant acquisition

program in Italy, involving the purchase of 

11 shopping centers from Carrefour, the signature 

of a new agreement with Finiper, leading to 

the acquisition of a 40% stake in IGC, owner 

of 9 shopping malls in Italy, and also Klépierre’s

first acquisition in Portugal.

The Supervisory Board has granted the following

investment authorizations:

• Executive Board, up to €8 million;

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board, up to €45

million, acting at the behest of the Supervisory

Board.

Audit Committee members:

Christian Manset – Chairman

Bertrand Jacquillat
Bertrand Letamendia
Jean Nunez

Vivien Lévy-Garboua – Chairman of the

Supervisory Board and an at-large member 

of this committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating

major accounting decisions, financial disclosures and

the quality of accounting procedures. It met twice 

in 2002. The principal items on the agenda were:

> the allocation of the tangible fixed assets 

of shopping centers between land and buildings,

particularly for Italy and Spain, in order 

to harmonize practices with other countries and

implement homogeneous accounting methodology;

> accelerated disclosure deadlines for financial

statements, effective as of 2003;

> compliance with international accounting

standards (IAS).

At each accounting cut-off date, special attention

is given to the assessment of risks and off-balance

sheet commitments.

In addition to permanent committee members, 

the independent auditors, the Chief Financial

Officer and the person in charge of the

consolidated financial statements also 

attend committee meetings.

Compensation Committee members:

Vivien Lévy-Garboua – Chairman

Philippe Dulac
Bertrand de Feydeau
The Compensation Committee issues

recommendations on the compensation 

of directors and officers of the Company

and stock option plans. It met once in 2002.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SAS Klécar Europe Sud

Klépierre Portugal

Klécar Participation Italie

Klécar España

Klécar Makedonia

▼
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IGC

SA Ségécar*

PSG

SA Centros Shopping
Gestion

SA Devimo Consult

FMC*

50

50

35

33

Key

Klépierre SA’s 
direct ownership
percentage

* property management only

SA Ségécé

Klépierre Services 34

I Business support services

33

%

Organized along business
lines, a European presence, 
a network of partners

BY PRODUCT
• Shopping centers 

and office properties.

BY COUNTRY

• Continental Europe:

shopping centers.

• France (almost exclusively 

Paris and the Greater

Paris Area):

office properties.

BY BUSINESS LINE
• Real-estate asset 

management, ownership 

of buildings in operation.

• Development: creation

of new commercial properties.

• Service: rental and 

property management,

new project design 

and completion,

business support 

services, etc.

50

▼
▼

▼

▼

▼

DEVELOPMENT

Galae 49▼51

Klécar Iberica

SAS CB Pierre 100 SAS Klégestion 100

▼75

SNC Klécar France SNC Kléber La Pérouse

▼50

* Czech Republic

▼

25

SERVICES
I Property and Rental Management I Multimedia

% Direct ownership
percent of one group
subsidiary by another
subsidiary

40

83 100



16

Human resources
Klépierre’s human resources policy reflects three

core values: creativity, commitment and respon-

siveness. These values guide employee career

management as well as staff-management dialogue

at subsidiary level.

Integration and training
With two-thirds of its employees under the age of

40 and the majority of its workforce having joined the

Group within the last 5 years, Klépierre emphasizes

integration, skills development and personalized col-

laborative management for its employees. Klépierre

also promotes the sharing of best practices among

professionals with diverse backgrounds, which 

constitutes an ideal tool for enhancing performance.

Moreover, by harmonizing the performance review

and compensation and benefits frameworks in force

at Klégestion, Klépierre Services, Ségécé and Ségé-

car, Klépierre hopes to enhance career mobility

throughout the Group.

Some 299 employees in France completed over 

7,600 hours of training in 2002. For an average 

workforce of 372 employees, this represents a “rate

of access to training” of over 80%.

Klépierre’s foreign subsidiaries, which employ

237 individuals, primarily in Spain and Italy, are

given the autonomy they need to adapt human

resources management practices to their local

personnel.

In 2002, in addition to one-off assignments that

provided opportunities for interaction between

Klépier re  employees and those o f  the

subsidiaries, a seminar brought the Spanish and

French IT teams together.  Dur ing th is t ime,

informational meetings organized by Ségécé

brought teams from Belgium and Italy to Paris 

to give a presentation of their business.

New profit sharing incentives
2002 was the setting for intense labor-management

dialogue. For Klépierre Services, established on

January 1, 2002, issues of interest were the

establishment of personnel representative bodies

and the negotiation of agreements pertaining to em-

ployee profit sharing and a reduction in work-time.

For Ségécé, labor-management dialogue focused

on the reappointment of existing personnel repre-

sentative bodies (works council, employee

representatives, occupational health and safety

Concrete employee-oriented measures to 

> HUMAN RESOURCES

Avenue Kléber/Paris (75)
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21 rue Lapérouse/Paris

committee). Managers were also called on to reflect

on the organization and culture of this company.

The findings of the seven task forces, which met

over the summer of 2002, led to the formulation 

of numerous recommendations that will be imple-

mented in 2003.

Underlying the establishment of a profit sharing

agreement for Klépierre Services in 2002 is the

Group’s desire to allow employees to share in their

company’s earnings via a profit sharing scheme that

is specific to their company. At the same time,

Klépierre’s employees are eligible for profit sharing

incentives and new equity issues implemented 

by the BNP Paribas group. In addition to the funds

already available to Group employees, Klépierre

offers a new diversified fund invested in socially

responsible companies. This new offer is a part 

of the Kléber employer-sponsored company 

savings plan, which was adjusted to streamline 

the management of employee assets.

Personnel representative bodies:

>Ségécé: Works council, employee representatives

and occupational health and safety committee;

> Klépierre Services, Klégestion and CB Pierre:

Employee representatives and occupational health

and safety committee. ●

KLÉPIERRE GROUP WORKFORCE FRANCE (including fixed-term employment)

2002
Managers Non-Managers Total

179 117 296
13 4 17

3 1 4
59 24 83

254 146 400 

2000 2001
Managers Non-Managers Total Managers Non-Managers Total

Ségécé 101 69 170 199 116 315
Klégestion 23 13 36 34 9 43
CB Pierre 6 3 9 5 1 6
Klépierre Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 130 85 215 238 126 364

support change
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> HUMAN RESOURCES

Sustainable development
Klépierre pursued efforts in the area of sustainable

development in 2002, creating a task force charged

with completing an inventory of the social and envi-

ronmental practices already in place within the

Group. A few of the many sustainable development

initatives that were identified are summarized briefly

below.

Customer care
Klépierre is particularly attentive to the comfort,

health and safety of its office property tenants, the

customers of its shopping centers and its own per-

sonnel. Not only does Ségécé comply to the letter

with prevailing safety and environmental standards,

it also conducts regular satisfaction surveys among

its clients. Furthermore, the company works with

local partners on communication- and action-

based initiatives aimed making the prevention of

violence a top priority.

Community involvement
Ségécé has spearheaded a number of events tar-

geting its shopping center visitors, designed to

raise awareness of the fundamental aspects of

community living. One such example is the

Aquaforum at Rives d’Arcins (Bordeaux). Run by

scientists, its aim is to inform visitors of the impor-

tance of protecting natural marine and river envi-

ronments.

To commemorate the twentieth anniversary of a

shopping center covering 35,000 square meters,

Klépierre organized the reforestation of an equiva-

lent surface area.

Shopping centers are also key players in promot-

ing national causes such as the annual Telethon,

which raises funds for medical research.

With the opening of each new shopping center,

Klépierre contributes to employment via partner-

ships with the French governmental employment

agency (ANPE). The Group provides display

boards on which shopping center businesses may

advertise job vacancies.

Respect for the environment
Klépierre is committed to compliance with

European environmental standards and regula-

tions. Annually, Klépierre updates the “health and

safety record” of each of its office properties

through audits conducted by Astrim. This inde-

pendent firm ensures that Group holdings comply

with technical building recommendations and any

new regulations in force.

The Group’s principal exposures with respect to

the environment include:

> Risks of pollution and toxic contamination.

Particular efforts are made to monitor for the pres-

ence of legionellae, asbestos and lead. Insulating or

hydraulic fluids containing PCBs (pyralene) are

being phased out and replaced with oil or new

types of equipment, preferably dry-type transform-

ers. Klépierre also conducted major campaigns in

2000 and 2001 to replace CFCs (R11), an ozone-

depleting refrigerant medium, with the environmen-

tally approved R134a compound.

> Soil pollution. Klépierre is equally vigilant in this

area.  When an off ice bu i ld ing in  Issy- les-

Moul ineaux was recent ly  acqui red before

completion, Klépierre went beyond settling for

compliance with mandatory cleanup regulations,

demanding that the polluted soil be excavated 12-

meters deep and that waterproof lining be built in.

Similar precautions are taken when new shopping

centers are built.

A company that cares about the collective good
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> Energy contro l .  K lépierre uses a tool  that

measures and analyzes energy consumption in

shopping centers. As a result, consumption can be

adjusted to real needs, opportunities for energy

sav ings can be ident i f ied,  and ineff ic ient

equipment, particularly heating and air conditioning

units, can be replaced.

> Water preservat ion. Water consumption is

closely monitored. Klépierre gives preference to

waterless or central heating and air conditioning

systems, in order to eliminate water waste caused

by the independent units installed by individual

tenants.  Shopping center  park ing lots  are

equipped with hydrocarbon catch basins that

Cu
st

om
er

 c
ar

e To ensure the enhanced comfort of its customers, Klépierre has established a 
multi-faceted customer care policy that includes: > a service charter > training in
customer care for security, maintenance and housekeeping personnel > strict quality
control of basic services on a daily basis, including security, access to businesses,
comfort (cleanliness, lighting, maintenance), sanitary facilities > the gradual 
development of additional amenities: service centers, valet parking, emergency 
assistance, etc. > uniforms for all personnel in contact with the public (security,
housekeeping and maintenance teams, etc.).

1,000
trees
were planted 
in the protected 
La Chanterie park 
in Nantes by children,
who are now tree
sponsors

A
capture and retain runoff water. The quality of the

wastewater  is  then contro l led to avo id so i l

pollution.

> Recycling. Shopping centers sort their waste

and are encouraged to par tner  wi th char i ty

organizations to recover and sell used cardboard

for recycling purposes.

Klépierre will continue its environmental work and

research in 2003 and beyond, with the aim of defin-

ing commitments that are specific to its businesses

and that will make sustainable development a cen-

tral feature of its growth strategy.

Transparency with respect 
to shareholders
In response to shareholder needs and expecta-

tions, Klépierre has redoubled its communications

efforts. The company has defined and uses a con-

sistent set of performance indicators, facilitating

performance analysis.

Klépierre regularly makes information available via

its website, and publishes a communications

agenda each year. ●
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The leading shopping center specialist in Continental Europe, Klépierre is building  
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its business in a profitable and dynamic market
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REAL-ESTATE HOLDINGS AND BUSINESS

In € millions 1998 1999 2000 2001
Appraised value incl. 
transfer duties at 12/31 1 797.0 1 967.8 2645.4 4123.3
(total share)
Lease income (group share) 113.3 124.4 133.9 233.7
Revenues (total share) 128.4 157.5 248.3 326.0
of which:
Shopping centers 76.2 76.0 163.5 236.9
Office properties 52.2 81.5 84.8 89.1

2002

4708.7

267.8

345.0

262.7
82.3

total share 
in € millions

■ ■ Shopping
centers

■ ■ Office
properties

Rents

2000 2001 2002

65.9

82.8

184.3

87.1

230.7

81.2



in €/share
■ ■ Gross dividend*
■ ■ Net dividend
* Assuming “avoir fiscal” tax credit of 50%

Change in dividend

2000

TOTAL 2000:
€2 645.4 M

TOTAL 2001:
€4 123.3 M

2001 2002

23
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4.12

2.75

(total share including
transfer duties)

■ Shopping 
centers

■ Office 
properties

Appraised
value

net current
excluding development in €/share
■ Number of shares at the year-end reporting date
■ ■ 14,919,921 shares (impact of bond conversions)

Change in cash flow

2000 2001 2002

7.6 7.0

8.2

Workforce

2000 2001 2002

221

530

636

in €/share
■ Number of shares at the year-end reporting date
■ ■ 14,919,921 shares (impact of bond conversions)

Revalued net assets

2000 2001 2002

144.2
139.6

148.0

49%
€1 297.5 M 

51%
€1 347.9  M

32%
€1 340.3 M

68%
€2 783.0  M

TOTAL 2002:
€4 708.7 M

25%
€1 174.3 M

75%
€3 534.4  M

3.10 3.50

5.25

5.7
5.2

124.8
128.4

4.65



Acquisition of 
7 shopping malls in France
Klépierre acquired more shopping

malls in France in connection 

with the Carrefour agreement,

including properties in Lattes

(Montpellier), Vannes, Douai (Flers)

and Angoulins (La Rochelle).

Implementation of 
the second phase of 
the Carrefour agreement

Exercising its preferential rights

on new projects developed 

in Europe, which was granted

by Carrefour in the second

phase of their agreement,

Klépierre acquired 5 shopping

malls in Spain, including

Alicante, Oviedo and Tenerife,

each covering more than

20,000 square meters.

JU
N

E

Acquisition 
of 11 Carrefour 
malls in Italy

Totaling 67,800 square

meters, these shopping 

centers are primarily located 

in the north of Italy.

Acquisitions included Paderno

(Milan), Moncalieri (Turin) 

and Lazio (Rome).

Emergence of 
the number 1 shopping
center manager in Italy

After acquiring full ownership

of Eurocenter, Ségécé and 

its partner Finim merged

Eurocenter and PSG, 

their jointly held management

company in Italy.
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In 2002, Klépierre continued to expand in Continental
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Acquisition of 
5 Carrefour shopping
centers in Spain 
and the first acquisition
in Portugal

Delivery of the ZAC
Forum Seine building 
in Issy-les-Moulineaux

Klépierre invested €63 million

in this 12,000 square meter

property leased to the Steria

Group.
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Shareholders’ equity
increased by 
€147 million following
the conversion of 
the convertible bond

Early retirement resulted in the

conversion of 99% of bonds

issued, raising share capital 

by €190 million, of which

€147 million in 2002.

Sale of the office 
building at 185 avenue
Daumesnil in Paris

This seventh sale brings

Klépierre’s total office property

disposals to 45,200 square

meters and €150 million 

in 2002.

Signature of a strategic
agreement with Finiper in Italy

Acquisition of a 40% stake in IGC,

the owner of 9 Finiper shopping 

centers and a partner in the

development of new projects.

Acquisition of 2 Carrefour
malls in France

Quimper and Vénissieux, adding

8,500 square meters to Klépierre’s

holdings in France.

Announcement of the early
retirement of the convertible
bond maturing in 2006

Sale of the 7,353 square
meters office building located
at 2-10 rue Chaptal 
in Levallois-Perret

Europe, particularly in Italy
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Consumer spending: the driving   
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Uncertainty is the watchword
2002 was a year of total uncertainty. September

11, 2001 and its aftermath revealed a crisis that

had been building in the US for several months and

that ultimately spread to the rest of the Western

world.

Klépierre’s outlook for 2003 is contingent on how

the conflict in the Middle East unfolds and the 

recovery of the US economy.

Consumer spending remains 
firm in France
France’s rate of growth sets it apart from its prin-

cipal trading partners. Household spending, 

a critical driver of economic growth, rose by 2.2%

in 2002, despite a number of aggravating factors –

the presidential elections in May, the risk of war, 

rising unemployment, etc. If the currently tense 

climate persists in 2003, household spending could

be the only effective force driving the economy.

Mixed results in Europe
GDP growth slowed sharply in Portugal, Belgium

and Italy in 2002, falling to rates of 0.5% or less.

Conversely, Spain (+2%) and Greece (+3.6%) 
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resisted well in the face of global economic gloom.

GDP growth in Slovakia and the Czech Republic

was down slightly due to sluggish demand from

Europe, particularly from Germany.

The rate of unemployment is slowly rising in

Belgium, Spain and Portugal, and is stable but 

high in Slovakia. Jobless rates continued to 

decline in both Italy and Greece.

Inflation declined in Portugal, Belgium, the Czech

Republic and Slovakia and was unchanged in Italy

and Greece. At 4% per annum, inflation is a major

concern for Spain.

Strong investor demand
Still considered as a safe haven by investors, the

shopping center market held up better than the 

office property market. In France, the total volume

of transactions for shopping center was approxi-

mately €500 million in 2002. The acquisition of the

Parinor shopping center by Hammerson (€139 mil-

lion) and Klépierre’s purchase of 9 malls from

Carrefour (€97 million) alone account for half of the

total amount of transactions.

Other particularly noteworthy acquisitions were

completed in 2002: Chelles 2 by Unibail (€60 mil-

lion), Marques Avenue Talange and Ile Saint-Denis

by A3C (€63 million), and the Loisinord 2 project 

by Pradera. Rodamco, which already owns the 

older portion of the Parly 2 shopping center, 

acquired 3,700 additional square meters from

Sophia for roughly €30 million.

Transaction volume in Italy was slightly higher than

in France, totaling €550 million. Key transactions

in Italy involved Klépierre, Carrefour and Finiper.

The Spanish market was the most active, with 

investment totaling approximately €1 billion. The

principal transactions included the acquisition of 

“El Triangle” (€115 million) by the German fund 

Deka and Rodamco’s purchase of the real-estate

assets of Goldman Sachs/Lar Grosvenor (€125 mil-

lion) and the “Sevilla Factory” shopping center 

(€24 million). Shopping center supply continues 

to be limited, as owners are not inclined to sell.

Capitalization rates are declining more slowly and

appear to be stabilizing.

Significant rise in revenues
In France, revenues for shopping centers owned by

Klépierre are up 2.7% (4.4% for retailers alone).

Sales for regional shopping centers (excluding 

A

500
invested 

in shopping centers
in France in 2002

1invested
in shopping centers
in Spain in 2002

million
euros

billion
euros
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Val d’Europe) grew by 2.1% overall, and by 4.4%

for retailers alone. Val d’Europe is successfully 

pursuing its launch phase, and reported growth 

of 16.2%.

Inter-municipal shopping centers with less than

40,000 square meters of GLA (1) continue to enjoy

healthy business, generating overall growth of 4.4%

(4.9% for retailers alone).

Revenues for downtown shopping centers 

(excluding centers inaugurated in 2001) rose by

1.8% overall (3.1% for retailers alone). Revenues

for Les Passages in Boulogne-Billancourt contin-

ued to grow steadily, rising by 47.7% on the year.

Calculated on a comparable basis and using the

data available, revenues increased by 6.6% for

Spanish shopping centers and by 2.6% for centers

located in Italy. ●

(1) Gross leasable area, i.e. the sum total of retail sales and storage
footage, less circulation footage and other common areas.

+2.7%
increase
in shopping center
revenues

in France

+6.6%
increase
in shopping center
revenues

in Spain

+2.7%
increase
in shopping center
revenues

in Italy

> SHOPPING CENTERS

Two sectors 
stand out in 2002
> Shopping mall retail 
sales growth was led by 
the Health-Beauty (+7%) 
and Books-Music-Video- 
Gifts-Recreation (+9.1%) 
sectors. Sales of personal 
products were satisfactory
(+3.8%).

A
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Investment strategy focused on high potential assets

Emphasis on value 
enhancement
Klépierre’s business strategy remains loyal to the

precepts affirmed in 2001: acquire and develop

high potential assets and constantly enhance their

value. In 2002, this strategy led to stepped-up

development in southern European countries and

further investment in France.

Leading position in Italy 
and a debut in Portugal
With less than 100 square meters of shopping cen-

ter facilities for 1,000 inhabitants (versus 240 square

meters in France) and a well-established, long-term

partner and management specialist (Finim), Italy is

an ideal target for Klépierre. Consequently, the

Group extended its existing agreement with

Carrefour to purchase an additional 11 shopping

malls. Via the acquisition of a 40% share in IGC,

Klépierre also acquired 9 shopping malls from

Finiper, a major Italian player in the retail sector (Iper

hypermarkets). These two transactions offer major

growth potential, due to the quality of the assets

that were acquired and the future outlets for growth

in Italy via partnerships with Carrefour and Finiper.

In December, Klépierre made its debut in Portugal,

acquiring a shopping center in Loures (in the north-

east of Lisbon).

Ségécé, a valuable asset
Klépierre’s subsidiary, Ségécé, has more than 

45 years of experience in developing, managing

and leasing shopping centers.

Klépierre’s 
four prerequisites
for investing
> The country’s shopping 
center/per capita ratio must
show major growth potential, 
or it offers opportunities 
for expanding or restructuring
assets already acquired > The
level of consumer spending 
per capita is consistent with 
the type of shopping center
selected > A local partnership
is in place, if possible a 
subsidiary formed by Ségécé 
in collaboration with local 
management specialists, which
enables Klépierre to apply its
own management methods 
> Investment opportunities
exist, either in the form of new
projects for development 
or existing shopping centers
offering significant improve-
ment potential (rental reversion,
new merchandising, 
expansion).

In
ve

st
m

en
t s

tr
at

eg
y



1 million square meters of new projects
Klépierre and its subsidiary Ségécé are currently 

reviewing or assembling over 1,000,000 square 

meters of new projects and acquisitions that are

consistent with the Group’s business strategy.

Klépierre’s share in these new investments repre-

sents a total of €2 to €2.5 billion over 5 years.

Identified projects total €2.15 billion (of which

roughly 60% are located outside France).

Further investments in France
In addition to the acquisition of shopping malls 

in connection with the Carrefour agreement, growth

via the development or extension of shopping 

centers managed by Ségécé continues in France:

240,000 square meters of new projects are in 

the assembly phase or under consideration. They 

include city-center projects in Besançon and

Valenciennes, the Aubervilliers and Montpellier

Odysseum regional shopping centers, and the 

renovation of the Gare de Lyon and Gare Saint-

Lazare train stations.

Extension projects account for 35,000 square 

meters of gross leasable area. The Delbard garden

center (5,990 square meters) will open its doors 

at Val d’Europe in the first quarter of 2003. The Paul

Doumer extension in Caen will be inaugurated 

in 2004 (1,000 square meters).

Projects involving the extension of shopping malls

acquired from Carrefour by a total of 50,000 square

meters are currently being assembled or are under

review.

According to the business model used for its 

foreign transactions, Carrefour is the developer and

Klépierre is the future buyer. The first extension, an

additional 11,600 square meters of gross leasable

area in the Grand Marché shopping center in

Quétigny (near Dijon), is scheduled to open in 2004.

Significant potential in Spain and Italy
> The acquisition program described in the Carrefour

agreement is on track in Spain. In connection with

this partnership, Klépierre has new projects in the

works, including extensions to existing shopping

centers that are currently being built or assembled.

These future projects involve a total investment 

of €340 million over 5 years. Carrefour conducts 

real estate development and sales activities in Spain

on Klépierre’s behalf. Feasibility studies are being

completed jointly on a number of locations.

Clearly identified sources of growth
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A
2 2.5
of investment 
prospects involving 
new projects or acquisitions

> SHOPPING CENTERS

TOTAL: M€ 600 

■ France Development/Extensions

■ Italy  Extensions/Shopping centers

■ Spain Shopping centers

■ Portugal Shopping centers

■ Czech Republic Shopping centers

■ Greece Shopping centers

■ Belgium Shopping centers

Estimated investment in 2003 –
Klépierre share (in € millions)
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> Klépierre’s business development in Italy is 

supported by its partnerships with Carrefour, Finiper

and Finim, which represent a potential €580 million

in investments in projects being assembled. Many

extension projects are also being planned or 

considered.

Other opportunities in the euro zone
> In Belgium, Klépierre plans to acquire a shopping

center and recreational complex before completion

in the first half of 2003. The center, located in

Louvain-la-Neuve, has a GLA of 35,000 square 

meters. > In Greece, Klépierre is considering 

the purchase of 4 shopping malls, already built or

under development, with roughly 30,000 square 

meters of GLA (investment of €75 million).

> In Portugal, the acquisition of the Loures shop-

ping center is just a preview of the 58,000 square

meters and €98 million of identified projects, half

of which are Carrefour malls.

A focused approach 
in the Czech Republic
In addition to the acquisition of the Novy Smichov

shopping center in 2003, Klépierre will effect occa-

sional transactions for quality assets, primarily in

Prague or its immediate vicinity. In fact, shopping

centers are highly popular with Czech consumers.

Provided that market characteristics comply with its

business strategy, Klépierre will consider investing

in other Central European countries. However, the

Group will restrict investments in this region to a maxi-

mum of 5% of the total value of its holdings. ● 31
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INTERNATIONAL PROJECTS (partnership with an external developer)

Total amount in € millions Klépierre share in € millions
GLA in square Estimated annual Estimated Estimated annual Planned 

meters lease income cost price lease income investment 
Extensions
Spain 103 700 18.1 204.0 15.0 169.3
Italy 16 100 3.8 44.9 1.7 19.8

119 800 21.9 248.9 16.7 189.1
Acquisition of new 
shopping centers
Spain 84 600 16.0 196.7 13.9 172.1
Italy 179 600 48.8 622.9 44.3 562.2
Belgium 52 000 9.9 125.0 9.9 125.0
Portugal 57 900 8.4 97.6 8.4 97.6
Greece 30 000 7.6 89.8 6.3 74.5
Czech Republic 39 000 8.7 77.4 8.7 77.4

443 100 99.3 1 209.4 91.5 1 108.8

Total International 562 900 121.2 1 458.3 108.2 1 297.9

PROJECTS IN FRANCE

Total amount in € millions Klépierre share in € millions
GLA in square  Estimated annual Estimated Estimated annual Planned 

meters lease income cost price lease income investment 
Developed by Ségécé
New shopping centers 239 500 65.3 809.8 52.0 637.3
Extensions 34 990 9.1 123.9 7.4 100.4

274 490 74.4 933.7 59.4 737.7
Developed by Carrefour
Extensions 51 600 11.2 139.3 9.3 115.6

Total France 326 090 85.6 1 073.0 68.7 853.3
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Regular rental income
Rental management business in Europe has 

followed a steady growth curve: lease income 

rose to €230.7 million (from €184.3 million in 2001),

up 25.1%. Variable rents account for €11 million of

total lease income (+26.0% compared with 2001).

The active management of lease renewals 

and changes in tenant mix bolstered this growth 

in rental income, which increased 7.2% on a 

constant structural basis.

An 18.5% uptick in France
Lease income reached €172.9 million, up 18.5%

(7.8% on a comparable basis). This increase 

primarily reflects:

> 254 changes in tenant mix, 229 lease renewals

(+23% and +28% respectively, compared with 

the prior lease terms) and 17 lease-ups of vacant

premises (+€0.8 million );

> the rise in the INSEE cost of construction index:

+4.6% for the second quarter and +3% for the 

first quarter, affecting respectively 72% and 26% of

guaranteed rents.

Unpaid rent accounted for only 0.6% of total 

rents invoiced, unchanged from the rate observed

prior to the intense acquisition phase triggered 

by the Carrefour agreement. The financial occu-

pancy rate remained stable at 99.3%.

Sources of rent are diversified, thus minimizing 

rental risk. The retail anchor Fnac accounts for 

4% of rental gain, followed by Go Sport (2.8%),

Etam (2.6%), Carrefour (2.1%) and Camaïeu (1.8%).

Vivarte, Zara, McDonald’s, Marc Orian and Celio

Three drivers of lease income growth: 
index-linked rent adjustments, lease renewals, external growth

generated 1.2% to 1.5% of rents.

Growth on track in Spain
Lease income from Spanish holdings totaled 

€30.1 million (+22.6% compared with 2001), up

4.3% on a constant structural basis.

Overall, shopping centers generated 114 changes

in tenant mix, 192 lease renewals (respectively

Brianza Paderno-Milan/Italy

> SHOPPING CENTERS
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+10% and +11%, compared with prior lease 

terms) and 5 lease-ups of vacant premises 

(+€0.07 million).

A rise in the consumer price index increased 

guaranteed rents by an average of 2.7%.

Unpaid rent accounted for 1.6% of total rents 

invoiced, down from 2001. The financial occu-

pancy rate was 96.8%, pending the restructuring

of retail space in certain shopping centers.

Italian assets grow substantially
In Italy, lease income totaled €22.9 million, up 

110% compared with 2001, due to the 20 acquisi-

tions completed in July 2002. On a constant

structural basis, rents increased by 4.1%.

Overall, 10 vacant premises were leased up 

(+€0.4 million). The 29 changes in tenant 

mix and 31 lease renewals generated rental gain 

of 8% and 33% respectively, compared with 

prior lease terms. The impact of the ISTAT 

consumer price index raised guaranteed rents 

by an average of 2.9%.

Among the shopping malls acquired in 2002, 

a significant number of leases are up for renewal,

which should significantly boost the corresponding

guaranteed rents.

On a comparable basis, unpaid rent accounts 

for 0.6% of total rents invoiced and the vacancy

rate is nil.

The Makedonia shopping center in Greece did not

undergo any significant changes in 2002.

In Bratislava, efforts are being made to optimize 

Giussano-Milan/Italy
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lion, equal to 23.7% of total minimum guaranteed

rents from Klépierre’s holdings. ●

A complete schedule of lease renewals 
is available on the Klépierre website 
(Shopping centers/Activity).

Driving factors
The growth potential of a shopping center’s
trade area, the center’s size, its location
and its existing competition provide 
the theoretical basis for shopping center
merchandising. Optimal success in 
merchandising requires: > analysis of 
the immediate or potential needs of 
consumers and selection of the businesses
best able to satisfy those needs > location
and the negotiation of placements where
these businesses will be able to attain 
a profitable level of business > mainte-
nance of a balanced mix of tenants 
and businesses, essential for any long-term
strategy, providing the most diverse range
of goods, services and recreation activities
possible.

M
er
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> SHOPPING CENTERS

the rental management of the Danubia shopping

mall by boosting the occupancy rate (89.9%) and

curbing unpaid rent (7.4%).

Solid potential for rental reversion
83% of the 3,500 leases for Klépierre’s holdings 

in France are concluded for more than 9 years.

Accordingly, there is no ceiling on rent increases

when leases come up for renewal. The lessor is 

free to determine a new average guaranteed rent

in line with the revised rental value of the property.

This rental value is, of course, subject to negotiation

with lessees.

The average term of leases in other countries 

is shorter than in France (5 or 12 years in Spain 

and Portugal, 5, 6 or 12 years in Italy). There 

are no ceilings on rent increases upon lease 

renewal.

In France, the number of lease renewals or

changes in tenant mix over the last two years 

was 796. These transactions generated a rental

gain of €7.6 million, an increase of about 28%

compared with the initial lease conditions.

In l ight of these results, future campaigns for

lease renewals and changes in tenant mix will

guarantee growth in lease income during the 

upcoming years.

Among all the shopping centers managed in

Europe, 1,815 leases will come up for renewal by

2005, including 438 scheduled for renewal at the

end of December 2002. These leases account for

annual minimum guaranteed rents of €59.3 mil-
@@



A European network
Klépierre is the number one shopping center 

manager in Continental Europe, thanks to Ségécé

and its subsidiaries, which provide a local network

that enables Klépierre to enhance the value of each

shopping center under management.

Dual objective
Management remains a cornerstone of Klépierre’s

business development strategy. In addition to its

development business, Ségécé specializes in rental

and property management. It continuously strives

to enhance rents and asset values through the 

animation, lease-up, renovation and extension 

of existing shopping centers.

At the end of 2002, Ségécé managed 307 shop-

ping centers located in key Continental European

countries. Only half of its assets are in France. 

Its portfolio comprises nearly 10,100 leases, 

generating €395 million in total rents invoiced.

Reinforced management 
presence in Italy
In one year, the number of shopping centers man-

aged grew by 20%, mainly due to growth in Italy,

where Ségécé strengthened its presence through

PSG. In all countries, a significant portion of

Ségécé’s business is with third-party clients, which

account for 55% overall.

Ségécé also provides consulting services, con-

ducting research or negotiating transactions 

in connection with existing shopping centers or 

projects under development. Although Ségécé main-

ly acts on behalf of Klépierre, it sometimes represents

major institutional investors and other players.

Management, a cornerstone of Klépierre’s success

Three subsidiaries in France
In addition to monitoring and coordinating sub-

sidiaries and partnerships abroad, Ségécé provides

rental and property management services for 

152 shopping centers in France. A new rental 

management software application was rolled out 

in January 2002 and extended to Italy and Central

Europe before the end of the year. Its extension 

to Spain is expected sometime in 2003.

Ségécar, a subsidiary established in January 2001

and owned jointly by Carrefour (50%) and Ségécé

(50%), provides property management services for

the French shopping centers acquired from Carrefour. 35
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Créteil Soleil

Val d’Europe/Marne-la-Vallée



36

Galae was set up in January 2001 to introduce

Internet technologies and multimedia to the Group’s

shopping centers. It began operating in 2002 with

the rollout of 8 shopping center websites. Galae 

also installs video display monitors in malls for 

animation purposes. This subsidiary employs a staff

of 11 and is owned by Klépierre (49%) and Ségécé

(51%).

Centros Shopping Gestion in Spain
Since July 2001, Centros Shopping Gestion, owned

jointly by Carrefour (50%) and Ségécé (50%), 

provides rental and property management services

for 86 shopping centers (58 for Klépierre) with 

a combined GLA of 348,000 square meters. This

subsidiary also provides leasing services and 

development assistance for shopping centers 

developed by Carrefour.

Devimo in Belgium
Devimo, a subsidiary in which Ségécé has 35% 

interest, is the leading shopping center manager 

in Belgium. It obtained two new mandates in 

2002: Galeries Royales Saint-Hubert in Brussels

and Ghent Zuid in Ghent. Since January 1, 2003,

Devimo also manages the City 2 shopping 

center.  Devimo assists Ségécé  in the f ina l i -

zation of the Louvain-la-Neuve shopping center

acquisition.

FMC in Central Europe
Based in Prague, First Management Company was

established in December 2001 to manage shop-

ping centers in Central Europe. It is owned by

Ségécé (75%) and Finim (25%). ●

Birth of the number 1
management specialist 
in Italy
> Ségécé acquired full ownership 
of Eurocenter, which was then merged with
PSG, a subsidiary of Finim. Consequently,
Ségécé (50%) and Finim (50%) now 
jointly own PSG. The newly formed group
became the Italian leader in shopping 
center management with a portfolio 
of 52 shopping malls, 23 of which are 
partly or fully owned by Klépierre.

Sé
gé

cé

> SHOPPING CENTERS

307
shopping
centers
managed by Ségécé 
and its European 
partners

561
employees 
specializing in the mana-
gement and development
of shopping centers 
in Continental Europe 

A
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* Incl. fixed-term, temp., perm.
(1) Ségécé employees working for Ségécar and therefore included in the Ségécé workforce. (2) 93 centers under property management only, for which rental 
management is carried out by Ségécé and, therefore, included in centers managed by Ségécé. (3) Includes technical and reception staff of shopping centers. 
(4) Of which 5 under property management only.

KEY FIGURES OF THE SÉGÉCÉ GROUP

Workforce* Revenues Net Number of centers Number % 
earnings under management of leases interest

Ségécé 296 39.3 7.4 152 5 063 75

Ségécar 91 (1) 9.1 0.6 - (2) - 50

Centros Shopping Gestion 109 8.4 1.7 86 (4) 2 772 50

PSG 71 6.4 0.3 52 1283 50

Devimo 66 (3) 13.1 1.0 15 733 35

FMC 19 (3) 0.9 -0.3 2 217 75

Total 561 307 10 068

A European
management
network

Poland

Slovakia

Czech 
republic

Italy

Belgium

Spain

19*

Workforce at 12/31/02

* Including technical 
and reception staff 
in shopping centers.

● Number of shopping 
centers under management

● 15

66*
● 1

● 1

France
● 152

296

● 86

109

● 52

71
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Shopping 
center 

locations

Klépierre holdings end 2001
Holdings acquired in 2002

Loures

Upper
Normandy

Lower
Normandy

Nord-Pas-de-Calais

Alsace

Franche-
Comté

Rhône-Alpes

Auvergne

Lorraine

Champagne-
Ardenne

Bourgogne

Centre

Picardie

Brittany

Galicia

Castilla y León

Castilla-La Mancha

Extremadura

Asturias
Cantabria

Basque Country

La Rioja

Madrid

Navarra

Aragón

Catalonia

Valencia

Andaloucia

Murcia

Baléaric Islands

Pays-
de-la-Loire

Poitou-
Charentes

Limousin

Aquitaine
Midi-Pyrénées

Languedoc-Roussillon

Provence-Alpes-
Côte d’Azur

Ile-de-France

SPAIN
201,215 sq.m

PORTUGAL
17,368 sq.m

FRANCE
737,660 sq.m

PARIS AND
ILE-DE-FRANCE

77

93

95

78

91

92

94
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Paris 
and the Greater
Paris Area

PARIS [6th]
Marché de Saint-Germain
1995
GAP, 21 units 
430 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 3,164 sq.m
GLA: 3,164 sq.m 
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

PARIS [10th]
CIAT
Centre international des arts 
de la table
Total usable floor area: 496 sq.m
GLA: 496 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

PARIS RIVE GAUCHE [13th]
Truffaut
1996 
Total usable floor area: 3,606 sq.m 
GLA: 3,606 sq.m 
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

PARIS [14th]
Général Leclerc
Restaurant 
Total usable floor area: 1,475 sq.m
GLA: 1,475 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

PARIS [19th]
BHV - rue de Flandres
1963 
Total usable floor area: 7,752 sq.m 
GLA: 7,752 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

CHAMPS-SUR-MARNE [77]
Champs-sur-Marne
1981. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 16 units,
765 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 14,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,753 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CLAYE-SOUILLY [77]
Claye-Souilly
1992. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 84 units,
4,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 48,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 16,908 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MARNE-LA-VALLÉE [77]
Val d’Europe
2000.
Regional shopping center inaugurat-
ed in October 2000,
130 units, 5,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 64,046 sq.m
GLA: 48,467 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

MELUN [77]
Boissénart
1977. Renovated in 1996 
Auchan, 36 units,
2,450 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 22,331 sq.m
GLA: 5,391 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 87.50%

PONTAULT-COMBAULT [77]
Pontault-Combault
1978. Extended-renovated in 1993.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 75 units,
3,250 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 38,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 14,900 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VILLIERS-EN-BIÈRE [77]
Villiers-en-Bière
1990. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 84 units,
765 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 65,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 24,951 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

FLINS [78]
Flins
1973. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 80 units,
2,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 41,200 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,646 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SARTROUVILLE [78]
Sartrouville
1976. Extended in 1999.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 38 units,
1,660 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 25,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,671 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MONTESSON [78]
Montesson
1973. Extended-renovated in 1985
and 1999.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 55 units,
3,000 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 40,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 8,281 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

RAMBOUILLET [78]
Rambouillet
1976. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 26 units,
1,527 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 36,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,566 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ATHIS-MONS [91]
Athis-Mons
1971. Renovated in 1999,
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 24 units,
2,258 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 26,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,632 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

BOULOGNE-BILLANCOURT
[92]
Les Passages de l’Hôtel de Ville
City center, Inno, Fnac,
Zara and Go Sport, 38 stores,
7 ground-floor storefront shops,
4 restaurants
600 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,811 sq.m
GLA: 20,811 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 50%

AULNAY-SOUS-BOIS [93]
Parinor
1974. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 133 units,
4,500 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 67,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,984 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

NOISY-LE-GRAND [93]
Arcades
1978. Renovated in 1992 
Centrally located regional 
shopping center
Carrefour, 138 units and 
more than 5,000 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 53,533 sq.m
GLA: 35,540 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 55.70%

STAINS [93]
Stains
1972, acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 22 units,
1,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,884 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CRÉTEIL [94]
Créteil Soleil
1974, renovated-extended,
opened in October 2000 
Centrally located regional 
shopping center
Carrefour, BHV, Fnac Junior,
209 units and 3 levels of parking 
Total usable floor area: 121,563 sq.m
GLA: 65,080 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 87.90%

VILLEJUIF [94]
Villejuif
1988. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 21 units,
700 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,534 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GONESSE [95]
Usine center
1985. Renovated-extended, inaugu-
rated in April 2000, 105 units,
1,100 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 17,047 sq.m
GLA: 17,047 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 49.50%

Alsace

ILLZACH (MULHOUSE) [68]
Ile Napoléon
1973. Extended-renovated in 1999.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 58 units,
661 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
31,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 10,192 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

STRASBOURG [67]
La Vigie
1989. Restructured in 1996,
5 units, including Conforama,
Décathlon, Maxitoys,
1,100 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 16,187 sq.m
GLA: 16,187 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 30.90%

Aquitaine

BÈGLES [33]
Rives d’Arcins
1995. Regional shopping center,
Carrefour, 82 units,
3,800 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 54,706 sq.m
GLA: 30,499 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 82.50%



BORDEAUX [33]
Saint-Christoly
1985. Renovated in 1989 
City center, 37 units,
600 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 9,068 sq.m
GLA: 9,068 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 82.50%

LIBOURNE [33]
Libourne
1974. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 34 units,
1,138 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,200 sq.m
GLA: 2,648 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LORMONT [33]
Lormont
1974. Renovated in 1997
Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, Crescendo, Intersport,
76 units,
2,320 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 29,851 sq.m
GLA: 8,665 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Auvergne

CLERMONT-FERRAND [63]
Jaude
1980. City center,
renovated in 1990,
C&A, Habitat, Fnac, 75 units 
Total usable floor area: 23,591 sq.m
GLA: 17,000 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 82.50%

MOULINS [03]
Moulins
1978. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 19 units,
849 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 16,600 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,340 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Lower Normandy

CAEN [14]
Paul Doumer
1988.
City center,
Fnac, 18 units,
212 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 4,492 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,666 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 82.50%

CONDÉ-SUR-SARTHE
(ALENÇON) [61]
Condé-sur-Sarthe
1972. Renovated in 1999.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 25 units,
1,284 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 15,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,917 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

HÉROUVILLE [14]
Saint-Clair
1976. Renovated-extended in 1995.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 74 units,
1,513 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 40,500 sq.m
GLA acquired 10,182 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Bourgogne

MARZY (NEVERS) [58]
Marzy
1969. Renovated in 1999.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 38 units,
942 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 24,200 sq.m
GLA acquired: 7,229 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

QUÉTIGNY [21]
Grand marché
1968. Extended in 1992.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 22 units,
2,585 parking spaces
Shopping center usable floor area:
28,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,627 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Brittany

BREST [29]
Iroise
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 45 units,
1,452 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
33,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 7,957 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GUINGAMP [22]
Guingamp
1974. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 11 units,
960 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
11,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,532 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LANGUEUX 
(SAINT-BRIEUC) [22]
Langueux
1973. Renovated-extended in 1998.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 34 units,
1,443 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 24,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 5,115 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LORIENT [56]
K2
1981. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 26 units,
1,042 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
4,315 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,315 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

PAIMPOL [22]
Paimpol
1964. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 6 units,
670 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
8,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,166 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

QUIMPER [29]
Quimper
1978. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 34 units,
1,160 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 21,026 sq.m
GLA acquired: 5,085 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VANNES [56]
La Fourchêne
1969. Carrefour, 58 units,
Acquired in 2002 
1,698 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 22,657 sq.m
GLA: 5,719 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Centre

BOURGES [18]
Bourges
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 20 units,
1,598 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
21,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,681 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHARTRES [28]
Chartres
1967. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 12 units,
2,166 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
22,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 6,207 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHÂTEAUROUX [36]
Châteauroux
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 17 units,
920 parking spaces 
Shopping mall usable floor area:
18,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,463 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SARAN (ORLÉANS) [45]
Saran
1968. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 15 units,
2,300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 26,600 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,315 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TOURS [37]
Galerie Nationale
1990. City center, Fnac, 38 units,
300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,244 sq.m
GLA acquired: 8,267 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 61.80%

Champagne-Ardenne

CERNAY (REIMS) [51]
Cernay
1981. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 26 units,
1,300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 18,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,400 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHARLEVILLE-MÉZIÈRES
[08]
La Croisette
1985. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 20 units,
1,383 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 18,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,599 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAINT-ANDRÉ-LES-
VERGERS (TROYES) [10]
Saint-André-les-Vergers
1975. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 25 units,
1,383 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 890 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%



Upper Normandy

ÉVREUX [27]
Évreux
1970. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 18 units,
1,603 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,956 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LE HAVRE [76]
René Coty
1999.
City center, Monoprix,
Fnac, Go sport,
C&A and 76 units 
Total usable floor area: 27,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 18,031 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 50%

ROUEN [76]
Rue de la Champmeslé
1999.
City center,
Eurodif and 7 ground-floor store-
front shops 
Total usable floor area: 2,848 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,848 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

Languedoc-Roussillon

CLAIRA [66]
Claira
1983. Renovated-extended in 1997
Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, Eris, 30 units,
1,800 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 24,985 sq.m
GLA: 3,769 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LATTES [34]
Lattes
1986. Renovated-extended in 1993 
Acquired in 2002
Carrefour, Toys'r'us, Go Sport, Eris,
66 units, 2,120 parking spaces
Total usable floor area: 37,650 sq.m
GLA: 14,077 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

NÎMES [30]
Grand Nîmes
1981. Renovated in 1997.
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 29 units,
1,555 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 22,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,843 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

NÎMES SUD [30]
Nîmes
1980. Acquired in 2002
Carrefour, Eris, 20 units,
920 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,655 sq.m
GLA: 1,773 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAINT-JEAN-DE-VEDAS
(MONTPELLIER) [34]
Saint-Jean-de-Vedas
1986. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 28 units,
1,149 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 16,400 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,304 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Lorraine

JEUXEY (ÉPINAL) [88]
Jeuxey
1983. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 16 units,
1,607 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,917 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Midi-Pyrénées

PORTET-SUR-GARONNE
[31]
Portet-sur-Garonne
1972. Renovated-extended in 1990 
Carrefour, 108 units,
4,100 parking spaces
Total usable floor area: 60,600 sq.m
GLA acquired: 23,216 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Nord-Pas-de-Calais

AIRE-LA-LYS [62]
Aire-la-Lys
1977. Acquired in 2001
Carrefour, 20 units,
386 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 11,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,491 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

AUCHY-LES-MINES [62]
Auchy-les-Mines
1993. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 18 units,
414 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,363 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

AULNOY-LES-
VALENCIENNES [59]
La Briquette
1972. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 25 units,
1,048 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,706 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CALAIS [62]
Calais
1986. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 24 units,
940 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 17,600 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,311 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

DOUAI [59]
Flers-en-Escrebieux
1983. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, Darty, 43 units,
2,000 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 27,606 sq.m
GLA: 6,339 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

FOURMIES [59]
Fourmies
1985. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 17 units,
624 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 11,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,878 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

HAZEBROUCK [59]
Hazebrouck
1983. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 17 units,
420 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,306 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LILLE [59]
Lille
1996. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 14 units 
Total usable floor area: 6,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 854 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LOMME [59]
Lomme
1984. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 36 units,
2,400 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 30,200 sq.m
GLA acquired: 7,419 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAINT-MARTIN-AU-LAËRT
[62]
Saint-Martin-au-Laërt
1991. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 12 units,
453 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 891 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Provence-Alpes-
Côte d’Azur

AIX-LES-MILLES [13]
La pioline
1971, renovated in 1997 
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 31 units,
1,950 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 29,600 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,711 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ANTIBES [06]
Antibes
1973. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 32 units,
2,252 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 28,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 4,065 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHÂTEAUNEUF-
LES-MARTIGUES [13]
Châteauneuf-les-Martigues
1973. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 17 units,
1,020 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,892 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MARSEILLE [13]
Bourse
1977. Restructured in 1991 
Renovated in 1997 
City center, Nouvelles Galeries,
Fnac, 57 units,
1,850 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 29,311 sq.m
GLA acquired: 17,323 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 72.70%



NICE [06]
Lingostière
1978. Renovated in 1998 
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 49 units,
2,784 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 37,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 6,909 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ORANGE [84]
Orange
1986. Renovated in 1996 
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 36 units,
1,000 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,703 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

PUGET-SUR-ARGENS [83]
Puget-sur-Argens
1991. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 41 units,
1,800 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 20,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 738 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TRANS-EN-PROVENCE [83]
Trans-en-Provence
1970. Renovated in 1993 
Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 24 units,
1,010 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 15,900 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,781 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VITROLLES [13]
Vitrolles
1970. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 76 units,
4,450 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 61,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 21,841 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Pays-de-la-Loire

ANGERS [49]
Saint-Serge
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 22 units,
1,467 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,574 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

BEAUJOIRE (NANTES) [44]
Beaujoire
1972. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 33 units,
1,467 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 28,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,464 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHOLET [49]
Cholet
1970. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 25 units,
1,035 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 11,400 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,851 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LA-ROCHE-SUR-YON [85]
La Roche-sur-Yon
1973. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 7 units,
595 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 9,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 476 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAINT-HERBLAIN 
(NANTES) [44]
Saint-Herblain
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 10 units,
643 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 15,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 641 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Picardie

AMIENS [80]
Amiens
1973. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 21 units,
1,340 parking spaces
Total usable floor area: 20,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,193 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CHÂTEAU-THIERRY [02]
Château-Thierry
1972. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 13 units,
2,185 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 11,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 644 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LAON [02]
Laon
1990. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 33 units,
620 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 15,100 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,057 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VENETTE (COMPIÈGNE)
[60]
Venette
1974. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 39 units,
2,185 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 28,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 5,030 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Poitou-Charentes

ANGOULINS [17]
Angoulins
1973. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, Royaldine,
31 units, 1,789 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 23,679 sq.m
GLA: 4,009 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

POITIERS [86]
Cordeliers
Inaugurated in October 2001 
Monoprix, Fnac and 37 boutiques,
300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 8,852 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 50%

Rhône-Alpes

ANNECY-BROGNY [74]
Annecy
1968. Acquired in 2001
Carrefour, 13 units,
1,550 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,010 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ANNECY [74]
Annecy
Inaugurated in March 2001
Inno, Fnac,
750 parking spaces
Total usable floor area: 19,098 sq.m
GLA acquired: 13,586 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

BASSENS (CHAMBÉRY) [73]
Bassens
1969. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 22 units,
1,096 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,700 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,451 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ÉCHIROLLES (GRENOBLE) [38]
Grand Place
1975. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 34 units,
1,918 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 28,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,669 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ÉCULLY [69]
Grand Ouest
1972. Extended-renovated in 1997.
Acquired in 2001
Carrefour, 74 units,
3,400 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 46,000 sq.m
GLA acquired: 11,627 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GIVORS [69]
Deux Vallées
1976. Renovated in 1997.
Acquired in 2001 Carrefour,
39 units, 2,154 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 32,500 sq.m
GLA acquired: 14,831 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MEYLAN [38]
(Grenoble)
1972. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 15 units,
1,332 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 1,393 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAINT-EGRÈVE [38]
Saint-Egrève
1986. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 32 units,
1,250 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 19,300 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,889 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VAULX-EN-VELIN [69]
7 chemins
1988. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 37 units,
1,675 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 22,800 sq.m
GLA acquired: 3,703 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VÉNISSIEUX [69]
Vénissieux
1966. Extended-renovated in 2000.
Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 24 units,
1,956 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 35,913 sq.m
GLA acquired: 2,985 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Spain

Andalucia

ALGECIRAS I
Los Barrios
1980.
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 1,746 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TOTAL FRANCE
737,660 sq.m. GLA



ALMÉRIA
Alméria
1987.
Units acquired: 24 
Total usable floor area: 15,346 sq.m
GLA: 977 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CORDOUE
Zahira
Extended-renovated in 1989 
Units acquired: 14 
Total usable floor area: 10,600 sq.m
GLA: 950 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GRENADA
Grenada
1990.
Units acquired: 31 
Total usable floor area: 19,642 sq.m
GLA: 2,030 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

HUELVA
Huelva
1985.
Units acquired: 21 
Total usable floor area: 16,490 sq.m
GLA: 1,600 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

JEREZ DE LA FRONTERA
Jerez Norte
1997.
Units acquired: 46 
Total usable floor area: 23,886 sq.m
GLA: 6,953 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

JEREZ DE LA FRONTERA
Jerez Sur
1989.
Units acquired: 34 
Total usable floor area: 24,169 sq.m
GLA: 3,284 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LA LINEE DE LA 
CONCEPCION 
(northern GIBRALTAR)
Gran Sur
1991.
Units acquired: 66 
Total usable floor area: 31,530 sq.m
GLA: 6,538 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MALAGA
Malaga I-Alameda
1987.
Units acquired: 39 
Total usable floor area: 22,171 sq.m
GLA: 7,459 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MALAGA
Malaga II-Los Patios
1987
Units acquired: 39 
Total usable floor area: 22,171 sq.m
GLA: 4,344 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SÉVILLE
Séville I-San Pablo
1979 
Units acquired: 35 
Total usable floor area: 31,180 sq.m
GLA: 2,403 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SÉVILLE
Séville II-Ajarafe
1985. Acquired in 2001 
Units acquired: 45 
Total usable floor area: 16,000 sq.m
GLA: 4,222 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SÉVILLE
Séville III-Macarena
1980 
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 1,883 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SÉVILLE
Séville IV-dos Hermanas
1993 
Units acquired: 22 
Total usable floor area: 15,744 sq.m
GLA: 1,464 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Aragón

SARAGOSSE
Saragosse I-Augusta
1995 
Units acquired: 124 
Total usable floor area: 54,500 sq.m
GLA: 24,426 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SARAGOSSE
Saragosse II-Actur
Saragosse II-Actur
1990 
Units acquired: 32 
Total usable floor area: 27,192 sq.m
GLA: 5,071 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Asturies

OVIEDO
Los Prados
2002 
Units acquired: 86 
Total usable floor area: 39,200 sq.m
GLA: 24,690 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Baléares

PALMA DE MAJORQUE
Palma
1977. Units acquired: 24 
Total usable floor area: 15,134 sq.m
GLA: 592 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Cantabrique

SANTANDER
Penacastillo
1981. Acquired in 2001 
Units acquired: 58
Total usable floor area: 19,000 sq.m
GLA: 10,206 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SANTANDER
Santander II-Torrelavega
1996 
Units acquired: 17 
Total usable floor area: 18,697 sq.m
GLA: 903 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Castilla y Léon

SALAMANQUE
Salamanque
1989 
Units acquired: 16 
Total usable floor area: 16,534 sq.m
GLA: 793 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VALLADOLID
Valladolid II
1995 
Units acquired: 21 
Total usable floor area: 24,133 sq.m
GLA: 3,405 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VALLADOLID
Parquesol
1981 
Units acquired: 31 
Total usable floor area: 20,200 sq.m
GLA: 3,207 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83% 

Catalonia

CABRERA DEL MAR 
(Northern Barcelona)
Cabrera
1980 
Units acquired: 33 
Total usable floor area: 27,582 sq.m
GLA: 5,910 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

LERIDA
Lerida
1986 
Units acquired: 16 
Total usable floor area: 12,935 sq.m
GLA: 374 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

REUS (EAST TARRAGONA)
Reus
1991 
Units acquired: 29 
Total usable floor area: 19,315 sq.m
GLA: 2,960 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TARRAGONA
Tarragona
1975 
Units acquired: 20
Total usable floor area: 22,661 sq.m
GLA: 1,059 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Extremadura

BADAJOZ
Badajoz I-Carretera de Valverde
1996 
Units acquired: 32 
Total usable floor area: 17,599 sq.m
GLA: 2,097 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

BADAJOZ
Badajoz II-La Granadilla
1990 
Units acquired: 19 
Total usable floor area: 19,386 sq.m
GLA: 886 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CACERES
Caceres
1998 
Units acquired: 16 
Total usable floor area: 18,967 sq.m
GLA: 1,392 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%



MERIDA
Mérida Continente
1980 
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 1,049 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

PLASENCIA
Plasencia
1998 
Units acquired: 15 
Total usable floor area: 10,979 sq.m
GLA: 822 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VILLANUEVA 
DE LA SERENA
Villanueva de la Serena
1995 
Units acquired: 15 
Total usable floor area: 9,095 sq.m
GLA: 653 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Galicia

LUGO
Lugo
1993 
Units acquired: 24 
Total usable floor area: 19,874 sq.m
GLA: 1,412 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Madrid

EL PINAR DE LAS ROZAS
(NORTHWEST MADRID)
El Pinar
1981 
Units acquired: 38 
Total usable floor area: 24,779 sq.m
GLA: 2,175 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MADRID
Alcobendas
1982 
Units acquired: 49 
Total usable floor area: 25,632 sq.m
GLA: 3,567 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MADRID NORD
San Sebastian de los Reyes
1980 
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 1,453 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MADRID SUD-OUEST
Alcala de Henares
2001 
Units acquired: 27 
Total usable floor area: 9,600 sq.m
GLA: 1,665 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MOSTOCOLES 
(SOUTHEAST MADRID)
Mostocoles
1992 
Units acquired: 33 
Total usable floor area: 19,552 sq.m
GLA: 2,602 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

POZUELO
Ciudad de la Imagen
1995 
Units acquired: 27 
Total usable floor area: 20,278 sq.m
GLA: 1,953 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

RIVAS
Parque Rivas
1999 
Units acquired: 22 
Total usable floor area: 31,700 sq.m
GLA: 1,513 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Murcia

CARTAGENA 
Alfonso XIII
1988 
Units acquired: 22 
Total usable floor area: 25,665 sq.m
GLA: 1,131 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MURCIA
Murcie II-Zaraiche
1985 
Units acquired: 29 
Total usable floor area: 22,400 sq.m
GLA: 1,639 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Basque Country

BILBAO
Bilbao II -Sestao
1994 
Units acquired: 24 
Total usable floor area: 24,738 sq.m
GLA: 1,321 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

RENTERIA 
(EAST OF SAN SEBASTIAN)
San Sebastian
1980 
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 743 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Valencia

ALICANTE
Puerta de Alicante
2002 
Units acquired: 95 
Total usable floor area: 34,500 sq.m
GLA: 21,017 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ALZIRA 
(SOUTH OF VALENCIA)
Alzira
1991 
Units acquired: 20 
Total usable floor area: 30,232 sq.m
GLA: 1,012 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

BENIDORM- 
COSTA BLANCA
Benidorm
1980 
Units acquired: 30 
Total usable floor area: 16,852 sq.m
GLA: 1,632 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

CASTELLON
Castellon Pryca
1985 
Units acquired: 26 
Total usable floor area: 15,356 sq.m
GLA: 820 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ELCHE
Elche
1983 
Units acquired: 19 
Total usable floor area: 14,167 sq.m
GLA: 795 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

ELDA PETRER
Elda Petrer
1989. Acquired in 2001 
Units acquired: 35 
Total usable floor area: 13,000 sq.m
GLA: 3,427 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GANDIA
Gandia
1994 
Units acquired: 26 
Total usable floor area: 17,594 sq.m
GLA: 1,465 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

SAGUNTO
Sagunto Continente
1989 
Units acquired: 14 
Total usable floor area: 12,130 sq.m
GLA: 984 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TORREVIEJA
Torrevieja
1994 
Units acquired: 22 
Total usable floor area: 16,129 sq.m
GLA: 1,091 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VALENCIA
Valence I-Alfafar
1976 
Units acquired: 40 
Total usable floor area: 32,070 sq.m
GLA: 7,029 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VALENCIA 
Valence II-Campanar
1987 
Units acquired: 35 
Total usable floor area: 23,979 sq.m
GLA: 2,504 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VALENCIA 
Paterna
1979.
Extended-renovated in 92 and 97 
Units acquired: 17 
Total usable floor area: 11,300 sq.m
GLA: 1,008 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VILARREAL 
(WEST OF CASTELLON 
DE LA PLANA)
Vilarreal
1995 
Units acquired: 18 
Total usable floor area: 14,800 sq.m
GLA: 909 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TOTAL SPAIN
201,215 sq.m GLA



Italy

Abruzzi
PESCARA
1992. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 44 units, 1,500 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 9,917 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Campania
CASERTA
Capodrise
1990. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 21 units,
1,125 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 6,237 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Emilia-Romagna
SAVIGNANO
Romagna center
1992. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 40 units, 1,632 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 12,342 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

PESARO
Rossini Center
2000. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 30 units, 1,800 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,599 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

Lazio
ROME
La Romanina
1989. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 86 units,
1,300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 13,742 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Liguria
MASSA
1995. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 38 units,
1,550 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 7,125 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Lombardy

PADERNO 
Brianza
1975. Extended-renovated in 1995.
Acquired in 2002 
Coop, 71 units,
2,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 12,832 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

GIUSSANO
1997. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 26 units,
1,800 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 2,833 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

VERCELLI
1987. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 23 units,
1,050 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 1,646 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

MONTEBELLO
1975. Extended-renovated in 2000.
Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 30 units,
1,300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 8,079 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

CRÉMONA
Cremona 2
1985. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 56 units,
2,200 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 6,678 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

VARESE
1988. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 19 units,
700 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 4,838 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

GRANDATE
1999. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 15 units, 594 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 2,162 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

BREMBATE
1977. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 13 units, 2,170 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 1,536 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

SERIATE
Alle Valli
1990. Extended-renovated in 2001
Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 31 units, 1,125 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 1,238 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

NOVATE
Metropoli
1999.
Coop, 79 units,
2,000 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 30,578 sq.m
GLA: 16,032 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 85%

SETTIMO
Settimo
1995.
Coop, 27 units,
500 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 7,354 sq.m
GLA: 7,354 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 85%

BRESCIA
Le Rondinelle
1996.
Auchan, 77 units 
And 3,500 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 37,750 sq.m
GLA: 13 222 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 70.10%

Marches
VAL VIBRATA
2000. Acquired in 2002 
Iper, 32 units,
1,550 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 15,519 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 40%

Piedmont
MONCALIERI
1990. Extended-renovated in 2000.
Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 31 units,
985 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 5,791 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TURIN
Montecucco
1980. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 11 units,
1,125 parking spaces
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 1,131 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

BUROLO
1995. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 11 units,
2,230 parking spaces 
Shopping mall total usable floor
area: 939 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Veneto
THIENE
1980. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 37 units,
1,600 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 5,607 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

Portugal
LOURES
2002. Acquired in 2002 
Carrefour, 71 units,
2,150 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 27,050 sq.m
GLA: 17,368 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

Slovakia
BRATISLAVA
DANUBIA 
2000. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour, 40 units,
1,300 parking spaces 
Total usable floor area: 30,000 sq.m
GLA: 12,300 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 100%

Greece
THESSALONICA
MAKÉDONIA
2000. Acquired in 2001 
Carrefour (9,500 sq.m of sales),
27 units, 11-screen multiplex 
cinema, bowling alley (2,219 sq.m),
restaurants (2,003 sq.m),
2,400 parking spaces 
Shopping mall GLA + 
recreation center: 11,867 sq.m
Klépierre equity interest: 83%

TOTAL ITALY: 
165,389 sq.m GLA

TOTAL OTHER EUROPE: 
41,535 sq.m GLA

GRAND

TOTAL
1,145,809 sq.m
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Total: 1,145,809 sq.m
GLA at 12/31/02

Slovakia
Bratislava - Danubia shopping center 

Greece

Carrefour acquisitions in 2002
Klépierre holdings end 2001

Finiper acquisitions in 2002

Makédonia

Tuscany

Veneto
Lombardy

Piedmont

Liguria

Abruzzi

Aoste

Basilicata

Calabria

Campania

Emilia-Romagna

Molise

Umbria

Puglia

Trentino-Alto-Adige

Sardinia

Sicily

Marche

Lazio

Friuli

OTHER EUROPE
24,167 sq.m

ITALY
165,399 sq.m
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>OFFICE PR  

Anticipating and adapting to   

Paris office market hurt 
by economic slowdown
In 2002, the real-estate rental market in the

Greater Paris Area was weakened by a sharp 

economic downturn. Investment remained brisk,

however, attesting to the lasting appeal of the

French market.

Decline in take-up
A total of 1,532,000 square meters was taken up,

down 11% compared with 2001 and 40% with 

respect to 2000. The decline was particularly

marked in Paris and La Défense. Thanks to a few

major transactions, the 2002 take-up level was

comparable to that of 1996 or 1997.

Rise in available supply
At the end of 2002, available supply in one year 

totaled approximately 3,800,000 square meters 

(versus 2,500,000 square meters in 2001), located

throughout Ile-de-France. 33% of the total was 

for new office space. Immediately available space

also rose sharply (+98% in one year) to reach

2,644,000 square meters. By contrast, future 

supply remains restrained as developers, investors40
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and banks adopt a more cautious attitude.

Increased disparity
Rental value trends vary greatly depending on 

building location, size and quality. The difference

between rents invoiced for new or restructured 

office space and lease income from re-let property

was again substantial.

In 2002, rental prices for prime properties declined

by 6% in central and western Paris (€686/square

meter) and by 12% at La Défense (€451/square

meter). However, these figures do not take into 

account rental rebates and leasehold improvements

consented to by the owners.

Keen interest from German investors
Totaling €8.2 billion, the investment market in 

Ile-de-France is substantially equivalent to that of

2000 but smaller than the €9.5 billion recorded in

2001. Office property was the most sought-after

asset by investors. German investors were the most

active, accounting for 33% of firm commitments,

versus 28.5% by French investors and 23% by

North Americans.

Net yield for new or restructured office space in 

 OPERTIES

  the real-estate cycle

the central business district in Paris inched up 

to between 6.25% and 6.75%.

A tailored response
Klépierre minimizes its risks and enhances the 

value of its assets in this more difficult market 

by adapting to fluctuations in the real-estate cycle.

Excluding development projects, Klépierre’s office

property holdings focus on the core business 

districts in Paris and the first outlying area, sectors

that are less exposed to short-term market trends.

Klépierre’s holdings also meet the service level 

requirements of the most prestigious tenants 

in terms of amenities and facility services, thus 

generating lease income at above-average market

rental rates.

In 2003, Klépierre set itself the objective of taking

full advantage of the real-estate cycle and leve-

raging the rental enhancements achieved by

Klégestion’s teams.

Accordingly, the disposal program Klépierre 

embarked on in 2003 rivals its 2002 program in

terms of size.

In spite of the market slowdown, Klépierre’s 

5.8%
Ile-

de-France

4%
Paris 

intra-muros

8.1%
La 

Défense

7.7%
Western

business district

10.5%
1st outlying area-North,

South and East

Vacancy rates

The decline 
in take-up,
combined 
with the rise 
in available
supply,
is pushing up
vacancy rates.

1.5
taken 
up in 2002, down
11% compared 
with 2001

2.6
of
immediately available space

> 402,000 square meters in central
and western Paris
> 224,000 square meters in Paris,
excluding core business districts
> 592,000 square meters 
in the western business district +
La Défense
> 359,000 square meters 
in the first outlying area
> 1,067,000 square meters 
in the second outlying area

A

Source: Insignia Bourdais/Immostat

million 
square meters 

million
square meters 
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> OFFICE PROPERTIES

holdings offer both significant upside potential 

and resilience in the face of a market downturn.

Arbitrage program: 
mission accomplished
Klépierre completed its arbitrage program, first 

disposing of buildings that had been recently 

re-let at prevailing market prices. 11 buildings, rep-

resenting a combined total of 45,193 square meters,

were sold for a total of €150.1 million (€135.6 mil-

lion in 2001).

On December 16, 2002, Klépierre acquired a 

building with a weighted usable floor area(1) of

12,760 square meters in Issy-les-Moulineaux, which

it delivered on the same date to Steria. The cost 

of sale price (excluding extensions) for this real-

estate complex totaled €62.6 million. Klépierre 

also agreed in principle to purchase an extension

to this building for €22.3 million. The extension,

scheduled for delivery on July 31, 2004, covers a

total of 4,665 square meters of weighted usable

floor area. ●

A
90.1%
of rents 
from property located 
in Paris and the first 
outlying area

€150.1
million
of divestitures 
completed in 2002 
in line with the disposal 
program

(1) Weighted usable floor area: 
to calculate the global rental price per square
meter, spaces are assigned weightings on the
basis of type (office, archive, parking, restaurant).
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Quality, source of value
Klépierre’s holdings are primarily of recent con-

struction: over two-thirds were built within the 

last 15 years. They are mainly located in Paris 

and the first outlying area (over 90% of lease 

income).

Prestigious tenants
The high quality and surface area (generally more 

than 5,000 square meters) of all of Klépierre’s 

office properties attract commercial tenants of 

first rank, including: Alstom, Hachette, Steria,

Linklater's & Paines, Marsh, EDF, Société Générale,

GIE SC Autoroute, French Ministry of Finance, and

Juris Classeur.

These clients, the top ten tenants of Klépierre’s 

Office properties business, account for over 39% 

of the lease income earned on a full-year basis. 

The first five tenants alone in the list produce 25% 

of total rents.

Of the 43 buildings comprising Klépierre’s portfolio, 

10 generate more than 54% of lease income.

All are located in the Greater Paris Area, and over 

56% in Paris itself.

Carefully inspected properties
Klépierre’s holdings are regularly subjected to 

security audits, the results of which are recorded 

in a “health record” established for each building.

Rental revaluation strategy
In light of its already high average occupancy rate,

Klégestion actively pursued its strategy to raise 

rents to market value for existing tenants.

In 2002, 28 leases were signed (including 12 new

leases) for a total surface area of 37,581 square

meters. They generated a combined €8.1 million

in rents on a full-year basis, an increase of more

than 24% compared with the terms of the prior 

leases. The weighted average term of new leases

negotiated over a firm letting period is more than

five years.

High occupancy rates
The financial occupancy rate for Klépierre office 

and warehouse holdings was 99.1% at December

31, 2002 (versus 99.3% at the same time in 2001),

and 98.9% in average annual terms in 2002 

(versus 99.3% in 2001).

Strong resilience to market downturn
A total of 91 leases, accounting for over 39% 

of lease income, will come up for renewal by the

end of 2005, as set out in the contractual lease 

renewal schedule. The resulting upside potential for

these rents is over 21%, a boost of more than 8%

for total rents, excluding disposals.

In all, Klépierre’s portfolio of leases reveals an 

enhancement capacity of over 15%. This significant

decline compared with previous years is attribu-

table to an increase in index-linked rents pegged

to the cost of construction index (+3.88% overall

in 2002), combined with a decline in prevailing 

market rents. Given the current lease structure and

the lower market rents (down 5% to 10% in 2002),

an additional 10% fall in market prices in 2003 would

cause a 0.8% decrease in rents in 2006.

If the market decline occurs in 2004, however, the

estimated impact on rents shrinks to less than 0.4%.

This impact should be further restrained by the

€150 million of divestitures scheduled for 2003.

A complete schedule of lease renewals 
is available on the Klépierre website 
(Shopping centers/Activity).

Upscale properties for clients with high expectations

@@
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■ Building management:
€2.9 million

■ Commissions on sales
and/or acquisitions:

€3.3 million

Fee income
earned 
by Klégestion 
in 2002

underlying the worthiness of Klépierre’s tenants

and the efficacy of its collection methods.

Limited leasehold improvements
Given the good state of repair of Klépierre’s office

holdings, the only work for which the owner was 

liable was €1.1 million in relocation expenses 

committed for two office buildings and one ware-

house. In order to optimize floor area, a total 

of €582,000 in renovation and air conditioning work,

carried as a fixed asset, was completed for the

building located at 192 avenue Charles-de-Gaulle

in Neuilly.

Change in cash flow
Real-estate cash flow(1) for 2002 decreased by 8.9%

compared with 2001, falling from €84.6 million 

to €77.1 million. This decline is attributable to 

disposals completed in 2001 and 2002. On a 

constant structural basis, cash flow rose by 2.2%. ●

(1) Real-estate cash flow is a salient performance indicator.
It can be defined as the difference between lease income from 
real-estate holdings and the total expenses (charges, maintenance 
and improvement, taxes and duties, management and lease-up fees)
that impact the operating income generated by these holdings.

Camille-Desmoulins/Issy-les-Moulineaux (92)

A
212
leases 
managed 
at 12/31/02 
for 43 buildings

99.1%
financial 
occupancy rate 
at 12/31/02

> An office asset and property
management specialist,
Klégestion is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Klépierre. 
It generated over 98% of its 
revenues with Klépierre. 
Its other clients are subsidiaries
of the BNP Paribas group.
> In 2002, in the midst of 
a depressed market, its teams
worked actively to meet the 
objectives of its arbitrage 
program objectives and optimize
the rental management of leases.
> Workforce: 14 people 
following the transfer of support
staff to the inter-company 
partnership Klépierre Services(2).
This operation reduced 
personnel costs by 62%, 
to €1.1 million.
> Revenues: €6.2 million, 
a decrease of 40% compared
with the previous year, primarily
attributable to the elimination 
of administrative fees invoiced 
to companies following the 
creation of Klépierre Services. 
> Net earnings: €1.5 million.

(2) An inter-company partnership, Klépierre Services was established on January 1, 2002, to centralize 
the support functions of the Klépierre group (corporate, legal, accounting, IT, management control 
and financial communications).

53.5%

46.5%

Rents on the rise
In 2002, rents declined by 6.7% compared with

the previous year, but rose 4.2% on a constant

structural basis. In fact, although disposals carried

out over both years caused lease income to

plunge by €12.9 million, acquisitions drove rents

up by €4 million. Other upside factors were

renewals (+€1.1 million) and index-linked rent

adjustments (+€2.4 million). Unpaid rent at

December 31, 2002, remained marginal at 0.25%,

> OFFICE PROPERTIES
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Paris Central
business 
district (CBD)

• PARIS [2nd]
• 46, rue Notre-Dame 
des-Victoires
• Seven-story building with two
floors below ground.
Located in the heart of the financial
district, opposite the Paris Bourse.
Completed in 1991, it offers 
high-quality facility management
services.
8,129 sq.m

• PARIS [7th]
• 280/282, bd Saint-Germain
• Office and residential building
located near the Assemblée
Nationale.
Eight stories plus one basement
floor.
7,884 sq.m

• PARIS [8th]
• 5, rue de Turin
• Seven-story building, with an
additional five levels below ground,
located near the Saint-Lazare
railway station. Fully air-conditioned.
2,596 sq.m

• PARIS [8th]
• 23/25, rue de Marignan/ 
38, rue Marbeuf
• A prestigious complex composed
of three cut-stone buildings.
Completely restructured in 1999.
The complex offers high-quality
amenities (air-conditioning, elevated
flooring, parking on two levels).
8,518 sq.m

• PARIS [8th]
• 36, rue Marbeuf
• Seven stories, plus four floors
below ground. Built in the 1970s
(partially air-conditioned, two levels
of parking). Acquired in 2001.
3,356 sq.m

• PARIS [15th]
• 25, rue Leblanc
• A section of the Le Ponat building
erected in 1988. A modern eight-story
building with two floors below ground,
it is partially air-conditioned and
features a company restaurant.
3,467 sq.m

• PARIS [15th]
• 100/102, avenue de Suffren
• Complex comprised of two 
nine-story buildings, plus four floors
below ground. Built in 1993,
it is fully air-conditioned.
10,014 sq.m

• PARIS [15th]
• 141, rue de Javel
• Completed in 1993, the complex
comprises two buildings of seven
and five stories, plus two levels
below ground. Fully air-conditioned.
6,860 sq.m

• PARIS [15th]
• 43, quai de Grenelle
• Built in 1969 and renovated 
in 1995. Fully air-conditioned.
12,723 sq.m

• PARIS [15th]
• 1, bd Victor - Le Barjac
• Building with seven floors above
ground plus four floors below,
with an inter-company restaurant.
Completed in 1993, the building
offers quality facility management
service. Acquired in 2001.
7,315 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 18/20, rue La Pérouse
• New building delivered in late
1998. Located next to the Arc 
de Triomphe, the building offers
outstanding technical facilities.
3,286 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 21, rue La Pérouse
• Five-story building plus 
three floors below ground.
Entirely restructured in 1999.
2,159 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 23/25, avenue Kléber
• Restructured in 1999, this
building is located 150 meters from
the Etoile. Eight stories, plus five
floors below ground, high-quality
building services to meet the needs
of the most demanding users.
9,866 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 21, avenue Kléber
• Near the Etoile, this five-story
building (plus basement) erected 
in 1900 was partly restructured 
in 1999.
1,914 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 52 bis, avenue d’Iéna
• Cut-stone mansion house, entirely
renovated in 1991. Four stories,
plus one level below ground,
and a subordinate building behind
the courtyard (ground floor plus 
one story). Prestigious.
772 sq.m

• PARIS [16th]
• 43/45, avenue Kléber
• Cut-stone building acquired under
undivided ownership terms (80%).
Very well located, partially air-
conditioned and recently renovated.
3,504 sq.m

• PARIS [17th]
• 140/144, bd Malesherbes
• Near the Lycée Carnot, this
eleven-story building was erected 
in 1963 and renovated in 1997.
It also has three levels below ground
and is fully air-conditioned.
6,364 sq.m

• PARIS [17th]
• 141, avenue de Clichy 
- Le Brochant
• An eight-story building with two
floors below ground, built in 1998.
It offers convenient access 
to the beltway and the Saint-Lazare
train station. Good quality facilities
services. Acquired in 2001.
3,449 sq.m



Other
Paris

• PARIS [4th]
• 10, impasse Guéménée
• Five-story  building adjacent to
Place des Voges. Acquired in 1994.
1,059 sq.m

• PARIS [12th]
• 5 bis, bd Diderot
• Erected in 1990, the building 
has seven stories, plus two floors
below ground. Air-conditioning 
was installed in 1999.
6,872 sq.m

• PARIS [12th]
• 8/10, avenue Ledru-Rollin
• Eight story building with two levels
below ground. Built in 1990, this
building is located near the Gare 
de Lyon railway station.
4,145 sq.m

Business
centers

• BOULOGNE [92]
• 116, rue d’Aguesseau
• An air-conditioned, eight-story
building with levels below ground.
Built in 1993.
4,082 sq.m

• BOULOGNE [92]
• 9/9 bis, rue Henri-Martin 
- Les Jardins des Princes
• Complex of two buildings of two
and six stories, plus two floors below
ground. Built in 1996 and fully 
air-conditioned.
Acquired in 2001.
3,761 sq.m

• ISSY-LES-MOULINEAUX
[92]

• 16 rue Jean-Jacques Rousseau
- Le Florentin
• Five-story building with two floors
below ground. Built in 1997 
and acquired in 2001.
1,898 sq.m

• ISSY-LES-MOULINEAUX
[92]

• Rue Camille-Desmoulins 
Zac Forum Seine
• Seven-story building with four
floors below ground.
Delivered on December 16, 2002.
12,760 sq.m

• LA DÉFENSE [92]
• CB 20 Les Miroirs
• A 16-story, fully air-conditioned
building with six elevators.
Entirely restructured in 1997.
Undivided ownership terms
(28.34%).
6,159 sq.m

• LA DÉFENSE [92]
• Collines de l’Arche
• Undivided ownership terms
(30.44%) Nine stories plus 
four floors below ground.
Built in 1990.
2,500 sq.m

• LEVALLOIS [92]
• Front de Paris-Ilot 5
• Four buildings of eight and nine
stories. A recent complex featuring
modern design and good quality
facilities. Undivided ownership terms
(78.50%), completed in 1989.
19,911 sq.m

• LEVALLOIS [92]
• 54, quai Michelet
• Eight-story building plus four
floors below ground, built in 1993.
Offers high-quality technical
facilities.
11,402 sq.m

• LEVALLOIS [92]
• 11/11 bis, place du Général
Leclerc
• Located 100 meters from the
town hall, this seven-story building
with four additional floors below
ground was completed in 1997.
5,819 sq.m

• LEVALLOIS [92]
• 105, rue Anatole-France
• Built in 1992, the building has
seven stories, plus four levels below
ground. Air-conditioned. Under
undevided ownership terms (50%).
3,269 sq.m

• NEUILLY [92]
• 192, avenue Charles-de-Gaulle
• Recently built luxury condominium
complex featuring modern facilities;
a corner building facing Pont de
Neuilly.
12,906 sq.m

Greater 
Paris Area

• MARNE-LA-VALLÉE [77]
• 1, rue Monge - Maille Nord 4
• Part of a nine-story building 
built in 1993. Near the Paris
Regional transit line (RER A) and 
the A4 freeway. Acquired in 2001.
5588 sq.m

• MONTIGNY-
LE-BRETONNEUX [78]

• 6, avenue J.P.-Timbaud
• Complex of four principal 
two-story building wings.
Facilities services.
2,942 sq.m

• VÉLIZY [78]
• 8/10, rue des Frères-Caudron
• Two-story building completed 
in 1984. Located near the shopping
center. Acquired under undivided
ownership terms (50%).
993 sq.m

• CHAMPLAN [91]
• 16 bis, rue de Paris
• Two-story building erected 
in 1976, partially air-conditioned.
Under undivided ownership terms
(50%).
881 sq.m

• RUEIL-MALMAISON [92]
• 20, rue Jacques-Daguerre
• Near the Paris Regional Transit
line (RER), this six-story building
(plus basement) was completed 
in 1993. Air-conditioned.
3,237 sq.m

• VILLEPINTE [93]
• ZI Paris Nord 2 
Place des Nymphéas
• Near the Paris Regional Transit
line (RER B), a four-story building
with two additional floors below
ground. Completed in 1992,
it is air-conditioned.
6,605 sq.m

• SAINT-MAURICE [94]
• 3/5, avenue du Chemin-
de-Presles
• Four-story building plus two floors
below ground, completed in 1994.
Offers high-quality technical
facilities.
9,852 sq.m

Warehouses

• MASSY-PALAISEAU [91]
• 12/16, rue Baudot
17,427 sq.m

• SAINT-DENIS [93]
• 103, rue Charles-Michels
12,364 sq.m

• STRASBOURG [67]
• rue du Rheinfeld
15,600 sq.m

TOTAL OFFICES:

228,802 sq.m
TOTAL WAREHOUSES:

45,391 sq.m

TOTAL

274,193 sq.m



Klépierre’s
office

holdings

Offices

Essonne

Yvelines

Val-d’Oise

Hauts-de-Seine

Seine-Saint-Denis

Seine-et-Marne

Val-de-Marne

GREATER PARIS AREA
Offices: 30,097 sq.m
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La Défense Levallois-Perret

Boulogne

Hauts-de-Seine

Issy-les-Moulineaux

Neuilly-sur-Seine

18th

19th

20th

4th

2nd

7th

16th

8th

PARIS 
AND HAUTS-DE-SEINE

198,705 sq.m
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FINANCES“Lowering the risk profile by choosing the right investments and financial strategy
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Diversified sources 
and maturities
The financing policy pursued by Klépierre since

2000 aims not only to diversify the sources of its 

financing, but also to secure the cost of debt and

its maturity. In 2002, the Group’s total financing

needs, after deducting free cash flow generated by

current operations and the proceeds from asset

disposals, totaled €300 million.

Klépierre seeks to meet its financing needs by 

balanced recourse to debt and equity.

New equity is raised through recourse to minority

partners for acquisitions. Additional shareholders’

equity of €147 million was raised in 2002 through

the early retirement of convertible bonds maturing

in January 2006.

The remainder of Klépierre’s financing needs were

met by recourse to bank loans or debt financing, 

in accordance with the limits set by the Group to

ensure financial stability, as measured by Standard

and Poor’s rating (BBB + stable). These bench-

marks include: total corporate debt of 50% of the

fair market value of holdings, EBITDA of between

2.5 and 3 times interest expense and net cash 

flow in excess of 6% of corporate debt.

One of the Group’s primary financial goals is 

to improve its credit rating in order to bring down the

cost of financing. To this end, Klépierre has strength-

ened its financial structure. By year-end 2002, the

three benchmark ratios presented above had im-

proved to 42.7%, 2.8% and 7.6%, respectively

(versus 44.6%, 2.6% and 6.9% one year earlier).

Corporate debt structure
Klépierre seeks to ensure the diversity of its 

financing instruments. In 2001, it issued a 

€600 million bond maturing in June 2008, 

and also obtained a syndicated bank loan of 

€900 million. Another syndicated loan of €770 mil-

lion taken out in early 2003 was used to repay loans

that had fallen due (backup line for commercial 

paper and the CB Pierre loan) and to fund new 

investments. Acquisitions in Italy were partially 

financed using a mortgage loan of €133 million 

over 12 years, which is being finalized in 2003.

Following the decision to abort the new equity 

issue originally planned in 2000, Klépierre had 

contracted a loan of €225 million from BNP 

Paribas. This loan was to be repaid via a new 

equity issue, with capitalization of interest for 

Striking the right balance between a strong financial structure 
and cost optimization

two years. In light of the €190 million in share-

holders’ equity generated by the conversion of 

the convertible bond, Klépierre preferred to 

renegotiate this subordinated debt and transform

it into a loan comparable to the rest of its debt, 

to be repaid via a market debt or equity transac-

tion. Consequently, the terms of the debt were

significantly altered, lowering the margin to 

90 basis points until the due date, instead of 

48

■ Bonds
■ Syndicated loan 1
■ Bridge loan in lieu of capital increase
■ CB Pierre loan
■ Bridge loan - Italy
■ Backup line for commercial paper
■ Other debt

Debt schedule:
authorizations at
12/31/2002 in € millions

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 +

153

110

230

84.1 4.2 4.4 4.6

670

225

600

5.1 17.64.9

> FINANCIAL POLICY
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 +

3

270

84.1 3
4.6

670

225

250

600

3

3

3

112

5.1 17.6

250

4.9

CHARACTERISTICS

Securities issued Fixed Total Due date Existing
and principal or variable authorized hedging
loans contracted rate credit instruments
Bonds fixed 600 Jul. 08 yes (1)

BNP Paribas bridge loan variable 225 Oct. 08 (2) yes
Medium-term 
syndicated loan

variable 670 Jan. 06 yes

Credit CB Pierre variable 153 Nov. 03 yes
Bridge loan - Italy (3) variable 110 Mar. 03 yes
Backup line for  
commercial paper(4) variable 230 Jan. 03 yes

Overdraft variable 68 revolving no

(1) Assigned a fixed rate in 2000 and then immediately transformed into a variable-rate instrument upon issue 
in July 2001. (2) Transformation in progress, due date rescheduled for Feb. 2007. (3) Amount increased 
to €133 million and transformed into a mortgage loan by Klécar Italia in March 2003, due March 2015. 
(4) Replaced by a new €270 million facility for one year, renewable once.

160 basis points until the end of 2003, raised 

to 250 basis points as of January 1, 2004.

Interest-rate hedging
Klépierre’s strategy for managing interest-rate 

exposure involves the extensive use of hedging 

instruments. Taking advantage of the drop in inte-

rest rates in 2002 and early 2003, the Group set up

coverage for roughly 90% of its debt. The average

length of the hedge is 6 years, slightly longer than

the average debt maturity, since most of this debt

will probably be renewed at maturity.

The average cost of the debt covered is 4.6% 

when the Euribor rate is less than 6%. A total of 

€824 million in swap contracts involve structured

products that are automatically deactivated when

the Euribor rate exceeds 6%, at which point

Klépierre becomes the payer of the Euribor rate 

less 60 basis points. These terms are acceptable

for Klépierre, since periods during which short-term

interest rates remain durably above 6.60% are 

often correlated with high inflation, the impact of

which is mostly passed on to tenants via leases

pegged to the inflation index. Overall, swap 

contracts include €440 million in collar swaps and

€594 million in conventional swaps.

Global cost of debt
In 2002, the global cost of debt, including the cost

of interest-rate hedges, was 5.6%.

In 2003, on the basis of budget forecasts and 

assuming a Euribor three-month rate of 3%, the 

total cost of debt will be approximately 5.3%. 

A 100 basis point decrease in the Euribor rate would

lower the cost of debt by 6 basis points to reach

5.2%.

In the event of a 100 basis point increase in 

the Euribor, the cost of debt would increase by 

21 basis points (to 5.5%), which is stil l consi-

derably lower than the average net yield of

Klépierre’s holdings. ●

■ Bonds
■ Syndicated loan 1
■ Syndicated loan 2
■ Loan - Italy
■ Backup line for commercial paper
■ Other debt
■ Bridge in lieu of market transaction

Debt schedule:
pro forma 2003 authorizations in € millions

4.2 4.4

3
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> REVALUED NET ASSETS

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, reva-

lued net assets per share totaled €148, up 6.0%

compared with €139.6 at year-end 2001, after

elimination of the impact of the convertible bond

conversion completed in 2002 (€144.2 before 

elimination).

Measured on a constant structural basis, the 

value of assets totaled €4.7 bil l ion in 2002 

(total share) and €4.0 billion (Group share). The

value of office property assets declined by 3.7%,

while the value of shopping center assets rose

by 6.9%.

Methodology
On December 31st and June 30th of each year,

Klépierre revalues its net assets per share. The 

valuation method entails adding unrealized capital

gains to the book value of consolidated share-

holders’ equity. These unrealized gains reflect 

the difference between estimated market values

and net values recorded in the consolidated finan-

cial statements, excluding any deferred taxes 

on such capital gains.

Building values include transfer duties. Buildings

scheduled for sale on the date of the calculation

6% increase in RNA per share*

50



51

1
.

3
.

2
.

are valued at their probable selling price less rela-

ted fees and taxes.

Klépierre does not revise valuations of shopping

centers under development, even in cases where

building permits have been granted. Until these

shopping centers open, they are carried in the con-

solidated financial statements at cost, and this

amount is used to calculate revalued net assets.

Equity interests in the service companies Ségécé

and its subsidiaries and Klégestion are not reval-

ued, and are recorded at their historical cost in

revalued net assets, less amortization of goodwill.

Although the improvement in Ségécé’s profitability

and its leading position in Europe have undoubt-

edly generated an appreciation in value, this was

not taken into account.

The Group’s consolidated debt and interest-rate

hedging instruments were not revalued.

* Fully diluted

Valuation of holdings
For several years, Klépierre has entrusted the task

of assessing the value of its holdings to the same

appraisers. For office and warehouse holdings,

Foncier Expertise and Coextim jointly perform this

task. The Retail Consulting Group values shopping

center holdings. All of these experts are appointed

in compliance with the recommendation by the COB

(French stock exchange regulatory authority)

“Barthès de Ruyter” Work Group.

Offices
The appraisers combined two approaches: the first

entails a direct comparison with similar transactions

completed in the market during the period, while

the second involves capitalizing individual yields.

An analysis of these yields reveals that one of three

situations prevails: lease income is substantially

equal to, higher than, or lower than market value.

If lease income is higher than or equal to market

value, the lease income used in the valuation is the

actual lease income earned on the property. If it is

lower, the valuation value is derived by taking into

account the scheduled term of the corresponding

lease, at which time the rental price will be aligned

with going rates. Pursuant to the French decree of

September 30, 1953, the rental price of properties

that serve as office premise only is automatically

aligned with market rates when the leases in ques-

tion come up for renewal.

The office property market undergoes significant

fluctuations. Klépierre’s valuation specialists have

estimated that the horizon of visibility in this market

is approximately three years. Consequently, they

drew a distinction between leases scheduled for 

renewal after December 31, 2005 and those 

renewed prior.

Leases that expire after December 31, 2005 were

valued at the current rents, while leases scheduled

for renewal prior were valued at their rental market

value. In the latter case, a capital loss was deducted

from the derived value, equal to the discounted 

value (at the rate of 5.5%) of the difference between

actual lease income and market price until the lease

expires. The capitalization rate was derived by 

observing transactions completed by actual 

investors on the market. After applying this rate 

to the yield (determined as explained above), the

appraisers decided to exclude transfer duties from

their valuation of office properties.

A
75%of

holdings 
are shopping centers

33%of

shopping
center 
holdings are located
outside of France



1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

94.6 
106.4 

124.8
139.6

148.0

+12.5%
+17.3%

+12.0%

Data adjusted 
to take conversion 
of convertible bonds
into account.

+6.0%
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> REVALUED NET ASSETS

The valuation of Klépierre’s holdings is presented

exclusive of property transfer duties, i.e. the cost

of replacing or reconstituting all the assets of the

company or the price that an informed arm’s length

buyer would be willing to pay, all fees included, 

to acquire them. This approach provides a more

accurate estimate of the value of the Company’s

holdings, since it assumes going concern. Transfer

duties were appraised on the basis of AFREXIM 

recommendations – 6% in cases where the trans-

action is subject to registration fees and 1.5% when

the building is subject to VAT.

Shopping centers
To determine the fair market value of a shopping

center, appraisers apply a capitalization rate to net

annual lease income for leased-up premises, and

to net market price for vacant properties. The cap-

italization rate is applied after deduction of the net

present value of all reductions or rebates on leas-

es with minimum guaranteed rents and the net

present value of all expenses on vacant premises.

The discount rate used is equal to the capitaliza-

tion rate applied to determine fair market value.

Gross lease income is equal to minimum guaran-

teed rent plus variable rent plus market price of 

vacant properties. Net annual lease income is de-

rived by deducting all expenses from gross lease

income, including management fees, charges borne

by the owner and not re-invoiced and expenses

paid on empty premises. The appraiser determines

the capitalization rate on the basis of many factors,

including retail sales area, configuration, competi-

tion, ownership characteristics and percentage

ownership, rental reversion and extension poten-

tial, and recent transactions.

The appraisers also calculate an internal yield using

a method based on a series of discounted cash

flows, generally over ten years. The estimated 

resale value at the end of this period is calculated

by capitalization at the same rate as the rate 

initially applied to the net annual lease income.

In sum, the appraiser determines:

> the capitalization rate that applies to prevailing

market conditions;

> the current value of annual lease income, from

which a present value will be derived.

The internal yield, which is obtained by calculating

the internal rate of return, is then tested for con-

sistency. This method is applied in the same

conditions in all countries where Klépierre owns

shopping centers.

Analysis of holdings
At December 31, 2002, Klépierre’s real-estate hol-

dings encompassed all or part of 236 real-estate

assets: 190 retail complexes, 39 office buildings, 

3 warehouses and 1 parking complex. The total 

value of these holdings was €4,708.7 million, with

Revalued net assets in €/share
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Capitalization rates used by appraisers

14%

13% 

12%

11%

10% 

9%

8%

7% 

6%

5%

14%

13%

12%

11%

10%

9%

8%

7%

6%

5%

7.8%

6.9%

6.0%

6.6%
6.2%
5.8%

11.1%

6.5%

5.8%

12.6%

7.5%

6.0%

11.6%

7.4%

6.6%

11.5%

8.5%

7.8%

9.3%

7.0%

6.2%

8.1%

6.9%
6.3%

7.4%

6.3%

5.6%

7.6%
6.9%
6.8%

7.6%
6.7%
6.6%

7.8%
7.4%
6.7%

7.8%
7.1%

6.2%

13.4%

10.0%

8.9%

13.4%

9.4%

7.9%

Certain minimum 
capitalization rates 
are even lower 
than they should 
be given that 
the rental income 
in question offers 
major important 
upside potential.

Group share at €4,045.1 million.

The value of shopping center holdings totaled

€3,534.4 million (€2,870.7 million for Group share).

8 have a unit value greater than €75 million, 

43 have values ranging from €15 to €75 million,

and 136 have a value below €15 million.

Office holdings wholly owned by Klépierre are 

valued at a total of €1,156.5 million. 4 have an 

estimated unit value greater than €75 million and

account for 14.1% of the total estimated value 

of this sector. 18 are valued between €15 and 

€75 million and 20 are valued below €15 million. 

None of the warehouse properties is valued above

€10 million.

Revalued net assets are up 6% in 2002
The appraised value of Klépierre’s revalued net as-

sets was €2,208.8 million (€148 per share),

inclusive of property transfer duties and prior to 

dividend distribution in respect of 2002 and 

deferred taxation. Revalued net assets increased

by 6% compared with 2001.

If Klépierre opts for taxation as an SIIC and pays

an exit tax of an estimated €138 million, the per

share value of revalued net assets after payment of

deferred taxes will increase by close to ten euros

per share. ●

Camille-Desmoulins/Issy-les-Moulineaux

OFFICES
Comparison 
on a constant
structural basis
of minimum,
maximum 
and average
rates of return
per sector for
Klépierre’s office
and warehouse
holdings.

SHOPPING CENTERS



54

ESTIMATES, GAINS AND RENTAL VALUES OF HOLDINGS  - GROUP SHARE IN € THOUSANDS AT 12/31/2002

Sector Net book Appraised Unrealized 
value value capital *

Amount % Amount % Amount %

Offices and warehouses 723 669 24.44 1 174 356 29.03 450 687 41.55 

Paris CBD 394 451 13.32 618 350 15.29 223 899 20.64 

Other Paris 32 990 1.11 65 349 1.62 32 359 2.98 

1st outlying area 251 036 8.48 415 962 10.28 164 926 15.21 

2nd outlying area 36 461 1.23 56 898 1.41 20 437 1.88 

Total Provinces 23 0.00 23 0.00 - -

Total warehouses 8 708 0.29 17 774 0.44 9 066 0.84 

Shopping centers 2 236 775 75.56 2 870 699 70.97 633 924 58.45 

France 1 387 608 46.87 1 928 317 47.67 540 709 49.85 

Spain 418 021 14.12 479 379 11.85 61 358 5.66 

Italy 351 116 11.86 379 360 9.38 28 244 2.60 

Other 80 030 2.70 83 642 2.07 3 612 0.33 

TOTAL Klépierre holdings 2 960 444 100.00 4 045 055 100.00 1 084 611 100.00 

ESTIMATIONS, GAINS AND RENTAL VALUES OF HOLDINGS - TOTAL SHARE IN € THOUSANDS AT 12/31/2002

Sector Net book Appraised Unrealized 
value value capital*

Amount % Amount % Amount %

Offices and warehouses 723 669 20.95 1 174 356 24.94 450 687 35.91 

Paris CBD 394 451 11.42 618 350 13.13 223 899 17.84 

Other Paris 32 990 0.96 65 349 1.39 32 359 2.58 

1st outlying area 251 036 7.27 415 962 8.83 164 926 13.14 

2nd outlying area 36 461 1.06 56 898 1.21 20 437 1.63 

Total Provinces 23 0.00 23 0.00 - - 

Total warehouses 8 708 0.25 17 774 0.38 9 066 0.72 

Shopping centers 2 729 900 79.05 3 534 366 75.06 804 466 64.09 

France 1 723 457 49.90 2 413 070 51.25 689 613 54.94 

Spain 503 639 14.58 577 565 12.27 73 926 5.89 

Italy 416 478 12.06 453 054 9.62 36 576 2.91 

Other 86 326 2.50 90 677 1.93 4 351 0.35 

TOTAL Klépierre holdings 3 453 569 100.00 4 708 722 100.00 1 255 153 100.00

> REVALUED NET ASSETS

* Gains including acquisition costs.* Gains including acquisition costs.
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KLÉPIERRE’S PRINCIPAL COMPETITORS

Klépierre (1) Unibail (1) Corio (2) Rodamco Europe (2)

Market capitalization at December 31, 2002 (in € millions) 1 672 3 188 1 642 3 608

Fair market value of holdings (in € millions) 4 710 7 550 3 569 6 321

EPRA float ratio 40% 100% 70% 70%

Geographic breakdown of consolidated rents (in € millions) Klépierre (3) Unibail (3) Corio (4) Rodamco Europe (4)

France 254 514 53 69

Spain 30 - 14 58

Italy 23 - 3 -

Netherlands - - 172 190

Other 5 - 8 129

Total consolidated rents 312 514 250 446

Other income 32 9 - -

Consolidated revenues 343 524 250 446

Breakdown of consolidated rents by business (in € millions) Klépierre (3) Unibail (3) Corio (4) Rodamco Europe (4)

Shopping centers and stores 231 159 141 359

Offices 81 263 109 76

Other - 93 - 11

Total 312 514 250 446

Other income 32 9 - -

Consolidated revenues 344 524 250 446

(1) Fair market value of holdings at December 31, 2002 - (2) Fair market value of holdings at September 30, 2002 - (3) 2002 figures - (4) 2001 figures
Source: Goldman Sachs, February 2003

Klépierre’s principal competitors are listed European

companies whose investment strategy targets 

shopping centers and offices.

Klépierre does not consider major British real-

estate management companies to be direct 

competitors. These players primarily invest in 

the United Kingdom, where the shopping center

concept differs in certain key respects from

Klépierre’s. Notably, UK shopping malls are not 

powered by hypermarkets featuring a large super-

market section.

Klépierre’s main industry peers are Rodamco Europe,

Corio and Unibail, although the latter is a real-

estate management company which primarily in-

vests in office properties and which limits its holdings

to France. Rodamco Europe has the highest 

market capitalization and the biggest portfolio, with

office property holdings concentrated in the

Netherlands. Another Dutch company, Corio, owns

holdings that are similar to Klépierre’s but fewer in

number. Its office building holdings are located in

the company’s domestic market (the Netherlands),

just as Klépierre’s are located in France.

> COMPETITION



1. Change in scope 
of consolidation

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, the Group

consolidated 118 companies, versus 117 at year-end

2001. Since 2000, changes in the scope of consolidation

primarily reflect the integration of new shopping centers.

11 COMPANIES ADDED TO THE SCOPE 
OF CONSOLIDATION IN DECEMBER 2002  
Klécar Participation Italie and Klécar Italia
At the end of June 2002, Klépierre acquired 11 shopping

malls from Carrefour. To complete the acquisition, Klépierre

set up two entities: Klécar Participation Italie, a special 

purpose vehicle based in France, in which Klépierre holds

83% of the share capital, and Klécar Italia, its wholly owned

subsidiary based in Italy and owner of the Pescara shop-

ping center. Klécar Italia acquired from Carrefour full equity

ownership of the company Alicentro 5, which held 10 shop-

ping malls. Klécar Italia absorbed its subsidiary Alicentro 

5 on October 31, 2002.

Klépierre Portugal SGPS and Klelou
In December 2002, Klépierre acquired full ownership of

the Loures shopping center, located in the suburbs of

Lisbon, via Klépierre Portugal SGPS and its subsidiary

Klelou, the direct owner of the center.

Klefin Italia and IGC
In July 2002, Klépierre entered into an agreement with the Italian

group Finiper, under the terms of which Klépierre may acquire

from Finiper a 40% equity stake in IGC, owner of 9 shopping

malls. Klépierre acquires this stake indirectly via Klefin Italia Spa,

an Italian holding company fully owned by Klépierre.

SNC KC5
This direct subsidiary of Klécar France owns the Montpellier

Lattes shopping center.

Galae
This subsidiary of Klépierre and Ségécé specializes in 

multimedia services, notably the creation and manage-

ment of websites for shopping centers.

Klépierre Services
An inter-company partnership owned by Ségécé, Klégestion

and Klépierre Conseil.

PSG and FMC, property management 
companies and direct subsidiaries of Ségécé 
PSG, an Italian company established in partnership with 

the Finim Group, was acquired in July 2002. FMC was

founded in the Czech Republic. It handles rental mana-

gement for the Danubia shopping center and the Novy

Smichov shopping center, of which the formal acquisition 

is planned for early 2003.

These companies are fully consolidated, with the exception

of IGC and PSG, which are proportionately consolidated.

The difference between the acquisition price and the share

in net assets of IGC, calculated at €27.5 million, was

recorded under buildings. Among the 10 other new compa-

nies, which were created by the group, the real-estate asset

management companies acquired their holdings through

the direct acquisition of shopping malls.

10 COMPANIES REMOVED 
FROM THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
Eight of the 10 companies removed from consolidation are

rental companies that ceased to do business following the

sale of their assets; six of these companies were removed

from consolidation following the complete transfer of their

assets (Transmission Universelle de Patrimoine, TUP) and

liabilities to their holding company.

SCI Levallois Michelet and SCI Paris Suffren, owners of 

a building in operation, were also transferred to their 

holding company, CB Pierre.

Lastly, the company Vanne Montrouge changed its corpo-

rate name to Klépierre Conseil, a service company. This

wholly owned Klépierre subsidiary provides administrative

management services to the Group’s property companies.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2002
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recurring acquisition fee income related to the Carrefour

agreement.

Income from development-related sales transactions was

€1.5 million at the December 31, 2002 reporting date, 

versus €22.6 million at year-end 2001. As a reminder, 2001

income included the sale of the supermarket structure in

the Annecy Courier shopping center for €7.9 million and

the sale of the Poitiers shopping center to Espace

Cordeliers by Cécocord for €14.7 million.

Other operating income includes entry fees to be amortized

and expense transfers.

Operating income excluding development projects

totaled €343.4 million, up 13.2% from year-end 2001.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Other operating expenses totaled €36.2 million, an

increase of 20.3%. Expenses directly related to the ope-

ration of office buildings and shopping centers totaled

€16.8 million, up 27.3% due to the increase in assets, and

accounted for 5.4% of rents at year-end 2002.

General expenses rose by 14.2%, to €19.5 million. This

increase reflects the consolidation of new management

companies, PSG in Italy and FMC in the Czech Republic,

as well as the full year consolidation of Centros Shopping

Gestion.

Personnel costs – including profit sharing and incentives –

increased by 16% versus 2001. This change is consistent

with growth in the workforce over the same period (A).

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization rose by 3.8% compared with

year-end 2001. The total of €88.5 million recorded at

December 31, 2002, reflects:

> intangible fixed assets, mainly attributable to building

leases (€4.2 million);

> tangible fixed assets and acquisition fees on fixed assets

(€84.2 million).

Allowances for the amortization of tangible fixed assets in

the Office property sector declined as a result of the 

property disposals completed in 2001. Allowances for 

the amortization of the buildings sold totaled €2.5 million 

at the December 31, 2001, reporting date.

2. Commentary 
on the statements of income

OPERATING INCOME
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, revenues totaled

€345.0 million, up 5.8% compared with year-end 2001.

Lease income was €311.9 million at December 31, 2002,

a 14.9% increase over 2001.

Shopping centers generated €230.7 million in lease

income, a 25.2% increase between year-end 2001 and

year-end 2002.

Measured on a constant structural basis, lease income

from shopping centers was €180.7 million, up 7.2% from

the prior reporting date.

Rents from shopping centers located outside of France

accounted for 18.5% of total lease income, geographically

broken down as follows: Spain 9.7%, Italy 7.4%, Greece

1.1% and Slovakia 0.4%.

The office/warehouse sector generated €81.2 million in lease

income, accounting for 26.0% of total rents, versus 32.1%

at the December 31, 2001 reporting date. On a current

structural basis, lease income from this business

decreased by 6.7%. On a constant structural basis, lease

income rose by 4.2%, mainly attributable to inflation-

indexed rent adjustments (+3.7%) and renegotiated leases.

Management and administrative fee income totaled 

€31.5 million, down 1.4%. This decrease reflects the 

termination of office property management mandates and

the consolidation of new assets, which generated mana-

gement fee income that has been reclassified as intra-

group income and hence eliminated in consolidation.

Ségécé’s fee income declined sharply, due to two factors:

it invoiced an insignificant amount of development fees 

in 2002 and, contrary to 2001, did not record any non-

(A) WORKFORCE

2

Consolidated % 
workforce Change 2002 2001

Ségécé - Ségécé LT (1) 5.8% 239 226

Ségécar 2.2% 91 89

Centros Shopping Gestion 86.2% 54 29

PSG NS 22 -

FMC NS 19 -

Galae NS 9 -

Klégestion - CB Pierre (1) -13.2% 33 38

Klépierre Conseil (1) 115.4% 28 13

TOTAL GROUP 25,3% 495 395

The workforce of Devimo, which is accounted for under the equity
method, is not included (66 employees), the workforce of the companies
which are proportionately consolidated is accounted for their share.

(1) The workforce of the inter-company partnership Klépierre Services
was divided among its members using the fee allocation key.
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Conversely, in the Shopping center segment, amortization

and depreciation rose by 8% compared with the corre-

sponding prior period. Building amortization for shopping

malls in Spain was €6 million after reallocation of

land/buildings amounts (versus €10.7 million on the 

previous basis). The new amortization was calculated 

on the basis of consolidated net book value at the

December 31, 2001 reporting date. Accrued amortization

at January 1, 2002 was not restated.

Net balance of allowances to and releases of reserves 

was an expense of €2.5 million, primarily attributable to

provisions for risks related to non consolidated subsidiaries

(Ségécé España, €0.4 million), additional costs related to

buildings (€0.8 million) and accrued retirement liabilities

(€1 million).

OPERATING EARNINGS
Operating earnings were €188.8 million, up 14.0%.

Expressed in terms of group share, the total was

€160 million, up 12.5%. The minority share was

€28.8 million, an increase of 20.9%. As a reminder,

minority interests are almost entirely concentrated in the

Shopping center sector, which recorded the sharpest

growth of Klépierre’s core office property and shopping

center businesses in 2002.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Financial results were a loss of €98.5 million, down 1.8%

compared with year-end 2001. Over the same period,

financing debt grew by €160 million. This apparent stability

masks the following components:

> the redemption of the convertible bond (99% successful)

transformed a €147 million debt into equity capital as from

January 1, 2002, a saving of €4.5 million in interest expense;

> a significant portion of the corporate debt increase

occurred toward the end of the year, with little impact on

interest expense for 2002;

> the drop in interest rates in 2002 had a positive impact

on the unhedged portion of Klépierre’s debt, while the per-

centage of hedged debt remained unchanged at roughly

58% from year-end 2001 to year-end 2002.

Pre-tax operating earnings totaled €90.3 million, up

31.2% compared with December 31, 2001. Group share of

earnings was €66.2 million, up 35.7%.

NON-RECURRING RESULTS
Non-recurring results totaled €63.3 million, of which 

€67.5 million reflect pre-tax capital gains on sales of the

properties listed in table (B).

Non-recurring items include a provision of €2.5 million 

for real-estate risks relating to a shopping center located

abroad.

GOODWILL AMORTIZATION
Goodwill amortization totaled €0.7 million, compared with

€3.2 million at the December 31, 2001 reporting date. As

a reminder, allowances recorded in 2001 included a one-off

writedown of €1.2 million reflecting the total amount of

goodwill relating to the 15% equity security interest in

Ségécé sold by Klépierre in January 2001.

CORPORATE INCOME TAX
Corporate income tax of €54.5 million at December 31,

2002 is summarized in the table (C).

Income tax payable includes income of €10.9 million,

which corresponds to the change in the tax consolidation

suspense account recorded between the 2001 and 2002

year-end reporting dates.

This tax saving is generated by the tax loss of the Klépierre

tax consolidation group, particularly the tax loss of

Klébureaux, attributable to the internal restructuring under-

taken by CB Pierre.

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, non-recurring

deferred income tax was a €24.5 million expense, of 

which €6.0 million is attributable to property sales and

€19.2 million to the recognition of deferred tax assets 

following internal restructuring.

Deferred tax results for current operations reflect the taxation

of recurring consolidation eliminations and timing differences.

(B) BUILDINGS SOLD IN 2002

2

Building Pre-tax capital gains

185, avenue Daumesnil - Paris 12th 26.5

2 à 10, rue Chaptal - Levallois 17.4

13, rue de l’Abreuvoir - Courbevoie 4.5

2-4, rue Louis David - Paris 16th 3.2

Avenue du général Leclerc - Paris 14th 2.0

7, rue du général Foy - Paris 8th 8.3

15-17, rue Paul Langevin - Herblay 0.6

Rue du marquis de Raies - Évry 0.5

54, rue Roger Salengro - Fontenay 3.5

Fontenay - La redoute (remainder) 0.2

11, rue Graham - Metz 0.2

Bât HT2 Sophia Antipolis - Valbonne 0.6

TOTAL 67.5

in € millions
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3. Commentary on the balance sheet

The balance sheet total, summarized in the table (D),

was €3,956 million at December 31, 2002 versus

€3,614 million at December 31, 2001, an increase of

€341.2 million.

Fixed assets rose by €377.7 million following acquisitions

and disposals carried out in 2002. The increase is primarily

offset by a €123 million increase in debt and a €207.6 mil-

lion rise in equity capital, mainly attributable to the redemp-

tion of the convertible bond (€147.2 million) and earnings

for the fiscal year pending appropriation.

ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Total amortization of goodwill (gross) was €19.9 million,

down €15.3 million from the €35.2 million recorded at

December 31, 2001. This decline reflects the removal of

goodwill based on the taxation of valuation variances 

calculated for buildings and recorded to offset a deferred

tax liability. Such goodwill is reallocated to buildings, 

following the modification of methods used to calculate

deferred tax on purchase goodwill.

Other intangible fixed assets (gross) primarily reflects buil-

ding leases (€47.5 million).

Tangible fixed assets
Gross tangible fixed assets increased by €465.6 million

(net), primarily attributable to the following transactions:

> acquisition of 25 shopping malls located abroad for a

total of €360.9 million (gross);

> acquisition of 9 French shopping malls and additional

land for a total of €124.6 million;

> additional €29.7 million recorded for the Camille

Desmoulins office building located at the ZAC Forum Seine

in Issy-les-Moulineaux. The full acquisition price of this

building (delivered on December 16, 2002), including the

land for the extension, totals €69.7 million;

> sale of 11 office properties for a total of €95.9 million

(gross);

> reclassification of the Tenerife mall held by Klécar Foncier

España. At the December 31, 2001 reporting date, in com-

SHARE IN NET INCOME 
OF EQUITY METHOD INVESTEES
This item reflects Klépierre’s share in the income of Devimo.

Net cash earnings totaled €63.1 million, up 37.3%.

Group share was €45.2 million, an increase of 50.5%.

Net earnings of the consolidated entity was €98.7 mil-

lion (total share), up 19.8% versus December 31, 2001.

Group share totaled €81.1 million, an increase of

24.2%.

Net current cash flow excluding development projects

rose by 15.0% (total share) and 16.6% (group share).

Net cash flow climbed by 9.6% (total share) and 11.3%

(group share).

(C) CORPORATE INCOME TAX BREAKDOWN

in € millions
2

Current operations Non-recurring Total

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Tax payable 28.2 30.5 2.5 15.5 30.7 46.0

Deferred tax - 0.7 -7.2 24.5 7.1 23.8 -0.1

TOTAL 27.5 23.3 27.0 22.6 54.5 45.9

(D) CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2

Assets Liabilities

Fixed assets 377.7 Shareholders’ equity 186.6

Current assets 13.2 Minority interests 21.8

Cash and marketable securities -20.1 Provisions for contingencies and losses 6.5

Debt 123.1

Adjustment accounts Adjustment accounts 
and deferred tax assets -29.6 and deferred tax liabilities 3.2

TOTAL 341.2 TOTAL 341.2
in € millions
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pliance with local standards, this mall, which was acquired

before completion (on the basis of plans) in 2001, was car-

ried as an asset to offset a debt of €86 million 

(the full price of the acquisition). At the December 31, 2002

reporting date, the asset was reclassified to comply 

with French regulations governing sales before completion.

That is, the acquired portion of the asset was recorded

(equal to down payments made of €30.1 million), while the

non-acquired portion was carried as an off-balance sheet

commitment of €56.0 million.

The reclassification of fixed assets led to a €56.0 million

decrease in other liabilities.

> Down payment of €52.1 million made toward the acqui-

sition of the Oviedo shopping center.

> Acquisition of additional equity interest (15% in the

Marseille Bourse shopping center and 10% in the René Coty

shopping center in Le Havre) resulting in a €13.2 million

increase in buildings.

Long-term financial assets
Long-term financial assets primarily reflect advances and

loans to non-consolidated and proportionately consoli-

dated subsidiaries. These advances, previously recorded

as other liabilities, were reclassified as of December 31,

2001. The largest advances were made to the companies

owning the following shopping centers: Boulogne-

Billancourt (€17.6 million), Le Havre (€13.2 million) and

Poitiers (€7.3 million).

Non-consolidated equity interest securities totaled 

€1.2 million. The largest gross value of securities held is

€0.5 million in SAS Sovaly, pending the official launch of

the Gare de Lyon project.

Equity method investment securities
This item, up €0.2 million in 2002 compared with year-end

2001, reflects equity in the company Devimo almost 

exclusively.

Inventory of projects under development
Development inventory increased by €1 million, to €3.3 million.

In the corresponding prior period, most of this inventory was

comprised of retail space intended for resale.

Trade notes receivable
Following a €14.4 million increase between Decem-

ber 2000 and December 2001, trade notes receivable net

of allowances for depreciation fell from €19.9 million at

year-end 2001 to €16.8 million at year-end 2002.

Miscellaneous receivables
Corporate income tax recorded under miscellaneous 

receivables is attributable to the Klépierre tax consolidation

group. The Group registered a tax loss at the December 31,

2002 reporting date, generating €14.0 million in receiva-

bles.

VAT includes recoverable VAT on the acquisition of shop-

ping malls in Italy (€4.8 million) and in Spain (€11.1 million)

and projects recently completed (€2.4 million for the Forum

Seine building).

Miscellaneous debtors primarily include the following recei-

vables:

> €23.2 million down payment made to acquire an equity

interest in Delcis, owner of the Novy Smichov shopping

center in Prague;

> €71.6 million in receivables relating to real-estate 

management activities (calls for funds to property owners);

> €26.5 million in accrued interest on interest rate swaps;

> €4.8 million in receivables on the sale of fixed assets

during 2002.

Marketable securities
In addition to the funds invested by companies that could

not implement the Automatic Treasury Centralization sys-

tem (€47.2 million), marketable securities include 190,503

treasury shares with an acquisition value of €18.5 million,

equal to 1.28% of total equity issued.

Of these shares, 100,000 are reserved for the stock option

plan approved for Klépierre group employees in June 1999

(70,600 of which have been distributed) and 90,503 have

been set aside to stabilize the stock market as needed.

A total of 72,058 treasury shares were sold in 2002, gener-

ating a capital gain of €1.4 million.

Adjustment account (assets)
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, the principal

components of the adjustment account were expenses to

amortize – lease-up fees (€4.1 million), bond issue fees

(€4.1 million) and bond issue premiums (€2.5 million) – and

prepaid expenses (€1.5 million).

LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
The net change to the Group’s total shareholders’ equity

was €186.6 million. This increase reflects a dividend distri-

bution of €40.9 million from the consolidating company for

2001, earnings of €81.1 million for the fiscal year 2002, and

a capital increase of €147.2 million following the conversion

of 745,763 bonds into 1,536,364 new shares. A total of

€1.6 million (net of tax) of expenses related to the conver-

tible bond issue that were not yet amortized, was deducted

from the issue premium.
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Provisions for contingencies and losses
Provisions for contingencies and losses totaled €17.2 mil-

lion at December 31, 2002, versus €10.6 million at 

year-end 2001. These provisions primarily reflect accrued

retirement liabilities (€7 million), building management

expenses payable (€0.8 million), costs incurred in connec-

tion with risky development projects (€1.6 million) and 

real-estate risks related to a shopping center located

abroad (€2.5 million).

Minority interests
The principal components of changes in the minority inte-

rests in Group subsidiaries are a €17.1 million payout of

dividends, earnings for the period and additional equity

provided by minority shareholders to finance the acqui-

sition of the shopping malls owned by Klécar France 

(€6.7 million) and Klécar Italia (€16.7 million).

Deferred income taxes
The deferred income tax situation is a net liability of 

€42.4 million, up €34.4 million compared with the 

€8.0 million liability at the December 31, 2001 reporting

date. This change was recorded as change in result 

(€23.4 million) and other changes (€11 million).

> An increase of €28.9 million in deferred tax assets 

was recorded in the statement of income under buildings.

Of this amount, €19.1 million can be attributed to the

recognition of deferred tax assets following internal restruc-

turing transactions and €6.0 million reflect property sales.

> The other variation item includes deferred tax liabilities of 

€10.1 million, of which €4.4 million are deferred taxes 

calculated on the basis of the new valuation variances 

for this fiscal year (SC Centre Bourse). The balance of 

€5.7 million corresponds to tax calculated from previous

valuation variances and recorded to offset tangible assets.

These deferred tax assets and liabilities do not take into

account the potential tax saving related to losses on equi-

ty securities totaling €32.3 million, for which no deferred

tax asset was recorded, in accordance with the regulations

in force.



62

> NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Borrowings and financial debt
Since f iscal year 2000, the change in borrowings and

financial debt primarily reflects investments made in 

connection with the Carrefour agreement, adjusted for 

the impact of office property sales and the company’s avai-

lable cash flow.

From year-end 2001 to year-end 2002, corporate debt

increased by €184 million, excluding advances and

accrued interest. This change reflects an additional 

€150 million drawn on the syndicated loan, a €110 mil-

lion bridge loan pending a mortgage loan to be contrac-

ted by Klécar Italia by March 31, 2003, an additional bank

overdraft of €9 million and the redemption of convertible

bonds for €147.2 million of equity capital. As a reminder,

Klépierre exercised its option of early redemption on all

3% 1998-2006 convertible bonds outstanding on July 23,

2002.

The table (E) below summarizes the principal components

of Klépierre’s debt financing, excluding Group advances

and accrued interest.

Trade notes and other liabilities
Trade notes and other liabilities totaled €245.9 million,

down €36.4 million. This decrease primarily reflects 

the reclassification off-balance sheet of the fixed asset debt

related to the acquisition of the Tenerife shopping mall

before completion.

Client payables consist of calls for funds made to tenants

and security deposits, which were offset by calls for funds

made to property owners recorded under other liabilities. In

light of growth in the Group’s shopping-center business,

depos i t s and guaran tees rece i ved inc reased f rom 

€45 million at December 31, 2001 to €57 million at the

December 31, 2002 reporting date.

Other liabilities include €20.2 million in accrued interest on

interest rate swaps.

Adjustment account (liabilities)
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, this item inclu-

ded:

> prepaid income, notably a €4.0 million cash payment on

swaps;

> €5.5 million of entry fees spread over the terms of the

corresponding leases. ●

(E) FINANCING DEBT

in € millions
2

Excluding group advances 2002 < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years 2001
and accrued interest 

Capital increase bridge 225 225 225

Mortgage loan bridge 110 110 -

Convertible bond - 153

Equity loans (TDSI) 152 152 156

Bond 600 600 600

Bond bridge - -

Bank borrowings 633 8 546 79 412

Commercial paper 171 171 170

Bank overdraft 44 44 35

TOTAL FINANCING DEBT 1 935 375 656 904 1 751
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NET RESULTS OF JOINT OPERATIONS
Net results of joint operations totaled €31.2 million in 2002,

roughly stable compared with 2001, primarily reflecting

Klépierre’s share in the income of SNC Klécar France for

2002, a total of €31.9 million.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Financial results include dividends from subsidiaries and

interest income and expenses in connection with Group

financing (intra-group financing and major external financ-

ing set up by Klépierre to fund its acquisitions). It also

includes the cost of interest-rate hedging instruments, for

which, according to accounting principles in force, income

and expense must be recorded as separate items.

In 2002, financial results primarily consisted of the follow-

ing items:

Interest income:
> dividends from subsidiaries: €61.3 million, a decrease of

€11.1 million that is mainly attributable to the non-payment

of advances on dividend payouts by certain subsidiaries;

> interest on advances to subsidiaries: €30.9 mill ion,

stable compared with 2001;

> interest from interest rate swaps: €80.8 million, up from

€14.9 million.

Interest expense:
> net interest expense on borrowings: €89.7 million;

> interest expense on swaps: €89.3 million, an increase of

€19.0 million mainly attributable to a global rise in hedging

instruments and lower interest rates.

Financial results at December 31, 2002, were a loss of 

€4.2 million, versus a gain of €11.1 million at year-end

2001.

1. Commentary 
on the statement of income

Klépierre SA has two core businesses. It owns office build-

ings and is also a holding company with direct and indirect

equity interests in a large number of subsidiaries that either

own office or shopping center properties, or which provide

related services. Klépierre SA has no direct employees, and

ensures most of the financing required to fund the Group’s

business.

OPERATING INCOME
The €8.0 million decrease in operating income primarily

reflects:

> a €1.4 million increase in lease income, mainly

attributable to the full year consolidation of two office build-

ing acquisitions, Le Brochant Paris 17th and Le Florentin

Issy-les-Moulineaux;

> release of €3.3 million in allowances recorded on the

Diderot building (€9.4 million was released in 2001), in

accordance with the Group’s rules governing allowances

and releases;

> a €3.5 million decline in expense transfers, which were

higher in 2001 mainly due to the amortization of expenses

related to the bond issue completed in July 2001.

OPERATING EXPENSES
The €1.7 million decrease in operating expenses is primar-

ily attributable to a decrease in external charges, mainly

bank charges, and a decrease in depreciation and amorti-

zation expense following the property sales completed in

2001 and 2002.

Operating earnings totaled €7.5 million, down 46%

compared with 2001.

Notes to the corporate financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2002
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NON-RECURRING RESULTS
Non-recurring results primarily include the following items:

> a gain of €1.4 million from the sale of treasury shares in

connection with market making and stock repurchase

agreements entered into by the Group;

> total losses of €5.7 million resulting from the complete

transfer of real-estate assets (TUP) from two whol ly

owned subsidiaries of Klépierre (SAS Curial Archereau

and Fontenay La Redoute), which were subsequently

wound up;

> a net gain of €19.5 million on the sale of buildings for

a total sale price of €33.5 million in buildings directly

owned by Klépierre. In 2001, €0.7 million was recorded

under this item. The buildings listed in table (F) were

sold in 2002.

Non-recurring results were a profit of €13.7 million,

compared with a profit of €0.7 million in 2001.

CORPORATE INCOME TAX
Contrary to 2001, the Klépierre tax consolidation group

recorded a net loss of €7.1 million in 2002, primarily due to

internal restructuring among group subsidiaries.

However, as in 2001, Klépierre SA registered a tax loss of

€7.2 million, mainly attributable to factors related to the

group’s financing structure.

On the statement of income, a tax saving of €2.1 was

recorded as a result of tax consolidation, in addition to a

carryback of €2.4 million reflecting Klépierre’s own tax loss

for the period.

On the balance sheet, Klépierre’s corporate income tax

credit totaled €16.4 million, of which €13.9 for the repay-

ment of advances made and €2.4 million for a tax loss car-

ryback.

Net earnings for the year 2002 totaled €51.8 million,

compared with €65.0 million in 2001, a decrease of

20.3%.

2. Commentary on the balance sheet

Klépierre’s balance sheet increased by €271.7 million.

ASSETS
This increase reflects:

> an increase of €131.1 million in equity interest securities

due to acquisitions carried out in 2002: an additional stake

of €32.7 million in Klécar France, Klécar Participation Italie,

parent company of Klécar Italia, for €81.5 million and Klefin

Italia, a shareholder of IGC, for €13.6 million;

> an increase o f  € 151.3 mi l l ion  in  advances to

subsidiaries, which primarily include advances made to the

companies Klécar Participation Italie, Klefin Italia and

Klépierre Portugal.

LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity rose by €158.1 million, primarily reflec-

ting the €147.2 million increase in equity following the

redemption of 745,763 convertible bonds in 2002, creating

1,536,364 new shares earning dividends as from January

1, 2002. The rest is attributable to the difference between

the payout of dividends in respect of 2001 and earnings for

2002 pending their appropriation.

(F) BUILDINGS SOLD IN 2002

2

Building Pre-tax gain or loss

Avenue du général Leclerc - Paris 14th 2.0

7, rue du général Foy - Paris 8th 11.1

15-17, rue Paul Langevin - Herblay 0.7

Rue du marquis de Raies - Évry 0.6

54, rue Roger Salengro - Fontenay 4.0

Fontenay - La Redoute (remainder) 0.2

11, rue Graham - Metz 0.2

Bât HT2 Sophia Antipolis - Valbonne 0.7

TOTAL 19.5
in € millions
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(G) FINANCING DEBT

2

Excluding accrued interest 12/31/02 12/31/01

Bridge loan in lieu of capital increase 225 225

Convertible bond - 153

Bond 600 600

Syndicated loan 500 350

Commercial paper 171 170

Bridge loan - Italy 110

Treasury centralization + overdraft 68 147

TOTAL 1 674 1 645
in € millions

(H) CHANGE IN NET DIVIDEND PER SHARE

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Net dividend 2.3 2.5 2.75 3.10 3.50

+7.2% +9.6% +10% +12.7% +12.9%

Tax credit* 1.1 1.2 1.37 1.55 1.75

Gross dividend 3.4 3.7 4.12 4.65 5.25

* assuming “avoir fiscal” tax credit of 50%.

(I) PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF EARNINGS - 2002

in € millions

in €

2

2002 corporate net earnings 51.8

Retained earnings (before dividend payout) 30.3

Distribution (€3.50) 52.2

Legal reserve 1.2

Retained earnings (after dividend payout) 28.7

TOTAL 82.1 82.1

Established on the basis of 14,919,921 shares 
and without taking into account the cancellation of dividends 
paid on the treasury shares owned on the dividend payment date.

3. Dividends

Up to the year 2000, it was Klépierre’s ongoing policy to

pay a yearly dividend that was substantially equal to con-

solidated net cash earnings.

The active external growth policy pursued by Klépierre

since 2001 led to a reduction in consolidated net cash

earnings and a significant rise in net current cash flow.

Accordingly, the Executive Board recommended in 2001

that the dividend payout policy be amended to enable

shareholders to take part in the company’s growth.

In 2001, the dividend growth rate was 12.7%, consistent

with the expected average growth of the company’s per-

formance indicators.

The Executive Board recommends that this policy be

renewed, and that a dividend of €3.50 be paid in respect

of 2002, plus an “avoir fiscal” tax credit of 50% (€1.75) or

10% (€0.35).

If the shareholders ratify this dividend distribution, the net

dividend for 2002 will rise by 12.9% compared with 2001.

The net dividend payout will total €52.2 million, which is

equal to 42.9% of the consolidated net current cash flow,

64.4% of consolidated net earnings and 115.6% of consol-

idated net cash earnings.

The net dividend per share will have increased by 64% in

five years, an annualized average of over 10% (H) (I). The

recommended dividend payment date is April 15, 2003. ●

Liabilities and adjustment accounts
Total borrowings and financing debt remained roughly

stable, obscuring the fact that the company’s financing

needs have increased,  s ince shareho lders ’  equ i ty

increased by €147 million after convertible bonds were

redeemed, while the debt level remained stable. Changes

in the principal lines of credit are shown in table (G).



66

> NOTES TO THE CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Share capital at the end of the period
A) Equity capital 119 359 368 107 068 456 98 700 486 98 678 305 98 676 712

B) Number of outstanding common shares 14 919 921 13 383 557 12 948 655 12 945 745 12 945 536

Operations and results of fiscal year
A) Revenues (excluding taxes) 21 366 600 19 723 678 18 628 880 18 476 514 23 631 746

B) Income before taxes, employee profit-sharing,
depreciation and amortization 57 603 109 58 980 051 42 686 711 71 965 087 14 950 186

C) Corporate income tax - 3 531 913 - 7 219 508 5 344 860 15 600 704 - 18 881 914

D) Income after taxes, employee sharing,
depreciation and amortization 51 799 156 64 956 994 28 040 477 46 401 648 5 497 298

E) Distributed profits 52 219 724 41 489 027 35 608 801 32 364 362 29 603 014

Earnings per share
A) Income after taxes, employee profit-sharing 

and before depreciation and amortization 4.10 4.95 2.88 4.35 2.61

B) Income after taxes, employee profit-sharing 
and depreciation and amortization 3.47 4.85 2.17 3.58 0.42

C) Net dividend attributable per share 3.50 3.10 2.75 2.50 2.29

Workforce*

A) Average number of salaried employees during fiscal year 2

B) Payroll for the fiscal year 0 0 15 245 15 245 118 815

C) Employee benefits 0 0 0 56 54 395

* Salaried employees of SAS Klégestion as of July 1, 1998. in €

Five-year financial summary
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1st resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to approve the 2002 finan-

cial statements.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to ordinary meetings of sharehold-

ers, and having read the Executive Board report, the

Supervisory Board report and the report of the Auditors on

the annual financial statements for the year ended December

31, 2002, hereby approve said financial statements as pre-

sented in the aforementioned documents, showing a profit

for the period of €51,799,156.13.

The meeting of the shareholders also approves the trans-

actions reflected in the financial statements or summarized

in the aforementioned reports.

2nd resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to approve the 2002 con-

solidated financial statements.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to ordinary meetings of sharehold-

ers, and having read the Executive Board report, the

Supervisory Board report and the report of the Auditors on

the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

December 31, 2002, hereby approve said financial state-

ments as presented in the aforementioned documents,

showing a profit for the period of €98,718,000.

The meeting of the shareholders also approves the trans-

actions reflected in the financial statements or summarized

in the aforementioned reports.

3rd resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to approve the transac-

tions and agreements referred to in Article L. 225-86 of the

French Company Code.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to ordinary meetings of sharehold-

ers, duly note the terms of the Independent Auditors’

Special report on the transactions and agreements referred

to in Article L. 225-86 of the French Company Code and

hereby approve said transactions and agreements present-

ed in the aforementioned report.

4th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to determine the appropri-

ation of 2002 earnings and a net dividend per share of

€3.50, to which is added €1.75 (50 percent tax credit) or

€0.35 (10 percent tax credit).

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to ordinary meetings of sharehold-

ers, hereby resolve to appropriate the year’s earnings of

€51,799,156.13 as follows:

> Earnings for the period €51 799 156,13

> Appropriation to legal reserve €1 229 091,20

> Balance €50 570 064,93

> To which is added prior retained 

earnings of €30 308 320,93

> Available for dividend distribution 

to shareholders €80 878 385,86

> For distributable earnings of €52 219 723,50

i.e. a €3.50 dividend per share, plus a tax credit of €1.75

(50 percent) or €0.35 (10 percent).

> Total retained earnings €28 658 662,36

The shareholders resolve that, pursuant to the provisions

of Article L. 225-210 of the French Company Code, the

dividend distributable in respect of treasury shares owned

on the date of  payment,  and any amounts that the

shareholders have agreed to waive, shall be appropriated

to retained earnings.

The dividend will be available for payment as of April 15,

2003.

As a reminder, the following dividends were paid out per

share in respect of the three prior fiscal periods:

> In respect of 1999:

€2.50, plus a 50 percent tax credit of €1.25,

a total of €3.75, or a 40 percent tax credit of €1,

a total of € 3.50.

> In respect of 2000:

€2.75, plus a 50 percent tax credit of €1.37,

a total of €4.12, or a 25 percent tax credit of €0.69,

a total of €3.44.

> In respect of 2001:

€3.10, plus a 50 percent tax credit of €1.55,

a total of €4.65, or a 15 percent tax credit of €0.46,

a total of €3.56.

5th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to authorize the Executive

Board to trade in shares of the Company and, if necessary,

to cancel such shares.

> The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and major-

ity requirements pertaining to ordinary meetings of share-

holders, and having reviewed the Executive Board report

and the information contained in the condensed registra-

tion statement that received the visa of the Commission

des Opérations de Bourse (the French stock exchange

regulatory authority)

- Duly note that the Company acquired 13,994 of its own

shares in 2002.

- In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-209 of

the French Company Code, the shareholders hereby

authorize the Executive Board to purchase shares of the

Company.

The purpose of this authorization is to enable the Company

General meeting
April 4, 2003

>DRAFT RESOLUTIONS



Subject to shareholder approval of the sixth and seventh

resolutions hereinafter, which pertain to the reduction of the

par value of shares and a capital increase through capital-

ization of reserves, the maximum purchase price shall be

reduced to €60, the minimum selling price shall be

reduced to €33, and the total number of shares that may

be acquired shall be limited to 10 percent of the Company’s

equity capital (4,475,976 shares for a maximum amount of

€268,558,560).

In the event of a capital increase through the capitalization

of reserves and a free allotment of shares, as well as in the

event of either a stock split or a bundling of shares, the

aforementioned prices shall be adjusted by a factor equal

to the number of shares that make up the Company’s equi-

ty capital before the transaction divided by the number of

shares after the transaction.

This authorization is valid for a maximum period of 18

months. It cancels and replaces the unused portion of the

authorization granted by the sixth resolution of the meeting

of the shareholders held on April 11, 2002. The Executive

Board is granted all necessary powers to implement this

authorization and the option of delegating such powers to

its Chairman.

> The shareholders, having fulf i l led the quorum and

majority requirements pertaining to extraordinary meetings

of shareholders, and having reviewed the Executive Board

report and the report of the Auditors, author ize the

Executive Board for a period of two years to:

- cancel treasury shares purchased by virtue of this autho-

rization, up to a maximum of 10 percent of the equity cap-

ital per 24-month period, and reduce equity capital accord-

ingly by charging the difference between the purchase

value of the cancelled securities and their par value to addi-

tional paid-in capital and reserves;

- amend the bylaws accordingly and accomplish all

required formalities.

6th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to reduce the par value of

shares and amend Article 6 of the bylaws accordingly.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to extraordinary meetings of share-

holders, having read the Executive Board report, and sub-

ject to the approval of the seventh resolution by sharehold-

ers during the extraordinary meeting, hereby resolve to

halve the par value of the 14,919,921 shares representing

the share capital, which shall be reduced from €8 to €4

per share. Par value per share shall be reduced by issuing

two new shares with a par value of €4 each, earning divi-

dends as from January 1, 2003, in exchange for each exist-

ing share with a par value of €8 each, earning dividends as

from January 1, 2003.

New registered shares issued in exchange for existing reg-

istered shares that met the requirements set forth in

Article 28 of the bylaws shall continue to be granted a dou-

ble voting right, as provided for in said article.

The shareholders grant full authority to the Executive Board

to accomplish all formalities and take all measures neces-

sary to complete this transaction, including, in particular, to

set the date on which the existing shares with a par value

of €8 shall be exchanged for new shares with a par value

of €4.

Accordingly, the shareholders resolve to amend Article 6

“Share capital” of the bylaws, which shall henceforth read

as follows:

ARTICLE 6 – SHARE CAPITAL
The share capital is €119,359,368, divided into

29,839,842 fully paid-up shares with a par value of €4.
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to trade in its own shares as provided for by law for the

purpose of:

- buying and selling shares on the basis of prevailing mar-

ket conditions;

- Stabilizing the market price of its shares by buying and

selling on the stock market (these transactions would be

made to counter adverse price trends);

- Implementing a policy aimed at maximizing earnings per

share;

- Making shares of stock available to employees and direc-

tors and officers of the Company and Group as provided

for by law (stock options, employee bonuses, stock selling

programs reserved for employees);

- Using them as tender in acquisitions;

- Remitting shares during the exercise of rights attached to

securities with a claim to shares of the Company at matu-

rity, through conversion, exchange or redemption, upon

presentation of a warrant, whether at any time, on a deter-

mined date or during defined periods;

- Reducing equity capital through the cancellation of some

or all of these shares.

The acquisition, sale or transfer of these shares of stock

may be completed at any time (including during the period

of public offering) and by all appropriate means, either

through public stock market transactions or private con-

tracts, including acquisition or sale of stock in blocks (with

no limit to the number of shares that are repurchased by

this means), the use of options or other financial futures

traded in public or private markets, or the issuance of

securities with a claim to shares of the Company at matu-

rity through conversion, exchange or redemption, upon

presentation of a warrant, or by any other means.

The shareholders hereby resolve to set the par value at 

€8, the maximum purchase price per share at €180 and

the minimum selling price per share at €99. The share-

holders further resolve to limit the total number of shares

that may be acquired to 10 percent of the Company’s 

equity capital (1,491,992 shares for a maximum amount

of €268,558,560).
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7th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to increase the share cap-

ital through capitalization of reserves and the free allotment

of shares to shareholders.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to extraordinary meetings of share-

holders, having read the Executive Board report and the

Supervisory Board report, and subject to the shareholders’

approval of the sixth resolution hereinabove, hereby resolve

to increase the share capital from the current

€119,359,368, divided into 29,839,842 shares with a par

value of €4 each (provided that the par value per share is

reduced, as set forth in the sixth resolution hereinabove), to

€179,039,052. Equity capital shall be increased through

the capitalization of €59,679,684 of reserves to be taken

from other reserves. A total of €221,309,050.11 was

recorded as a liability under other reserves for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 2002.

This capital increase shall be accompanied by the creation

of 14,919,921 new fully paid-in shares with a par value of

€4 each, earning dividends as from January 1, 2003.

These shares shall be freely allotted to the Company’s

existing shareholders, whether legal entities or individuals,

on the date of the free distribution of shares, at the rate of

one new share for every two existing shares with a par

value of €4 each.

The new shares freely allotted on the basis of existing

shares granting a double voting right, as set forth in

Article 28 of the bylaws, shall also grant the right to a dou-

ble vote as provided for in the said article.

The shares freely allotted in accordance with the present

resolution shall be equivalent in all aspects to the €4 par

value shares issued in accordance with the sixth resolution

hereinabove.

The shareholders grant full authority to the Executive Board

to accomplish all formalities and take all measures neces-

sary to complete this transaction, including, in particular, to

set the date on which the shares shall be freely allotted to

the shareholders, which must immediately follow upon the

completion of the reduction of the par value of shares pro-

vided for in the sixth resolution hereinabove.

Accordingly, the shareholders resolve to amend Article 6

“Share capital” of the bylaws, which shall henceforth read

as follows:

ARTICLE 6 – SHARE CAPITAL
The share capital is €179,039,052, divided into

44,759,763 fully paid-up shares with a par value of €4.

8th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to authorize the Executive

Board, subject to the prior approval of the Supervisory

Board, to increase capital by up to €2,800,000, with pre-

emptive subscription rights waived, for the purpose of issu-

ing shares of stock to employees.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to extraordinary meetings of share-

holders, having read the Executive Board report and the

Special report of the Independent Auditors, in accordance

with the provisions of Articles L. 225-129-VII and L. 225-

138 of the French Company Code and Articles L. 443-1

and following of the French Labor Code, and subject to the

prior approval of the Supervisory Board pursuant to

Article 16-3 of the bylaws:

1. Hereby authorize the Executive Board to increase

Company share capital by a maximum principal amount of

€2,800,000, in one or more offerings, at its sole discretion,

through the issue of shares reserved for employees of the

Company, or of companies which are affiliated to as defined

by law, provided that these employees are enrolled in an

employer-sponsored company savings plan that meets the

requirements of Article L. 443-1-2 of the French Labor Code.

2. Resolve that this authorization shall be valid for a period

of twenty-six months starting from the close of this meet-

ing of the shareholders.

3. Resolve that the issue price of such new shares shall not

exceed the average of the opening price for Company

shares on the stock market during the 20 trading days pre-

ceding the date on which the Executive Board decides on

the opening date of the subscription period, nor shall it fall

below the aforementioned average by more than 20 per-

cent for those enrolled in an employer-sponsored company

savings plan and by more than 30 percent for employees

enrolled in a voluntary employee savings plan.

4. Hereby authorize the Executive Board to use the powers

granted by this resolution to make free share allotments, or

otherwise grant securities that give employees of the

Company a claim to its equity capital, in addition to stock

made available and payable in cash. In this case, the total

consideration resulting from this grant and from the differ-

ence between the subscription price and the aforesaid

average stock market price shall not exceed the consider-

ation to which employees enrolled in a savings plan would

have been entitled if this difference had been 20 percent

(for the employer-sponsored company savings plan) and 

30 percent (for the voluntary employee savings plan).

5. Resolve to suspend the exercise of pre-emptive sub-

scription rights of shareholders to the securities issued

by virtue of this authorization in favor of the beneficiaries

mentioned hereinabove, and to also waive all rights to

shares freely allotted by virtue of this resolution.

6. Resolve that the Executive Board shall be granted all

powers required to give effect to this authorization, includ-

ing the option of delegating such powers to its Chairman

pursuant to applicable law. Within applicable legal limits,

these powers include the right to:

> make up the list of companies whose employees are eli-

gible to acquire shares;

> decide whether or not eligible employees will acquire

shares directly or via a mutual fund;

> determine the principal amounts of equity issues made by

virtue of this agreement; issue prices; opening and closing

dates of subscription periods; and the terms and conditions

of subscription, payment, delivery and dividend entitlement;



9th resolution

The purpose of this resolution is to amend certain clauses

of the bylaws to strike minor errors or specify practical

details.

The shareholders, having fulfilled the quorum and majority

requirements pertaining to extraordinary meetings of share-

holders, and having read the Executive Board report, here-

by resolve:

> to amend certain clauses of the bylaws to strike minor

errors or specify practical details;

> to  amend the ar t ic les  o f  the Company by laws

accordingly;

> to approve the new wording that follows, which cancels

and replaces prior wording.

ARTICLE 1 – LEGAL FORM OF THE COMPANY
Line 4, Article 1 shall henceforth read as follows:

It is governed by legislation and regulations that apply to cor-

porations (sociétés anonymes), particularly Articles L. 225-57

to L. 225-93 of the French Company Code, and by these

bylaws.

ARTICLE 12 – SHARE OWNERSHIP 
OF MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
Line 1, Article 12 shall henceforth read as follows:

“Barring exceptions to the rule specified in the French

Company Code, members of the Supervisory Board must

own at least 60 shares of stock in the Company throughout

their term of office.”

ARTICLE 16 – POWERS 
OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
Paragraph 1 is unchanged, with the exception of

points four and five, which are amended to read as

follows:

- verifies the corporate financial statements and, if appli-

cable, the consolidated financial statements drawn up

and presented by the Executive Board within three months

of the end of the fiscal year, accompanied by a written

report on the Company’s state of affairs and its business

during the past fiscal year;

- presents a report on the Executive Board report and on

the annual f inancial  statements to the shareholders

assembled in an annual meeting to approve the corporate

f inancial statements and, if applicable, the conso-

lidated financial statements.

ARTICLE 21 – POWERS OF THE EXECUTIVE
BOARD
The second point of Line 4, Article 21 is amended to

read as follows:

- within three months of the end of the fiscal year, presents

the annual financial statements and, if applicable, the

consolidated financial statements to the Supervisory

Board, for verification.

ARTICLE 30 – FISCAL YEAR – 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Line 2, Article 30 shall henceforth read as follows:

The Executive Board draws up, at the end of each fiscal

year, the inventory, the annual financial statements, and, if

applicable, the consolidated financial statements, and

submits them to the Supervisory Board for verification. The

Board drafts a report in line with legal rules and regulations

in force.

10th resolution

The shareholders hereby grant full authority to the bearer of

an original, an excerpt or copy of these minutes for the pur-

pose of complying with all formal publication, filing and

other requirements as the case may be.
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> in  the event  of  f ree a l lotment of  shares or  other

securities with a claim to the Company’s equity capital,

determine the number of shares to be issued or freely

allotted; the number to which each beneficiary is entitled;

and the dates, times, terms and conditions of issue;

> duly note the number of new shares issued by virtue of

this authorization and the new total equity capital, and

amend the bylaws accordingly;

> where applicable, use additional paid-in capital from

capital increases to pay any fees incurred in respect of

these transactions and bring the legal reserve to the

required one-tenth of the new total equity capital;

> make the adjustments required to accurately reflect the

impact of these operations on the Company’s equity

capital situation, including but not limited to the par value

of its shares, the capitalization of its reserves, the free

allotment of shares or grouping of shares, the distribution

of reserves or any other assets, and the amortization of

equity capital, and to determine the means by which the

r ights  o f  ho lders  o f  secur i t ies  w i th  a  c la im to  the

Company ’s equ i ty  cap i ta l  w i l l  be protected and

maintained;

> more genera l l y,  take a l l  measures,  conc lude a l l

agreements and undertake al l  formalit ies required in

fur therance o f  i ssues under taken by v i r tue o f  th is

authorization and the exercise of rights attached to them.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2

2

2

2

2

2002 2001 2000
€ € €

Lease income 311 891 271 403 148 623

Income from management and administration 31 541 32 013 19 947

Proceeds from sales of projects under development 1 529 22 597 79 690

Other income from operations 5 961 4 712 7 151

TOTAL INCOME FROM OPERATIONS (note 18) 350 922 330 725 255 411

Cost price of projects under development - 1 276 - 16 895 - 70 575

Other operating expenses (note 19) - 36 212 - 30 119 - 21 709

Taxes and duties - 926 - 1 043 - 3 135

Payroll expense (note 24) - 30 670 - 26 741 - 15 288

Employee profit-sharing and incentives - 2 025 - 1 512 - 1 051

Depreciation and amortization (note 19) - 88 456 - 85 250 - 44 056

Net balance of allowances to and releases of reserves - 2 511 - 3 552 - 3 337

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 188 846 165 613 96 260

Interest income 92 754 81 424 27 829

Interest expense - 191 269 - 178 182 - 50 138

FINANCIAL RESULTS (note 20) - 98 515 - 96 758 - 22 309

PRE-TAX RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 90 331 68 855 73 951

Non-recurring results (note 21) 63 248 62 414 30 137

Goodwill amortization (note 21) - 717 - 3 292 - 3 344

Corporate income tax (note 22) - 54 500 - 45 888 - 37 573

NET EARNINGS OF CONSOLIDATED GROUP 98 362 82 089 63 171

Share in net income of equity method investees 356 312 281

NET EARNINGS OF CONSOLIDATED GROUP 98 718 82 401 63 452

Share attributable to minority interests - 17 619 - 17 106 - 7 316

NET INCOME, GROUP SHARE 81 099 65 296 56 136

Earnings per share

Number of shares (undiluted basis) 14 919 921 13 383 557 12 945 805

Net income, Group share (in € thousands) 81 099 65 296 56 136

Net income, Group share per share 5.4 4.9 4.3

In calculating net earnings per share, net income (Group share) is divided by the average number of shares for the year in question.
Shares issued in 2002 in exchange for convertible bonds began earning dividends as of January 1, 2002.
Consequently, the number of shares (14,919,921) was constant throughout the year.

in € thousands
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2002 2001 2000
Gross Depreciation Net Net Net

and amortization
€ € € € €

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS 3 859 274 299 788 3 559 486 3 181 795 1 793 083

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (notes 2.2 to 2.4) 61 976 9 698 52 278 48 659 1 830

Purchase goodwill (note 2.1) 19 942 7 546 12 396 28 156 19 380

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (notes 2.2 to 2.4) 3 698 335 281 973 3 416 362 3 041 638 1 765 617

Land 1 544 316 1 544 316 1 201 506 599 335

Buildings and improvements 2 148 687 278 790 1 869 897 1 838 105 1 165 484

Other tangible fixed assets 5 332 3 183 2 149 2 027 798

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS (note 2.5) 78 379 571 77 808 62 935 1 258

EQUITY SECURITIES IN EQUITY METHOD INVESTEES (note 2.6) 642 642 411 4 998

CURRENT ASSETS 326 433 2 690 323 743 330 578 508 541

INVENTORY OF OPERATIONS UNDER DEVELOPMENT (note 3) 3 302 3 302 2 380 97 317

TRADE NOTES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (note 4) 19 517 2 690 16 827 19 950 5 529

MISCELLANEOUS RECEIVABLES (note 5) 193 310 193 310 177 864 227 033

MARKETABLE SECURITIES (note 6) 65 802 65 802 80 810 102 745

CASH AND NEAR CASH 44 502 44 502 49 574 75 917

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (note 10) 53 178 53 178 81 193 5 115

ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNTS (note 7) 18 431 18 431 20 782 29 240

TOTAL ASSETS 4 257 316 302 478 3 954 838 3 614 348 2 335 979
in € thousands
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2002 2001 2000
€ € €

LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (note 8) 1 124 141 937 517 864 781

Share capital 119 360 107 053 98 701

Additional paid-in capital 680 107 545 214 511 594

Legal reserves 11 284 10 447 9 868

Consolidated reserves 232 291 209 507 188 482

Earnings for the period 81 099 65 296 56 136

MINORITY INTERESTS (note 9) 357 670 335 850 145 741

DEFERRED TAX CREDITS (note 10) 95 566 89 188 -

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND LOSSES (note 11) 17 241 10 655 7 796

DEBT 2 349 822 2 226 753 1 293 739

Borrowings and financing debt (note 12) 2 103 950 1 944 391 1 029 325

Trade notes and accounts payable (note 13) 34 187 21 302 48 796

Other liabilities (note 14) 211 685 261 060 215 618

ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNTS (note 15) 10 398 14 386 23 922

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3 954 838 3 614 348 2 335 979 
in € thousands



76

> CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2002 2001 2000
€ € €

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Net income of consolidated companies 98 718 82 089 63 171

Elimination of expenses and income with no material impact on cash flow or unrelated to operations

- Amortization and depreciation 101 085 94 759 54 271

- Capital gains and losses on sales of assets, net of taxes and deferred taxes - 55 948 - 63 411 - 30 268

Cash flow of consolidated companies 143 855 113 437 87 174

Change in working capital requirements - 13 185 146 835 - 30 296

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 130 670 260 272 56 877

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of fixed assets and impact of changes in the scope of consolidation - 625 299 - 1 384 038 - 544 019

Sales of fixed assets 182 359 144 598 96 434

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES - 442 940 - 1 239 440 - 447 585

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company - 40 858 - 35 178 - 31 787

Dividends paid to minority interests of consolidated companies - 17 083 - 14 523 - 1 186

Change in the net financial condition 147 200 42 551 287

New borrowings and financing debt 338 572 1 161 574 340 583

Repayment of borrowings and financing debt - 187 646 - 224 608 - 4 900

Impact of changes in the scope of consolidation 23 375 177 611 71 534

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 263 560 1 107 427 374 531

CHANGE IN CASH FLOW - 48 710 128 259 - 16 176

Cash flow at the start of the period 95 077 - 33 182 - 17 007

Cash flow at the end of the period 46 367 95 077 - 33 182

in € thousands
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME BY BUSINESS AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2
in € thousands

Offices Shopping centers

Ownership Ownership Total 
and management activities Development activities and management activities Shopping centers

2002 2001 % 2002 2001 % 2002 2001 % 2002 2001 %

Lease income 81 230 87 056 - 6.7% 3 333 2 450 - 227 328 181 897 25.0% 230 661 184 347 25.1%

Income from management and administration 1 139 2 005 - 43.2% 1 - 30 401 30 008 1.3% 30 402 30 008 1.3%

Proceeds of sales of projects under development - - - 654 22 590 - 875 7 - 1 529 22 597 - 93.2%

Other income from operations 190 185 2.7% 10 22 - 5 761 4 514 27.6% 5 771 4 536 27.2%

TOTAL INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 82 559 89 246 - 7.5% 3 998 25 062 - 264 365 216 426 22.2% 268 363 241 488 11,1%

Cost price of projects under development - - - - 617 - 16 895 - - 659 - - 1 276 - 16 895 - 92.4%

Other operating expenses - 6 766 - 7 791 - 13.2% - 1 452 - 1 418 - - 27 994 - 20 919 33.8% - 29 446 - 22 337 31.8%

Taxes and duties - 185 - 347 - 46.7% - 12 - 2 - - 729 - 694 5.0% - 741 - 696 6.5%

Payroll expense - 3 088 - 2 647 16.7% - 23 - 27 - - 27 559 - 24 066 14.5% - 27 582 - 24 093 14.5%

Employee profit-sharing and expenses - 222 - 325 - 31.7% - 1 - - - 1 802 - 1 187 51.8% - 1 803 - 1 187 51.9%

Depreciation and amortization - 21 381 - 23 871 - 10.4% - 852 - 748 - - 66 223 - 60 631 9.2% - 67 075 - 61 379 9.3%

Net balance of allowances to and releases of reserves 2 860 - 530 - 457 - 1 043 - - 5 828 - 1 979 - - 5 371 - 3 022 77.7%

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 53 777 53 735 0.1% 1 498 4 929 - 133 571 106 950 24.9% 135 069 111 879 20.7%

* Ségécé and its subsidiaries are included under the shopping center ownership column.

* Information relative to Klégestion is distributed based on its actual activities in Office and the Management fees and shared expenses columns.

* The Management fees and shared expenses segments, which comprise expenses from Klégestion, Klépierre Conseil and Klépierre SA 
are itemized in proportion to the lease income for the period earned in the Office and Shopping center columns.
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Klépierre is a real-estate asset management company that

specializes in commercial property. Its principal business is

owning, leasing, managing and developing shopping cen-

ters in Europe, and managing and leasing offices in Paris

and the Greater Paris Area.

Klépierre’s shares are listed on the Service à Règlement

Différé of the Paris Bourse.

1. Principles and methods 
of consolidation

1.1 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Since January 1, 2000, the Klépierre group’s consolidated

financial statements are prepared in compliance with the

provisions of CRC regulation no.99-02.

1.2 BASIS AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION
Companies in which Klépierre exercises direct or indirect

controlling influence, as well as those in which it exercises

significant influence, are all fully consolidated.

All exclusively controlled companies are fully consolidated,

regardless of their business purpose or legal form.

Portfolio management firms are also fully consolidated.

Exclusive control is presumed when Klépierre directly or

indirectly owns 40% of the voting rights and when no other

shareholder owns more than 40% of such rights.

Companies in which Klépierre and other shareholders have

agreed to exercise joint controlling influence are propor-

tionately consolidated.

1.3 FISCAL YEAR REPORTING DATE
The fiscal year cut-off date for all of Klépierre’s consolidated

subsidiaries was December 31, 2002.

2. Significant accounting 
and valuation policies

2.1 SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND REGULATIONS
With effect from January 1, 2002, Klépierre has adopted

Regulation no.2000-06 of the French Accounting Regu-

lations Committee (the Comité de Réglementation

Comptable – CRC) pertaining to accounting for liabilities. In

accordance with the recommendation issued by the French

National Accounting Board (the Conseil National de la

Comptabilité) on January 15, 2003, Klépierre did not provi-

sion major repairs in its financial statements for the year

ended December 31, 2002.

2.2 TANGIBLE ASSETS
Acquired before January 1, 1999
These long-term tangible assets, mostly acquired through

business contributions and mergers in fiscal year 1998,

were carried at their revalued value in the consolidated

financial statements for the year ended December 31,

1998.

This revaluation initially generated pre-tax goodwill of

€147 million, of which €93 million was attributable to

goodwill that was recorded when the minority interests in

the companies carrying the revalued properties were

acquired. Hence, the net impact of the 1998 revaluation

was €55 million.

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, residual addi-

tional goodwill due to the revaluation of assets was

€133.9 million, compared with €130.6 million at the 2001

year-end reporting date. Changes in the total amount

reflect the revalued capital gains or losses on land and

buildings sold since 1998.

1.4 RECIPROCAL ACCOUNTS 
AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Reciprocal accounts and gains from inter-company trans-

actions are eliminated. However, management fee income

earned from development business is not eliminated in

cases where the purchasing company has included this

income in the cost price of long-term assets or inventory.

Interest that is payable by development companies and

recorded as inventory in their accounts is not eliminated.

1.5 PURCHASE GOODWILL
The difference between the acquisition price and the

share in net assets of newly acquired companies is ana-

lyzed and allocated to the carrying values of various line

items of the consolidated entity’s long-term assets. For

each type of asset, the corresponding valuation method 

is used.

For acquired companies that own real-estate complexes,

all related differences are allocated to land and buildings.

Any remaining differences are recorded as goodwill.

Goodwill is subject to amortization over 15 years.

Goodwill calculated on the basis of valuation variances

and recorded to offset a deferred tax liability was reclas-

sified and allocated to tangible assets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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These assets are subject to amortization over periods

defined by the appraisers when the revaluation was con-

ducted.

Acquired after January 1, 1999
Long-term tangible assets acquired after January 1, 1999,

as well as extensions and renovations, are recorded at their

acquisition cost and amortized over periods ranging from

25 to 40 years.

2.3 INVENTORY OF PROJECTS 
UNDER DEVELOPMENT
These inventories reflect the accrued cost of projects under

development at the financial statement reporting date.

This cost includes the purchase price and related costs of

acquiring land, as well as construction costs and fees. It

does not, however, include fees incurred to initially lease up

rental premises. Such fees are expensed over the first three

years of the corresponding leases (see paragraph 2.8).

Items comprising this inventory may be sold to third parties

prior to completion of the projects under development. In

such cases, related selling costs are – net of advances

received – recorded under miscellaneous debtors, offset 

by an entry in a prepaid income account. Margins are

recognized as income only when the project is delivered.

2.4 START-UP AND CONTRIBUTION COSTS
The start-up and contribution costs borne by subsidiaries

are recorded in the consolidated financial statements as

expenses for the current year.

Costs incurred by Klépierre in connection with mergers and

business combinations are charged against additional

paid-in capital.

2.5 ACQUISITION COSTS: 
SECURITIES AND PROPERTY
Acquisition costs relative to securities and property pur-

chased are recorded as assets. Security acquisition costs

are spread over five years. The period over which property

acquisition costs are spread is the same as the amortiza-

tion period for the related asset.

2.6 BOND ISSUE FEES
Bond issue fees are recorded as expenses to be amortized

on a prorated basis over the scheduled maturity of the

bond.

2.7 CONVERTIBLE BOND
The convertible bond issued by Klépierre in

November 1998 was converted into new shares earning

dividends as from January 1, 2002.

At the 2000 and 2001 year-end reporting dates, the con-

vertible bond was recorded as a liability and carried at its

redemption value. The issue premium was carried as an

asset and amortized over the scheduled maturity of the

bond (recorded under financial results).

2.8 ENTRY FEES AND INDEMNITIES
Entry fees received are considered as additional lease

income and recorded as prepaid income, spread over the

term of the related lease.

Eviction indemnities paid to tenants are generally expensed

in the year they are incurred. However, in cases where they

are material and allow for the renegotiation of related leases

under more favorable terms, they are recorded as deferred

expenses and amortized over the term of the new lease.

Termination indemnities collected from tenants are spread

out so as to offset the corresponding loss of rent for the

remaining period of the broken lease. However, if the build-

ing is sold, such amounts are immediately recognized as

income.

2.9 SALES FEES
Sales and lease-up fees relating to the opening of a new

shopping center or the extension of an existing one are

recorded as expenses to amortize over three years on a

prorated basis, as of the date on which the shopping cen-

ter or extension opens for business.

Fees earned in connection with changes in tenant or rene-

gotiations of leases are recorded as expenses to amortize

on a prorated basis over the first firm period of the lease as

of the date on which the lease goes into effect. The period

of amortization may not exceed three years.

2.10 CORPORATE INCOME TAX
Subsidiary corporate income tax
Consolidated subsidiaries calculate their corporate income

tax due assuming that they are not members of a tax con-

solidation group.

Tax consolidation
Three tax consolidation agreements have been signed to

date:

> in 1995 between Klépierre and subsidiaries in which its

ownership was 95% or more;

> in 1996 between Klécentres and subsidiaries in which

its ownership was 95% or more;

> in 1999 between Ségécé and its subsidiary Ségécé

Loisirs et Transactions.

Related tax savings and tax expense are recorded in sus-

pense accounts at subsidiary level and then transferred to

the consolidated statements of income. 
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Deferred taxes
Observed differences between the values used in consoli-

dation and the taxable values of assets and liabilities, as

well as differences resulting from timing differences and

losses carried forward, are recorded as deferred tax assets

or liabilities using the accrual method.

Deferred tax assets of subsidiaries that do not belong to a

tax group are also recognized when earnings forecasts

available at the balance sheet closing date indicate that

recovery is likely.

Deferred taxes are calculated using local rates in force as

of the balance sheet closing date. The rates applied are as

follows: 35.43% in France, 35% in Spain and 35% in Italy.

Deferred tax liabilities for real-estate holdings (office

properties and shopping centers) are calculated based on

the differences between the values as obtained for tax 

purposes and the values used in consolidation. Klépierre

applies the tax rate applicable to the sale of buildings,

which is the most probable hypothesis concerning assets

sales.

Taxes are not calculated for the company IGC, since it is

probable that equity securities, not real-estate assets, will

be sold. No taxable gain is reported for the sale of equity

securities.

2.11 RISK MANAGEMENT
As the holding company of the group of companies,

Klépierre centralizes the management of Group financing

needs and interest and exchange rate exposures. Under

the terms of this financing policy, Klépierre makes available

the financial resources needed to fund Group activity and

sets up the related hedging programs.

Gains and losses related to interest or exchange rate

swaps are prorated over the period and reflected in the

income statement.

Unrealized gains and losses resulting from the difference

between the estimated fair market value of such contracts

at year-end and their nominal value are not recorded.

3. Significant events in 2002 
and the previous two years

2000
In July 2000, Klépierre signed a memorandum 
of agreement with Carrefour to acquire 
approximately 160 shopping malls, either 
existing or under development, for an estimated
total investment of €1.7 billion.
The implementation phase of this transaction began in

December of 2000 with the acquisition of 47 shopping cen-

ters in Spain.

Shopping center securities contributed 
and a 5% equity interest in Klécentres sold
In December of 2000, CNP Assurances and Ecureuil Vie

contributed to Klécentres their respective equity interests in

the companies that owned shopping centers in Bègles

(25%) and in Brescia (50%). As a result, Klécentres became

the full owner of each of the aforementioned companies. In

consideration for this contribution, Klépierre divested of a

5% stake in Klécentres, reducing its ownership interest

from 87.5% to 82.5%.

2001
Carrefour shopping mall acquisitions pursued
70 shopping centers in France, 3 shopping malls in Spain

and one in Greece were acquired in 2001 pursuant to the

original Carrefour agreement, bringing the total number of

acquisitions to 121 out of a planned total of 160.

One of the highlights of 2001 was the launch in Spain of the

second phase of the memorandum of agreement involving

new projects. Klépierre thus acquired two additional new

shopping malls, which opened for business in 2001 and
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2002, and acquired two development projects in Alicante

and Tenerife on a future-as-is basis (i.e. before completion

based on drafted plans). A seller’s promise on a project

located in Oviedo was also signed in 2001. It is carried as

an off-balance sheet commitment of €70.4 million.

As o f December 31 , 2001, K lép ie r re had inves ted

€939.4 million to acquire shopping malls in France and

€543.8 million to acquire shopping malls located abroad.

Other operations
> In February of 2001, Klépierre acquired full ownership of

Arcol, which owns the Danubia shopping center in

Bratislava.

> In July of 2001, Klépierre acquired an additional 51%

equity interest in Cienneo, the owner of the Metropoli

shopping center in Novate, increasing its stake to 85%.

> Three shopping centers developed by the Group

opened for business in 2001: Annecy in March, Boulogne-

Billancourt in June, and Poitiers in October.

2002
Nine shopping malls acquired in France
In February and July of 2002, Klécar France and its sub-

sidiary KC5 integrated 9 shopping malls, including

Montpellier Lattes. All were included in the memorandum of

agreement with Carrefour.

Shopping malls acquired in Italy
> In late June, Klépierre acquired 11 Italian shopping malls

from Carrefour with a net book value of €224 million. To

complete the acquisition, Klépierre set up two entities –

Klécar Participations Italie, a special purpose vehicle based

in France, and Klécar Italia, its wholly owned subsidiary

based in Italy. Klécar Italia acquired the Pescara shopping

center directly, as well as full equity ownership of Alicentro

5, the owner of 10 shopping malls. The company was pre-

viously owned by Carrefour. On October 31, 2002, Klécar

Italia absorbed its subsidiary Alicentro 5.

Klépierre has an 83% equity interest in Klécar Participation

Italie. CNP Assurances and Ecureuil Vie own the remaining

17%.

> On July 18, 2002, Klépierre entered into an agreement

with the Italian group Finiper, under the terms of which

Klépierre may acquire a 40% equity interest in IGC, a

subsidiary of Finiper that owns 9 shopping centers, most

of which are located in northern Italy. The 9 malls were

acquired for a total of €59.4 million.

Shopping malls acquired in Spain
Klécar Europe Sud and its two Spanish subsidiaries com-

pleted the acquisition of 4 shopping malls for a total of

€18.6 million and paid a €52.1 million down payment

toward the acquisition of the Oviedo shopping center.

Klépierre acquires 
its first shopping center in Portugal
In December of 2002, Klépierre Portugal, a wholly owned

subsidiary of Klépierre, acquired the shopping center

located in Loures (a Lisbon suburb) for €37.5 million.

Outstanding bonds are converted to shares
On July 23, 2002, Klépierre elected to exercise its option of

early retirement on all 3% 1998-2006 convertible bonds

outstanding. A total of 745,763 bonds were converted in

2002, resulting in the issue of 1,536,364 new shares and a

€147.2 million increase in shareholder’s equity.

Other transactions
11 office and warehouses properties were sold, generating

a pre-tax capital gain of €67.5 million.
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4. Scope of consolidation

NOTE 1 – SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

Companies Siren No.x Consolidation % ownership % control

at 2002 (1) 2002 2001 2002 2001

SA Klépierre 780 152 914 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

OFFICES 
SAS Baudot Massy 398 963 850 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 192 avenue Charles de Gaulle 392 654 505 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 5 Turin 398 969 014 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Concorde Puteaux 400 098 364 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Daumesnil Reuilly 403 085 574 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Espace Dumont d’Urville 419 057 922 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Espace Kléber 419 057 823 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Issy Desmoulins 398 968 677 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Kléber Levallois 400 098 356 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Klébureaux 410 244 024 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Klépierre Finance 433 613 312 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Leblanc Paris 15 400 110 235 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Louis David 350 288 643 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS LP7 428 782 486 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Oise Cergy 398 965 111 FC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

SAS 43 Grenelle 393 438 742 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 43 Kléber 398 966 812 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 46 Notre Dame des Victoires 392 655 395 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Suffren Paris 15 400 098 448 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 21 Kléber 582 017 273 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 21 La Pérouse 389 519 158 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS 23 avenue Marignan 392 663 670 FC 100.00% 99.99% 99.99% 99.99%

SCI Antin Vendôme 313 781 668 PC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

SCI Boulogne d’Aguesseau 394 798 375 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SCI Chaptal Alun 428 295 521 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SCI Étoile Quinzième 350 455 481 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SCI 8 rue du Sentier 352 503 403 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SCI Les Ellipses 381 199 975 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SCI Levallois Anatole France 394 383 376 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SCI Rueil Hermès 394 798 482 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SCI Villepinte le Tropical 394 797 872 FC 100.00% 98.90% 100.00% 99.90%

SNC Barjac Victor 390 123 057 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC CB Pierre 343 146 932 FC 100.00% 99.00% 99.00% 99.00%

SNC Couperin Foncière 349 263 400 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Godefroy n° 8 Puteaux 377 548 052 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Général Leclerc n° 11 et 11 bis Levallois 381 986 363 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Jardins des Princes 391 237 716 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
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SNC Maille Nord 349 572 891 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC 86 rue Anatole France 380 728 261 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SHOPPING CENTERS - FRANCE
SAS Bègles Arcins 404 357 535 FC 82.50% 82.50% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Brescia 419 297 163 FC 82.50% 82.50% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Center Villepinte 398 961 235 FC 82.47% 82.47% 99.97% 99.97%

SAS Candé 423 012 376 FC 99.99% 99.99% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Cécobil 408 175 966 PC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

SAS Cécoville 409 547 015 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Doumer Caen 398 969 113 FC 82.47% 82.47% 99.96% 99.96%

SAS Espace Cordeliers 421 101 882 PC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

SAS Flandre 423 012 004 FC 99.99% 99.99% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Jaude Clermont 398 960 963 FC 82.49% 82.49% 99.99% 99.99%

SAS Klécar Europe Sud 428 864 268 FC 83.00% 83.00% 83.00% 83.00%

SAS Klécar Participation Italie 442 229 175 FC 83.00% - 83.00% -

SAS Klécentres 400 392 793 FC 82.50% 82.50% 82.50% 82.50%

SAS Klémurs 419 711 833 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Klépierre Transactions 389 217 746 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Le Havre Capelet 410 336 564 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Le Havre Lafayette 420 292 047 PC 50.00% 40.00% 50.00% 40.00%

SAS Le Havre Tourneville 407 799 493 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Le Havre Vauban 420 307 704 PC 50.00% 40.00% 50.00% 40.00%

SAS Melun Saints-Pères 402 668 792 FC 82.48% 82.48% 99.98% 99.98%

SAS Odysseum Place de France 428 788 525 FC 70.00% 70.00% 70.00% 70.00%

SAS Opale 398 968 735 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Poitiers Aliénor 410 245 757 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Saint André Pey Berland 377 563 978 FC 82.50% 82.50% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Secmarne 309 660 504 FC 55.68% 55.68% 61.67% 61.67%

SAS Soaval 419 620 075 PC 35.31% 35.25% 49.92% 49.92%

SAS Socoseine 389 287 871 FC 92.65% 92.65% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Strasbourg La Vigie 399 181 635 FC 82.38% 82.38% 99.85% 99.85%

SAS Tours Nationale 393 439 062 FC 82.50% 82.50% 100.00% 100.00%

SC Cecocord 417 522 485 FC 99.97% 99.97% 100.00% 100.00%

SC Centre Bourse 300 985 462 FC 85.12% 72.75% 100.00% 85.00%

SC Solorec 320 217 391 FC 87.87% 87.87% 100.00% 100.00%

SCI du Bassin Nord 422 733 402 PC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

SCI Sécovalde 405 362 682 FC 40.00% 40.00% 40.00% 40.00%

SNC Soccendre 319 814 075 FC 70.74% 70.74% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Foncière Saint-Germain 378 668 875 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Companies Siren No.x Consolidation % ownership % control

at 2002 (1) 2002 2001 2002 2001
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Companies Siren No.x Consolidation % ownership % control

at 2002 (1) 2002 2001 2002 2001

SNC KC1 433 816 501 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC2 433 816 444 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC3 433 816 725 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC4 433 816 774 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC5 433 817 269 FC 83.00% - 100.00% -

SNC KC6 433 842 549 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC7 433 842 515 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC8 433 842 564 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC9 433 816 246 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC10 433 816 220 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC11 433 894 243 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC KC12 433 894 102 FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Kléber La Pérouse 388 724 361 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SNC Klécar France 433 496 965 FC 83.00% 83.00% 83.00% 83.00%

SERVICE COMPANIES - FRANCE
GIE Klépierre Services 435 194 725 FC 95.60% - 100.00% -

SAS Klégestion 398 058 149 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Klépierre Conseil 398 967 000 FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

SAS Ségécar 434 290 599 FC 35.31% 35.31% 50.00% 50.00%

SAS Ségécé 562 100 214 FC 70.62% 70.62% 74.99% 74.99%

SAS Ségécé Loisirs et Transactions 421 220 252 FC 67.23% 67.20% 95.12% 95.12%

SNC Galae 433 909 165 FC 85.02% - 100.00% -

SHOPPING CENTERS - ABROAD
Arcol Slovakia FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Belarcol Belgium FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Belga Sept SA Belgium FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Capucines BV Netherlands FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Cienneo SRL Italy FC 85.00% 85.00% 85.00% 85.00%

ICD SPA Italy FC 70.12% 70.12% 85.00% 85.00%

FCC Italy PC 40.00% - 40.00% -

Immobiliare Magnolia SRL Italy FC 85.00% 85.00% 85.00% 85.00%

KFM Makédonia Greece FC 83.01% 83.17% 100.00% 100.00%

Klécar Foncier Iberica Spain FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Klécar Foncier España Spain FC 83.00% 83.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Klécar Italia Spa Italy FC 83.00% - 100.00% -

Klefin Italia Italy FC 100.00% - 100.00% -

Novate SRL Italy FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Zobel Investment BV Netherlands FC 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
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ings through the direct acquisition of shopping malls.

10 companies were removed from consolidation:

> 8 are real-estate rental firms that have ceased doing

business since their assets were sold. 6 of the 8 were

removed from consolidation after their assets and liabilities

were transferred to their holding company, a procedure

known in France as TUP (transmission universelle de patri-

moine);

> the assets and liabilities of the real-estate partnerships

Levallois Michelet and Paris Suffren, which co-owned a

property in operation, were also transferred to their holding

company by virtue of the same procedure.

The company Vanne Montrouge changed its corporate

name to Klépierre Conseil, a service company. This wholly

owned Klépierre subsidiary provides administrative man-

agement services to the Group’s property companies.

> Klépierre Services, an inter-company partnership owned

by Ségécé, Klégestion and Klépierre Conseil;

> PSG and FMC, property management companies and

direct subsidiaries of Ségécé. PSG is an Italian company

established in partnership with the Finim Group and

acquired in July 2002. FMC was founded in the Czech

Republic. It handles rental management for the Danubia

shopping center and the Novy Smichov center, of which

formal acquisition is planned for early 2003.

These companies are all fully consolidated, with the excep-

tion of IGC and PSG, which are proportionately consolidat-

ed.

The difference between the acquisition price and the share

in net assets of IGC, which was calculated at €27.5 million,

was recorded under buildings. As for the 10 other new

companies, which were established by the Group, the real-

estate asset management companies acquired their hold-

At year-end 2002, 118 Group companies were consolidated,

compared with 117 as of December 31, 2001.

Eleven companies have been added to the scope of con-

solidation since the last reporting period:

> Klécar Participation Italie, in which Klépierre directly owns

an 83% equity interest, as well as its Italian subsidiary Klécar

Italia, owner of 11 shopping malls;

> Klépierre Portugal SGPS, wholly owned by Klépierre and

its subsidiary Klelou, owner of the Loures shopping center;

> Kléfin Italia Spa, an Italian holding company wholly

owned by Klépierre and its subsidiary IGC, the owner of 

9 shopping malls;

> KC5, a direct subsidiary of Klécar France and owner of

the Montpellier Lattes shopping center;

> Galae, a subsidiary of Klépierre and Ségécé, a multime-

dia specialist in creating and managing Web sites for shop-

ping centers;

Klépierre Portugal SA SGPS Portugal FC 100.00% - 100.00% -

Klelou SA Portugal FC 100.00% - 100.00% -

SERVICE COMPANIES - ABROAD
Centros Shopping Gestion Spain PC 35.31% 35.31% 50.00% 50.00%

Devimo Consult Belgium EM 24.72% 24.72% 35.00% 35.00%

FMC Czech Republic FC 52.96% - 100.00% -

PSG Italy PC 35.31% - 50.00% -

COMPANIES NO LONGER CONSOLIDATED AS OF 12-31-02
SAS Baudin Levallois 400 098 174 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SAS Curial Archereau 662 007 301 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SAS Fontenay La Redoute 410 245 344 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SAS Langevin Herblay 398 962 225 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SAS Sommer Antony 398 965 566 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SAS Varennes Ormes 398 963 538 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SCI Levallois Michelet 393 550 520 NC - 98.90% - 99.90%

SCI Paris Suffren 394 798 649 NC - 98.90% - 99.90%

SNC Liège 25 Paris 8th 343 760 385 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

SNC Université Paris 7th 352 641 468 NC - 100.00% - 100.00%

(1) FC: Fully consolidated • PC: Partially consolidated • EM: Equity method • NC: No longer consolidated as of December 31, 2002.

Companies Siren No.x Consolidation % ownership % control

at 2002 (1) 2002 2001 2002 2001
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5. Additional information relative 
to balance sheet and off-balance
sheet commitments

5.1 CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE SHEET ASSETS
Note 2.1 – Goodwill
Accumulated amortization of goodwill was €19.9 million,

down €15.2 million compared with the €35.2 recorded for

the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease reflects

the reclassification of goodwill that is recorded to offset a

deferred tax liability recognized on valuation variances.

Such goodwill is now carried as tangible assets, given that

the deferred tax liability accounts for differences between

the acquisition price and the share in net assets of newly

acquired companies and therefore must be recorded to

offset buildings.

NOTE 2.1

2

December Increases Changes Allocations December 
2001 in presentation and decreases 2002

Gross goodwill 35 151 1 882 - - 17 091 19 942
• Ségécé 11 334 11 334

• Cienneo 10 076 - 10 076 -

• ICD (Brescia) 3 682 - 2 545 1 137

• Bègles Arcins 3 004 - 3 004 -

• Klécentres 2 312 2 312

• Devimo 2 169 2 169

• Arcol 1 272 5 - 284 993

• PSG 1 002 1 002

• Other goodwill 1 303 875 - 1 182 996

Amortization - 6 996 - 1 127 - 577 - 7 546
• Ségécé - 3 216 - 727 - 3 943

• Cienneo - 291 291 -

• ICD (Brescia) - 161 - 76 85 - 152

• Bègles Arcins - 183 183 -

• Klécentres - 2 312 - 2 312

• Devimo - 290 - 145 - 435

• Arcol - 411 5 - 406

• PSG - 33 - 33

• Other goodwill - 132 - 146 13 - 265

NET GOODWILL 28 155 755 - - 16 514 12396
in € thousands
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in Issy-les-Moulineaux. The full acquisition price of this

building (delivered on December 16, 2002), including the

land for the extension, now totals €69.7 million;

> sale of 11 office properties for a total of €95.9 million

(gross);

> reclassification of the Tenerife mall owned by Klécar

Foncier Espana. At the December 31, 2001 reporting date

and in compliance with local regulations, this mall, which

was acquired on a future-as-is basis in 2001, was carried

as an asset to offset a debt of €86 million (the full price of

the acquisition). At the December 31, 2002 reporting date,

the asset was reclassified to comply with French regula-

tions governing sales before completion. That is, the

acquired portion of the asset was recorded (equal to down

payments made of €30.1 million), while the non-acquired

portion was carried as an off-balance sheet commitment of

€56.0 million.

The reclassification of fixed assets led to an €56.0 million

decrease in other liabilities;

> the acquisition of additional equity interest (15% in the

Marseille Bourse shopping center and 10% in the René

Coty shopping center in Le Havre) led to a €13.2 million

increase in buildings.

Note 2.2 – Gross tangible 
and intangible fixed assets

Gross fixed assets increased by €473.2 million (net), pri-

marily attributable to the following transactions:

> acquisition of 25 shopping malls located abroad for a

total of €360.9 million;

> a down payment of €52.1 million toward the acquisition

of the Oviedo shopping center;

> acquisition of 9 French shopping malls and additional

land for a total of €124.6 million;

> additional €29.7 million recorded for the Camille

Desmoulin office building located at the ZAC Forum Seine

NOTE 2.2

2

December Changes Acquisitions, Decreases Other changes, December
2001 in scope creations (divestitures, line item 2002

of and removal transfers
consolidation contributions from service)

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Building lease 47 612 514 - 167 47 959

Goodwill 78 959 1 037

Software 1 933 64 4 515 676 7 188

Other intangible fixed assets 4 826 460 997 - 491 5 792

Total 54 449 1 483 6 026 - 18 61 976

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Land

Financial leasing 303 303

Lease purchase 1 201 203 183 550 68 841 - 26 954 117 373 1 544 013

Buildings and improvements -

Financial leasing 2 730 2 730

Lease purchase 1 905 047 156 886 106 269 - 64 387 - 98 888 2 004 927

Installations and buildings in progress 119 296 13 541 12 948 - 4 573 - 183 141 029

Furnishings and equipment 4 111 493 1 167 - 498 59 5 332

Total 3 232 691 354 470 189 225 - 96 412 18 361 3 698 334

TOTAL GROSS FIXED ASSETS 3 287 140 355 953 195 251 - 96 412 18 379 3 760 310
in € thousands
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Note 2.3 – Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible fixed assets

Note 2.4 – Tangible and intangible 
fixed assets by business
Analysis of tangible and intangible fixed assets for the

office, shopping center and service divisions:

NOTE 2.3

2

2

2

December Changes in Increases Decreases December
2001 scope of and other 2002

consolidation changes

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Building lease 2 160 1 708 3 868

Software 1 692 6 1 176 2 874

Other intangible fixed assets 1 938 103 1 212 - 297 2 956

Total 5 790 109 4 096 - 297 9 698

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Buildings and improvements 148 003 13 219 74 950 - 8 701 227 471

Installations 40 965 5 091 8 225 - 2 962 51 319

Furnishings and equipment 2 084 277 773 49 3 183

Total 191 052 18 587 83 948 - 11 614 281 973

TOTAL AMORTIZATIONS 196 842 18 696 88 044 - 11 911 291 671

NET FIXED ASSETS 3 090 298 337 257 107 207 - 66 122 3 468 639
Net goodwill (see note 2.1) 28 155 12 396

Financial assets (see note 2.5) 62 935 77 808

Securities in equity method investees (see note 2.6) 411 642

FIXED ASSETS 3 181 795 3 559 486
in € thousands

NOTE 2.4

2

2

2

Intangible Land Buildings Buildings in Furnishings Total
fixed and progress and tangible and

assets improvements and equipment intangible
installations fixed assets

Offices 4 303 583 462 267 46 111 1 741 813 706

Shopping centers 54 867 1 240 733 1 545 390 94 505 769 2 936 264

Services 7 105 - - 413 2 822 10 340

TOTAL GROSS FIXED ASSETS 61 976 1 544 316 2 007 657 141 029 5 332 3 760 310

Offices - - 60 643 25 546 1 106 87 295

Shopping centers 7 032 - 166 828 25 436 443 199 739

Services 2 666 - - 337 1 634 4 637

TOTAL AMORTIZATION 9 698 - 227 471 51 319 3 183 291 671

NET FIXED ASSETS 52 278 1 544 316 1 780 186 89 710 2 149 3 468 639
in € thousands
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Effective January 1, 2002, land and building allocations

that were previously determined on the basis of local tax

and social regulations, have been restated to reflect a new

economic approach that reflects the land/buildings alloca-

tion as determined on the basis of the estimated cost of

rebuilding provided by the appraisers. The restatement,

which pertains to shopping malls located in Spain,

increased the book value of the land on which they stand

by €114.5 million.

The new allocation method had an impact on building

amortization. Consolidated amortization for Spain was

€6.0 million, compared with €10.7 million before the

changes were applied.

Changes in tangible fixed assets:

GROSS VALUES

2

December Changes Acquisitions, Decreases due Other December
2001 in scope creations, and to divestitures changes, 2002

(1) contributions or removal from lines item
service transferts 

Offices 876 420 33 118 - 95 915 84 813 706

Shopping centers 2 405 890 355 953 155 993 18 428 2 936 264

Services 4 830 6 140 - 497 - 133 10 340

GROSS FIXED ASSETS 3 287 140 355 953 195 251 - 96 412 18 379 3 760 310
(1) Including €54,450,000 in gross intangible fixed assets.

in € thousands

AMORTIZATION

2

2

December Changes in Increases Decreases Other December
2001 scope of changes 2002

(1) consolidation

Offices 78 839 21 581 - 14 294 1 169 87 295

Shopping centers 114 855 18 696 64 999 1 189 199 739

Services 3 148 1 464 - 172 197 4 637

AMORTIZATION 196 842 18 696 88 044 - 14 466 2 555 291 671

NET FIXED ASSETS 3 090 298 337 257 107 207 - 81 946 15 824 3 468 639
(1) Including €5,790,000 in amortization of intangible fixed assets.

in € thousands
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Long-term financial assets primarily include advances and

loans to non-consolidated subsidiaries (€22.4 million) and

proportionately consolidated subsidiaries (€48.3 million).

The largest advances were granted to the companies listed

in note 2.5 (A).

Notes 2.5 – Financial assets

NOTE 2.5

2

2

December Additions to the Increases Decreases December
2001 scope of and 2002

consolidation other changes

Equity investment securities (B) 2 032 2 759 - 1 004 1 789

Advances to non-consolidated or 
proportionally consolidated companies (A) 59 078 39 396 - 48 546 49 928

Loans - 3 124 17 388 20 512

Other long-term securities 179 179

Security deposits 1 076 16 2 792 - 39 3 845

Other financial assets 1 043 984 99 2 126

GROSS VALUE 63 408 18 47 055 - 32 102 78 379
Impairment allowances 473 173 - 75 571

NET TOTAL 62 935 18 46 882 - 32 027 77 808
in € thousands

in € thousands
2

December Increases Decreases December
2001 and other 2002

changes

SCI Antin Vendôme 4 200 3 315 - 893 6 622

SCI du Bassin Nord 2 799 263 - 140 2 922

SAS Cécobil 22 340 17 625 - 22 340 17 625

SAS Espace Cordeliers 8 498 - 8 498 - (1)

SAS Le Havre Lafayette 11 337 - 11 337 - (1)

SAS Le Havre Vauban 1 348 - 1 348 - (1)

Other advances 8 556 18 193 - 3 990 22 759 (2)

TOTAL 59 078 39 396 - 48 546 49 928

(1) Advances reclassified as loans.
(2) Total accrued interest on advances, included under other advances and loans in note 2.5 of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001, has been broken down and redistributed to subsidiaries
benefiting from such advances (itemized above) without impact on total advances to non-consolidated subsidiaries.
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in € thousands

NOTE 2.5 (B)

2

Shareholders’ equity Income % Ownership Gross value Net value 
at 12/31/2002 at 12/31/2002 of securities of securities

Principal values 1 309 963
SAS Sovaly 488 - 59 100.00% 572 430

SKF Spa 83 - 50.00% 246 42

SAS Kléfi Participations 130 - 100.00% 130 130

SAS Klécar Europe Est 76 - 1 100.00% 76 76

SAS Nancy Bonsecours - 8 - 40 99.96% 76 76

SAS Cecotoul 76 - 12 95.00% 72 72

SAS Félix Éboué 13 - 95.00% 76 76

SA Foncière de Louvain-la-Neuve 61 - 100.00% 61 61

Other equity investment securities 480 445

TOTAL 1 789 1 408

in € thousands

NOTE 2.6

2

Securities in equity method investees at December 31, 2001 411
Differences due to changes in the scope of consolidation 136

Share of 2002 income of companies accounted for by the equity method 356

Dividends received from equity method investees - 261

Other changes -

SECURITIES IN EQUITY METHOD INVESTEES AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 642

Non-consol idated equity interest securit ies include 

the following:

Note 2.6 – Change in investments 
in equity method investees
The removal of companies no longer in operation from the

scope of consolidation resulted in a €136,000 increase in

securities in equity method investees.

in € thousands

NOTE 3

2

2002 2001 2000

Group share 2 555 2 004 72 073

Share of external partners 747 376 25 244

TOTAL 3 302 2 380 97 317

Note 3 – Inventory of projects 
under development
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, development

inventory primarily included retail space intended for resale.
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Note 4 – Analysis of accounts receivable/accrued liability by business

Note 5 – Miscellaneous receivables
Miscellaneous receivables include corporate income tax

attributable to the Klépierre tax consolidation group. The

Group registered a tax loss at the December 31, 2002

reporting date and therefore generated €14.0 million in

receivables.

VAT includes recoverable VAT on the acquisition of shop-

ping malls in Italy (€4.8 million) and in Spain (€11.1 million)

and projects recently completed (€2.4 million for the Forum

Seine center).

Miscellaneous debtors primarily include the following

receivables:

> a €23.2 million down payment made to acquire an equi-

ty interest in Delcis, owner of the Novy Smichov shopping

center in Prague;

> €71.6 million in receivables relating to real-estate man-

agement activities (calls for funds to owners);

> €26.5 million in accrued interest on interest rate swaps;

> €4.8 million in receivables on the sale of fixed assets

during 2002.

Note 6 – Marketable securities
Marketable securities include 190,503 treasury shares with

an acquisition value of €18.5 million, equal to 1.28% of

total equity issued.

These shares of treasury stock are distributed as follows:

> 100,000 shares to the stock option plan established for

Klépierre group employees, approved by the Executive

Board on June 14, 1999, and of which 70,600 have been

distributed;

> 90,503 shares to be used to stabilize the stock price.

Money market mutual funds account for €42.3 million 

of maketable securities, while treasury bills account for 

€5 million (Spain).

Note 7 - Adjustment account (assets)
Expenses to be amortized include lease-up fees. Fees

related to the acquisition of fixed assets are recorded under

tangible and long-term financial assets.

The convertible bond issue costs were charged against

shareholders’ equity.

NOTE 5

2

2002 2001 2000

Government

Corporate income tax 18 221 485 838

VAT 32 722 54 180 73 056

Miscellaneous debtors 142 367 123 199 125 735

TOTAL 193 310 177 864 199 629

Advances to non-consolidated and proportionally 
consolidated companies were reclassified as long-term 
financial assets totaling 27,404,000 in December 2000.

in € thousands

NOTE 7

2

2002 2001 2000

CBI bond redemption premium - 2 097 3 353

Bond issue premium 2 531 2 989 -

Bond issue costs and fees 4 112 7 898 5 768

Expenses to amortize 10 308 6 924 17 403

Prepaid expenses 1 480 874 -

TOTAL 18 431 20 782 26 524
in € thousands

NOTE 4

2

Offices Shopping Services Total Total
centers 2002 2001

Accounts receivable 1 805 5 635 12 077 19 517 21 631

Accrued liabilities - 354 - 5 - 2 331 - 2 690 - 1 681

TOTAL 1 451 5 630 9 746 16 827 19 950

in € thousands
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5.2 CONSOLIDATED LIABILITIES
Note 8 – Change in group shareholders’ equity
Group shareholders’ equity increased by €147.2 million

following the conversion of 745,763 bonds into 1,536,364

new shares. A total of €1.6 million (net of tax), represent-

ing the remaining issue costs to be amortized, was deduct-

ed from the issue premium.

NOTE 8

2

2

2

Share Additional Consolidated Earnings Other consolidated reserves Total
capital paid-in reserves for shareholders’ 

capital the period equity

CRC Employer Total 
99-02 obligations (other)

December 2000 98 701 521 462 151 135 56 136 39 457 - 2 109 37 348 864 781

Change in share capital 
of consolidating company 8 352 34 199 - 42 551

Sale/acquisition of treasury shares - -

Impact of revaluations - -

Consolidated earnings 
for the period 65 296 - 65 296

Dividends paid 
by consolidating company 20 958 - 56 136 - - 35 178

Change in unrealized forex 
translation gains and losses - -

Changes in accounting methods - -

Change in scope of consolidation 
and % interest - -

Other changes 67 - 67

December 2001 107 053 555 661 172 160 65 296 39 457 - 2 109 37 348 937 517

Change in share capital 
of consolidating company 12 307 134 893 - 147 200

Sale/acquisition of treasury shares - -

Impact of revaluations - -

Consolidated earnings for the period 81 099 - 81 099

Dividends paid by consolidating company 837 23 601 - 65 296 - - 40 858

Change in unrealized forex translation 
gains and losses 136 - 136

Changes in accounting methods - -

Change in scope of consolidation and % interest - 953 - - 953

Other changes - -

DECEMBER 2002 119 360 691 391 194 944 81 099 39 457 - 2 109 37 348 1 124 141
in € thousands
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Note 9 – Change in minority interests Note 10 – Deferred taxes

The change in minority interests resulted from additional

equity provided by minority shareholders to finance the

acquisition of the shopping malls held by Klécar France in

France and the shopping malls owned by Klécar Italia in Italy.

Deferred taxes are broken down as follows:

> tax consolidation groups are shown in terms of their net

credit or debit position;

> offsetting entries are not made in the consolidated bal-

ance sheets for the tax assets or liabilities of French and

NOTE 9

2

2

2

December 2000 145 741
Advances on dividends and dividends 
paid to minority interests - 14 523

Impact of change in scope 
of consolidation on minority interests

- Klécentres 163 618

- Klécar Europe Sud 13 994

- Cienneo 8 040

- Other changes in scope of consolidation 1 531

Impact of regulatory changes -

Other restatements 343

Earnings for the period 17 106

December 2001 335 850

Advances on dividends and dividends 
paid to minority interests - 17 083

Impact of change in scope of 
consolidation on minority interests

- Klécar France 6 681

- Klécar Participation Italie 16 694

- SC Centre Bourse - 2 382

- Other changes in scope of consolidation 115

Impact of regulatory changes

Other restatements 176

Earnings for the period 17 619

DECEMBER 2002 357 670
in € thousands

NOTE 10

2

2

2

2001 Change Other 2002
in result change

Buildings - 89 701 2 558 10 138 - 97 281

Debt - -

Other items 514 1 201 1 715

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES - 89 187 3 759 10 138 95 566

o/w
Klécentres tax consolidation group - 50 239 1 784 - 3 437 - 51 892

Other French companies - 18 509 1 240 893 - 16 376

Other foreign companies - 20 439 735 - 7 594 - 27 298

2001 Change Other 2002
in result change

Buildings 75 045 - 31 153 - 481 43 411

Debt 1 146 - 1 132 14

Other items 5 001 4 753 9 754

TOTAL DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 81 192 - 27 532 - 481 - 53 178

o/w
Klépierre tax consolidation group 15 955 - 26 506 58 814 48 262

Ségécé tax consolidation group 2 035 278 2 313

Other French companies 61 644 46 - 59 295 2 395

Other foreign companies 1 558 - 1 350 208

NET POSITION - 7 995 - 23 773 10 619 - 42 388
in € thousands

foreign companies that are not included in the tax consoli-

dation group.

Deferred tax assets relating to buildings increased by

€28.9 million, of which €19.1 million can be attributed to

two buildings for which deferred tax assets were recog-
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nized in 2002, and €6.0 million are due to property sales.

Other variation includes deferred tax liabilities of €10.1 mil-

lion, of which €4.4 million are deferred taxes calculated on

the basis of the new valuation variances for this fiscal year

(SC Centre Bourse). The balance of €5.7 million corresponds

to tax calculated from previous valuation variances and

recorded to offset tangible assets.

Note 11 – Provisions for contingencies and losses

Other provisions for contingencies and losses mainly pro-

vide for litigation risk (€1.5 million), costs incurred in con-

nection with development projects whose outcome is

uncertain (€1.6 million) and the real-estate risk relative to a

shopping center located abroad (€2.5 million).

Note 12 – Borrowings and financing debt
The increase in borrowings and financing debt is primar-

ily due to the financing of shopping mall acquisitions. At

the December 31, 2002 reporting date, the €2.104 mil-

lion total included the following financing arrangements:

> a €600 million bond issued in July 2001 with 6.125%

gross yield to maturity;

> a syndicated loan, of which €500 million has been

drawn, versus €350 million at December 31, 2001;

NOTE 11

2

2002 2001 2000

Accrued retirement liabilities 7 050 5 922 4 512

Building management expenses 806 1 023 640

Commitments granted to clients 337 800 -

Other provisions for contingencies 
and losses 8 463 2 910 2 644

Net goodwill liabilities (1) 585 - -

TOTAL 17 241 10 655 7 796

(1) Net goodwill liabilities recorded in the adjustment 
account in 2000 and 2001.

in € thousands

> a €225 million bridge loan in lieu of equity issue;

> a €171 million commercial paper issue. At December

31, 2001, €170 million of commercial paper had been

issued;

> a €110 million bridge loan pending a mortgage loan to

be contracted by Klécar Italia by March 31, 2003.

NOTE 12

2

2002 2001 2000

Convertible bond - 157 561 201 533
- Principal amount 153 080 195 801

- Accrued interest 4 481 5 732

Other bonds and notes 617 620 617 619 -
- Principal amounts 600 000 600 000 -

- Accrued interest 17 620 17 619 -

Bank borrowings 1 139 591 857 738 666 306
- Principal amounts 923 409 637 185 453 445

- Commercial paper 171 000 170 000 -

- Accrued interest 1 467 15 246 1 017

- Bank overdrafts 43 715 35 307 211 844

Miscellaneous borrowings and financing debt 346 739 311 473 264 034
- Equity loans 153 298 167 596 161 487

- Other borrowings 44 609 - -

- Advances from Group and partners (2) 148 832 143 877 102 547

TOTAL 2 103 950 1 944 391 1 131 873

(2) Advances from Group and partners reclassified in December 2000. Previously recorded as Other debt. in € thousands
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Note 14 – Other liabilities
Other liabilities decreased by €49.4 million, primarily due to

the reclassification off-balance sheet of the fixed asset debt

related to the acquisition of the Tenerife shopping center on

a future-as-is basis.

Client payables consist of calls for funds made to tenants

and security deposits, which were offset by calls for funds

made to property owners (included under other liabilities).

In light of growth in the Group’s shopping-center business,

deposits and guarantees received increased from €45 mil-

lion at December 31, 2001, to €57 million at the December

31, 2002 reporting date.

Other liabilities include €20.2 million in accrued interest on

interest rate swaps.

ANALYSIS OF FINANCING DEBT BY DUE DATE

2

Total Less 1-5 years More than
than 1 year 5 years

Other bonds and notes 617 620 17 620 - 600 000
- Principal amount 600 000 600 000

- Accrued interest 17 620 17 620 

Bank borrowings 1 139 591 335 058 545 710 258 823
- Principal amounts 923 409 118 876 545 710 258 823

- Commercial paper 171 000 171 000 

- Accrued interest 1 467 1 467 

- Bank overdrafts 43 715 43 715 

Miscellaneous borrowings and financing debt 346 739 153 298 - 193 441
- Equity loans 153 298 153 298 

- Other borrowings 44 609 44 609

- Advances from Group and partners 148 832 148 832

TOTAL 2 103 950 505 976 545 710 1 052 264
in € thousands NOTE 14

2

2002 2001 2000

Payroll and sub-accounts 6 966 7 673 3 836

Social security and 
other organizations 2 371 1 037 110

Government

- Corporate income tax 5 458 20 295 32 184

- VAT 4 722 14 637 7 653

Other taxes and duties 1 223 1 184 -

Creditor clients 116 136 85 747 19 480

Payables to fixed asset suppliers 41 027 88 784 10 613

Other liabilities 33 782 41 703 39 194

TOTAL 211 685 261 060 113 070

Reclassified advances from Group and partners 
were reclassified as borrowings and other financial 
debt totaling €102,547,000 at December 31, 2000.

in € thousands

The principal financial limitations that apply to Klépierre’s

debt financing are summarized below:

> Standard and Poor’s rating of BBB+ and stable outlook

is subject to compliance with the following ratios:

- EBITDA/Net interest expense: between 2.5 and 3.0

- Net corporate debt/Fair market value of holdings 

(Loan to Value): < or = 50%

- Net current cash flow/Net corporate debt: > or = 6%.

> Bond issue:

- early redemption in the event that one-third of the voting

rights change hands, resulting in a downgrade of Standard

and Poor’s rating to below BBB-;

- ceiling on assets pledged to third parties, set at 50% of

revalued net assets.

> Syndicated loan (€900 million):

- EBITDA/Interest expense > or = 2.5

- Net corporate debt/Consolidated shareholders’ equity

(Gearing): < or = 150%

- Net corporate debt (excluding the bridge loan in lieu 

of equity issue)/Fair market value of holdings 

(Loan to Value): < or = 52%.

> Bridge loan for Klécar Italia: compliance with the same

ratios set by Standard and Poor’s.

Note 13 – Trade notes and accounts payable
Trade notes and accounts payable totaled €34.1 million,

versus €21.3 million at December 31, 2001.
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Note 15 – Adjustment accounts (liabilities)
Prepaid income primarily consists of a cash payment on

swaps of €4 million.

Accrued liabilities and other prepaid income consist of

entry fees spread over the terms of the corresponding leas-

es.

NOTE 15

2

2002 2001 2000

Prepaid income 4 901 9 217 14 063

Accrued liabilities and 
other prepaid income 5 497 5 169 9 859

TOTAL 10 398 14 386 23 922
in € thousands

5.3 OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS
Note 16 – Reciprocal obligations on interest-rate
hedging instruments
Klépierre’s portfolio of interest rate hedging instruments at

the December 31, 2002 reporting date is detailed below.

This portfolio was set up to cover the interest-rate risk on a

portion of the current and future corporate debt based on

estimates of Klépierre’s global needs and the due dates of

various financing arrangements.

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, the portfolio’s

net unrealized losses totaled €63.8 million. As a reminder,

unrealized gains and losses are not provisioned, since the

portfolio was set up to cover the Klépierre group’s interest

rate risk.

NOTE 16

2

2

2002 2001 2000

Binding transactions (in € thousands)

Fixed rate payer Klépierre - Variable rate payer BNP Paribas 1 858 * 944 944

Fixed rate payer BNP Paribas - Variable rate payer Klépierre 600 752 152

* o/w €550 million activated at the beginning of January 2003 and €90 million at the beginning of February 2003.

2002

Income Expenses

Impact on results (reference capital of 1 to 10 years) (in € millions)

Fixed rate payer Klépierre - Variable rate payer BNP Paribas 44 62

Fixed rate payer BNP Paribas - Variable rate payer Klépierre 36 27

Note 17 – Commitments granted and received
> Shareholders’ agreement involving Klécentres, Klécar

France and Klécar Europe Sud.

This agreement provides for the usual protections of minor-

ity interests: pre-emptive rights, joint exit rights and deci-

sion processes to be adhered to in the event of investment

or divestiture.

The agreement also provides for the following protections:

- at the option of minority interests: exits from Klécar

France and Klécar Europe Sud in the tenth and fifteenth

years, with a seller’s credit and partial exit option in respect

of Klécentres as of 2003;

- at the option of Klépierre: joint mandatory exit of minority

interests at the demand of Klépierre.
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> Options relating to IGC shares

These options, defined in September 2002 with Finiper,

IGC’s majority shareholder, provide for the following:

- for Klépierre: the right to acquire, during the third year fol-

lowing acquisition, an additional 10% stake in IGC, thereby

raising its equity interest to 50%;

- for Finiper: the right to sell a 10% stake in IGC to Klépierre

during the first two years.

> Pledge of assets

As a rule, the Group finances its acquisitions through equi-

ty or through debt contracted by the holding company,

without pledging these assets. A portion of this financing

debt is subject to certain limitations, as described in Note 12.

Purchase commitments include the following: €347 million

for buildings, of which €287 million in connection with 

the Carrefour agreement; €50 million representing the

remaining amounts payable on the Oviedo mall acquisition

(€30 million) and the Créteil Soleil multiplex movie theater

(€20 million); €55 million for the remaining amount payable

on the acquisition of equity interest in Dolois; and additional

price payments (€10 million).

NOTE 17 – COMMITMENTS GRANTED AND RECEIVED

2

2

2002 2001

Commitments granted
- Guarantees on loans granted to employees 4 683 NC

- Redemption of premiums on the convertible bond - 7 255

- Surety, guarantees and mortgages 229 338 166 722

- Purchase commitments 412 661 513 087

TOTAL 646 682 687 064

Commitments received
- Bank guarantees received in connection with real-estate management and transactions 89 206 52 473

- Security deposits received from tenants 18 332 NC

- Commitments to finance received from credit institutions 439 134 573 851

- Guarantees received to cover amounts paid - -

TOTAL 546 672 626 324

in € thousands

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

2

Start End Amount Total corresponding 
date date of assets balance %

pledged sheet item

On intangible fixed assets nil 52 278 
On tangible fixed assets 92 913 3 416 362 2.7%
Cienneo Apr. 16, 1999 Dec. 15, 2013 27 089 

Immobiliare Magnolia Sept. 08, 1999 July 15, 2011 
Oct. 18, 2002 July 15, 2011 10 451

ICD June 30, 1996 May 11, 2011 24 931 

Klécar Italia Nov. 30, 1995 Dec. 31, 2005 27 457 

Oct. 28, 1994 Mar. 31, 2003 547 
IGC Apr. 03, 1997 Dec. 31, 2006 822 

Oct. 23, 1996 June 30, 2007 1 616 

On long-term financial assets nil 77 808 

TOTAL BALANCE SHEET ITEM 92 913 3 955 672 2.3%
in € thousands
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6 – NOTES RELATIVE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Note 18 – Operating income
Group revenues include the following:

> lease income, which includes building and shopping cen-

ter lease income, and related or equivalent income, such as

parking rental fees and eviction indemnities;

> management and administrative fees earned by the ser-

vice companies,

> proceeds from the sales of projects under development.

Other income from operations includes work re-invoiced to

tenants, entry fees received and miscellaneous income.

At December 31, 2002, revenues totaled €345.0 million,

up 5.8% compared with revenues at December 31, 2001.

Lease income was €311.9 million, of which €230.7 million

from shopping centers and €81.2 million from office prop-

erties. Versus the corresponding period in 2001, shopping

center rents increased by 25.2%. On a constant structural

basis, the increase with respect to the corresponding peri-

od in 2001 was 7.2% for shopping centers and 4.2% for

office properties.

NOTE 18 – ANALYSIS OF REVENUE

2

Geographic Lease Management Development
region income income sales

France 254 085 26 474 797
Southern Europe 56 617 4 594 -

- Greece 3 544 

- Italy 22 927 1 357 

- Spain 30 146 3 237 

Central Europe 1 189 473 -

TOTAL 311 891 31 541 797
in € thousands

Depreciation and amortization expense:

NOTE 19 – OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2

2002 2001 2000 (1)

Building expenses 16752 13163 -
- Offices 5 572 5 055 

- Shopping 
centers 11180 8108 

General expenses 19460 16956 -
- Offices 1194 - 406 

- Shopping 
centers 18266 17362 

TOTAL 36 212 30 119 -

(1) Breakdown by business segment 
not available for 2000.

in € thousands

NOTE 19 – DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE

2

2002 2001 2000

Intangible fixed assets 4 149 2 984 206
Real estate leasing 109 103 126
Tangible fixed assets 80 038 78 684 43 562

- Offices 20 758 23 784 (1) 25 132

- Shopping 
centers 59 280 54 900 18 430

Acquisition costs 4 160 3 625 162

TOTAL 88 456 85 396 44 056

(1) including €146,000 relative to non-recurring 
gains in December 2001.

in € thousands

All businesses combined, at the December 31, 2002

reporting date, Klépierre earned 18.3% of its revenues

abroad. Shopping center rents from abroad accounted for

18.5% of total shopping center lease income.

Notes 19 – Other operating expenses 
and depreciation and amortization expense
Building expenses are shown net of re-invoicing to tenants

and include only the outstanding balances for which the

owner is liable as well as expenses on vacant premises.

Other operating expenses include the general expenses of

management companies and amortization of capitalized

expenses, with the exception of fixed asset acquisition

costs, which are recorded as allowances for building amor-

tization.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization in the Office

division is due to property sales completed in 2001. At the

December 31, 2001 reporting date, the depreciation

allowance on these properties was €2.5 million.

Depreciation and amortization in the Shopping center divi-

sion increased by 8% versus December 31, 2001. Building

amortization for the Spanish shopping malls was €6 million

after application of the changes to land/buildings alloca-

tions, compared with €10.7 million as calculated prior to

these changes. The new amortization was calculated on

the basis of the consolidated net book values at the

December 31, 2001 reporting date. Consequently, the

amortization accumulated at January 1, 2002, was not

modified.



100

> CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 20 – Financial results
Financial and investment results for the year ended

December 31, 2002, were a loss of €98.5 million, com-

pared with a loss of €96.8 million in the corresponding

prior period.

Financial and investment gains are summarized below:

Miscellaneous interest earned mainly includes interest

earned on down payments made to acquire shopping malls

on a future-as-is basis (€4.3 million) and an equity interest

in the company Delcis (€1.5 million).

Expenses:

The change in financing debt led to a net increase of

€18.3 million in interest expense compared with December

31, 2001, as a combined result of the following:

> increases:

- Interest on the July 2001 bond issue (€19.2 million)

- Interest expense on swaps (€19.0 million)

- Interest expense on commercial paper (€2.7 million)

- Interest on advances from proportionately consolidated

companies (€2.7 million)

- Interest of €1.8 million on the bridge loan contracted

pending the mortgage loan to be taken out by Klécar Italia.

The increase in interest expense was offset by the follow-

ing:

> decrease of €3.2 million in interest on the bridge loan in

lieu of equity issue and syndicated loan;

> elimination of €4.5 million in interest on the convertible

bond issue;

> elimination of €18.4 million in interest on the €600

bridge million loan granted by BNP Paribas in

December 2000, which was fully repaid in July 2001.

NOTE 20

2

2002 2001 2000

Gains on the sale of marketable securities 1 729 2 231 4 758

Gains on interest-rate swaps 80 822 65 618 16 782

Interest on advances to Group and partners 3 013 2 770 1 189

Miscellaneous interest earned 6 515 4 793 2 850

Other interest income 489 762 -

Forex gains 186 20 -

Release of interest expense allowance - -

TOTAL INTEREST INCOME 92 754 76 194 25 579
in € thousands

NOTE 20

2

2002 2001 2000

Interest on bonds 36 789 22 100 5 730

Interest on bank borrowings 41 781 59 714 8 965

Other bank interest 9 656 11 066 11 879

Interest expense on swaps 89 326 70 283 17 410

Interest expense on Group and partner advances 8 561 5 877 3 175

Other interest expense 2 758 6 124 2 251

Transfer of interest expense - 77 - 5 230 - 2 250 (1)

Forex losses 22 - -

Allowance to fund convertible bond redemption premium 1 822 2 133 -

Interest expense allowance 631 885 728

TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSE 191 269 172 952 47 888

(1) In the 2000 and 2001 financial statements, the line item Transfer of interest expense 
is included in the total interest income. Reclassified as interest expense, no impact on net financial results.

in € thousands
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Note 21 – Non-recurring results 
and amortization of goodwill
Non-recurring results include total income or loss on the

sale of consolidated assets, as indicated below:

> capital gains on the sale of tangible assets relate to 

11 office properties that were sold;

> non-recurring items include a provision of €2.5 million for

real-estate risks relating to a shopping center located

abroad;

> goodwill amortization totaled €0.7 million, compared

with €3.2 million at the December 31, 2001 reporting date.

Allowances recorded in 2001 included a one-off writedown

recorded on that portion of goodwill relating to the 15%

equity security interest in Ségécé that Klépierre sold.

NOTE 21

2

2002 2001 2000

Capital gains/losses on the sale 
of tangible fixed assets 67523 57664 22476

Capital gains/losses on the sale 
of equity investment securities 99 5357 -

Other non-recurring items - 273 - 476 7661

Allowances net of releases - 4100 - 131 

TOTAL 63249 62414 30137
in € thousands

Note 22 – Corporate income tax

Income tax payable includes income of €10.9 million,

which corresponds to the change in the tax consolidation

suspense account recorded between the 2001 and 2002

year-end reporting dates. As a reminder, the aggregate

total of transfers was a tax savings of €40.7 million at

December 31, 2002.

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, the recorded

change in deferred income tax was a €23.9 million

expense of which €6.0 million is attributable to property

sales and €19.2 million to the recognition of deferred tax

assets following internal restructuring.

Total tax expense includes current tax and non-recurring

tax:

NOTE 22

2

2002 2001 2000

Income tax payable 30 718 45 903 30 067

Deferred income tax 23 782 - 15 7 506

TOTAL 54 500 45 888 37 573
in € thousands

ANALYSIS AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

Current Non- Total
tax recurring tax

Income tax payable 28 226 2 492 30 718

Deferred income tax - 664 24 446 23 782

TOTAL 27 562 26 938 54 500
in € thousands

An explanation of the transition from the theoretical corpo-

rate income tax expense (at a rate of 35.43%) to the actu-

al tax expense is provided below:

VERIFICATION OF TAX EXPENSE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 

2

2

2

Accounting result (pre-tax) 153 220

Non-taxable consolidation eliminations and
earnings of equity method investees - 575

Minority share in the taxable income 
or loss of partnerships - 1 373

Permanent deductions and add-backs 4 519

Losses carried forward 783

Taxable earnings 156 574

o/w:

Taxable at a rate levied 
on the consolidating entity (35.43%) 90 958

Deferred tax base (35.43%) 60 649

Taxable at a reduced rate (20.20%) 4 967

Theoretical tax expense - 54 543

At a rate of 35.43% - 53 540

At a rate of 20.20% - 1 003

Actual tax expense - 54 500

The difference between the theoretical 
and actual tax expense results from:

- Difference in tax rates of foreign subsidiaries - 347

- Other 304

in € thousands
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The financial statements of Ségécé and Klégestion are

available on the Klépierre Website (Publications/Reports). ●

Note 23 – Transition table: 
corporate earnings to consolidated earnings

Other restatements include €21.4 million in restatements

relating to building amortization and resulting in changes to

amortization periods or land/buildings allocations.

NOTE 23

2

2

2

in € thousands

Offices Shopping Services Total
centers

Corporate statutory earnings 162 255 113 267 10 522 286 044

Reversal of released 
depreciation allowances 6 267 - 2 537 112 3 842

Revaluations -

- Sale 16 539 16 539

- Amortization - 205 - 6 045 - 6 250

Deferred taxes - 12 597 - 1 275 98 - 13 774

Capital gains on the sale of securities - 1 315 51 - 1 264

Group dividends - 163 392 - 48 523 438 - 211 477

Goodwill amortization 410 - 485 - 728 - 803

Other eliminations/restatements 3 080 22 619 - 194 25 505

Net earnings of consolidated companies 11 042 77 072 10 248 98 362

Income of companies accounted for by EM 356 356

TOTAL CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 11 042 77 072 10 604 98 718

o/w Group share 10 961 62 566 7 572 81 099
o/w minority share 81 14 506 3 032 17 619

Note 24 – Workforce and payroll expense

The average workforce of proportionately consolidated com-

panies – Centros Shopping Gestion – is calculated on the

basis of percentage of consolidation. The workforce of com-

panies accounted for by the equity method is not included in

the total.

Note 25 – Consolidating company
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, Klépierre was

fully consolidated by the BNP Paribas group, which owns

a 52.85% equity interest in Klépierre. ●

NOTE 24

2

2

Workforce 2002 2001 2000

Offices 40 51 41

Shopping centers 455 356 163

TOTAL 495 407 204

Payroll expense
Offices 3 088 3 806 3 447

Shopping centers 27 582 22 935 11 841

TOTAL 30 670 26 741 15 288
in € thousands

Ségécé and Klégestion
@@
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Statutory Auditors’ report

Year ended December 31, 2002
(free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors, we have audited the

accompanying consolidated accounts Klépierre SA

Company, as of December 31, 2002.

These consolidated accounts are the responsibility of the

Company’s Executive Board. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these accounts based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with French profes-

sional standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the consolidated accounts are free from material

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

consolidated accounts. An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statements presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Consolidated accounts of Klépierre SA

In our opinion, the consolidated accounts present fairly, in

all material respects, the financial position of the Group as

of December 31, 2002 and the results of the Group’s oper-

ations included in the consolidation for the year then

ended, in accordance with French accounting principles.

We also reviewed, in accordance with French professional

standards, the information relating to the Group contained

in the Executive Board report.

We have nothing to report with respect to the fairness of

such information and its consistency with the consolidated

accounts.

Paris, Febuary 25, 2003

Statutory Auditors

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin
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STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2

2

2

2002 2001 2000
€ € €

OPERATING INCOME
Lease income 21 367 19 724 18 629

Rents 19 921 18 505 17 296
Reimbursement of expenses 1 446 1 111 1 195
Other - 108 138

Other services provided 320 869 3
Release of reserves 4 154 9 821 413
Expense transfers 102 3 613 798

TOTAL I 25 943 34 027 19 843

OPERATING EXPENSES
External purchases and expenses - 8 828 - 9 677 - 5 663
Taxes, duties and equivalent - 1 402 - 1 646 - 1 749
Payroll expense - - - 15
Depreciation and amortization of intangible fixed assets,
acquisition costs and expenses to amortize - 968 - 1 490 - 1 052
Depreciation and amortization of intangible fixed assets - 6 520 - 7 031 - 6 979
Allowance for doubtful accounts - 1 - 138 - 544
Provisions for contingencies and losses - 101 - 41 - 518
Other expenses - 600 - 93 - 85

TOTAL II - 18 420 - 20 116 - 16 605

OPERATING EARNINGS (I-II) 7 523 13 911 3 238

NET RESULTS OF JOINT OPERATIONS
INCOME ATTRIBUTED OR LOSSES TRANSFERRED TOTAL III 32 722 32 456 791
LOSSES BORNE OR INCOME TRANSFERRED TOTAL IV - 1 507 - 417 - 4
INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS TOTAL V 174 832 173 505 64 204
INTEREST EXPENSE TOTAL VI - 179 001 - 162 372 - 37 825

FINANCIAL RESULTS (V-VI) - 4 169 11 133 26 379

PRE-TAX OPERATING EARNINGS (I-II + III-IV + V-VI) 34 569 57 083 30 404

NON-RECURRING GAINS
On operations 374 852 197
On capital transactions 35 686 6 806 9 540
Release of reserves 309 407 410
Expense transfers - - -

TOTAL VII 36 369 8 065 10 147

NON-RECURRING LOSSES
On operations - 610 - 1 325 - 2 809
On capital transactions - 21 039 - 5 468 - 3 535
Depreciation and amortization - 1 021 - 618 - 739

TOTAL VIII - 22 670 - 7 411 - 7 083

NON-RECURRING RESULTS (VII-VIII) 13 699 654 3 064
EMPLOYEE PROFIT-SHARING TOTAL IX - - - 83
CORPORATE INCOME TAX TOTAL X 3 531 7 220 - 5 345

TOTAL INCOME (I + III + V + VII) 269 866 248 053 94 985
TOTAL EXPENSE (II + IV + VI + VIII + IX + X) - 218 067 - 183 096 - 66 945

NET EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR 51 799 64 957 28 040
in € thousands
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BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2

2

2

2

2002 2001 2000
Gross Depreciation Net Net Net

and amortization
€ € € € €

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 2 - 2 479 6

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 194 464 74 798 119 666 135 528 116 823

Land 52 618 52 618 56 333 51 482

Buildings and improvements 141 704 74 704 67 000 78 649 64 786

Installations in progress - - 508 555

Other tangible fixed assets 142 94 48 38 -

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS 2 768 469 12 736 2 755 733 2 470 427 1 523 386

Equity investment securities 2 095 730 12 557 2 083 173 1 952 088 1 076 248

Receivables from equity interests 631 526 631 526 480 192 447 128

Other long-term securities 179 179 - - -

Loans 41 025 41 025 38 138 -

Security deposits 9 9 9 10

TOTAL I 2 962 935 87 534 2 875 401 2 606 434 1 640 215

CURRENT ASSETS

DOWNPAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS 23 251 23 251 21 763 28 092

TRADE NOTES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 1 443 85 1 358 2 055 264

Ordinary accounts 1 338 1 338 1 673 88

Doubtful accounts 105 85 20 382 176

MISCELLANEOUS RECEIVABLES 53 296 - 53 296 47 582 36 958

Government 16 918 16 918 3 468 2 180

Other receivables 36 378 36 378 44 114 34 778

MARKETABLE SECURITIES 26 379 - 26 379 25 225 21 528

Treasury stock 18 525 18 525 23 707 21 528

Other securities 7 854 7 854 1 518 -

CASH AND NEAR CASH 1 528 1 528 235 3 967

ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNTS

PRE-PAID EXPENSES 960 960 232 14

TOTAL II 106 857 85 106 772 97 092 90 823

EXPENSES TO AMORTIZE OVER SEVERAL PERIODS TOTAL III 5 620 5 620 10 038 6 779

BOND REDEMPTION PREMIUMS TOTAL IV 2 531 2 531 5 086 3 353

TOTAL ASSETS (I + II + III + IV) 3 077 943 87 619 2 990 324 2 718 650 1 741 170
in € thousands
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BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

2

2

2

2

2002 2001 2000
€ € €

LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 119 359 107 068 98 701

Additional paid-in capital 566 389 431 480 397 858

Gains on cancelled shares in acquired companies 113 736 113 736 113 736

Legal reserve 10 707 9 870 9 868

Other reserves 221 309 221 309 221 309

Retained earnings 30 308 7 047 14 186

Earnings for the year 51 799 64 957 28 040

Investment provisions 64 73 73

TOTAL I 1 113 671 955 540 883 771

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND LOSSES TOTAL II 39 530 27 793 33 798

DEBT

CONVERTIBLE BONDS - 157 561 201 533

OTHER BONDS AND NOTES 617 620 617 620 -

BANK BORROWINGS 860 117 613 536 405 435

MISCELLANEOUS BORROWINGS AND FINANCING DEBT 219 439 297 631 203 579

TRADE NOTES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 312 383 1 191

Prepaids - - 703

Accrued expenses 312 383 488

TRADE NOTES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2 004 20 803 6 108

Other liabilities 1 134 834 2 776

Accrued liabilities 870 19 969 3 332

TAX AND SOCIAL LIABILITIES 145 4 840 2 319

Government, taxes and duties 145 4 840 2 222

Accrued liabilities - - 97

PAYABLES TO FIXED ASSET SUPPLIERS AND SUB-ACCOUNTS 281 875 689

OTHER LIABILITIES 133 113 17 290 2 747

ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNTS

PRE-PAID INCOME 4 092 4 778 -

TOTAL III 1 837 123 1 735 317 823 601

TOTAL LIABILITIES (I + II + III) 2 990 324 2 718 650 1 741 170
in € thousands
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1. 2002 operating highlights

KLÉPIERRE PURSUES THE CARREFOUR
SHOPPING MALL ACQUISITION PROGRAM
France
Under the terms of the agreement signed with Carrefour in

July of 2000, Klécar France and one of its subsidiaries paid

€124.6 million to acquire 9 shopping malls in France.

Italy
At the June 30, 2002 reporting date, Klépierre had

acquired 11 Carrefour shopping centers in Italy, which rep-

resented a net investment of €223.4 million. To complete

the acquisitions, Klépierre set up Klécar Participation Italie

in France and Klécar Italia in Italy. A wholly owned sub-

sidiary of Klécar Participation Italie, Klécar Italia directly

acquired the Pescara shopping center and all of the equity

interests in Alicentro 5, which owns 10 of the former

Carrefour holdings. On October 30, 2002, Klécar Italia

merged with its subsidiary Alicentro, with Klécar Italia as

the surviving company.

Klépierre owns an 83% equity interest in Klécar

Participation Italie, and CNP Assurances and Ecureuil Vie

hold the remaining 17% interest.

Spain
At the beginning of December 2002, Klécar Europe Sud

and its subsidiaries in Spain completed the acquisition of 4

shopping malls for a total of €66.3 million.

Portugal
As of December 31, 2002, Klépierre acquired a Carrefour

shopping mall in Loures, a suburb of Lisbon, for €37.4 mil-

lion. Klépierre made the acquisition through Klépierre

Portugal and its subsidiary, Klelou, owner of the shopping

center.

Klelou is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Klépierre Portugal,

which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Klépierre.

ACQUISITION OF 9 FINIPER SHOPPING
CENTERS IN ITALY
On July 18, 2002, Klépierre entered into an agreement with

the Finiper group in Italy to acquire a 40% stake in the

Finiper subsidiary IGC, which owns 9 shopping centers, pri-

marily located in the northern half of the country, for a total

of €66.8 million.

IGC is 40% owned by Klefin Italia, a wholly-owned sub-

sidiary of Klépierre.

DISPOSALS OF OFFICE PROPERTIES 
AND WAREHOUSES
Klépierre continued its arbitrage program, selling the fol-

lowing real-estate holdings for a total of €34.2 million:

> office buildings: rue du général Foy, Paris (1,686 sq.m.);

rue Salengro, Fontenay-sous-Bois (8,040 sq.m.); rue

Graham Bell, Metz (654 sq.m.);

> warehouses: rue marquis de Raies, Evry (2,295 sq.m.);

rue Paul Langevin, Herblay (3,144 sq.m.); Sophia Antipolis

(1,713 sq.m.);

> re t a i l space : avenue du géné r a l Lec l e rc , Pa r i s  

(1,475 sq.m.).

BOND CONVERSION
On July 23, 2002, Klépierre exercised its option to retire

unredeemed convertible bonds prior to their original due

date. Of a total 673,707 bonds outstanding, 662,984 were

presented for conversion and 10,723 were redeemed for

€203.49 each, including accrued interest.

Bondholders opted to redeem a total of 745,763 bonds in

2002, creating 1,536,364 new shares.

The remainder net of issue costs and the redemption pre-

mium were charged against the issue premium. Post con-

version, Klépierre’s shareholders’ equity increased by

€147.2 million.

Klépierre filed a request to trade these shares on the

Euronext Paris Premier Marché with other shares of the

same rank and earning dividends as of January 1, 2002.

2. Significant accounting 
and valuation policies

The annual financial statements for the year ended

December 31, 2002 were established in accordance with

the generally accepted accounting principles in France.

2.1 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Acquired tangible assets are carried at their acquisition

cost.

Building acquisition costs are carried as expenses to be

amortized ratably using a five-year straight-line amortiza-

tion method. If the assets in question are sold or trans-

ferred, any remaining non-amortized amounts are

expensed.

Lease-purchase buildings are depreciated on a straight-

line basis over 20- to 40-year terms, depending on type:

> Restored Haussman buildings: 40 years

> New high-end buildings: 33 years

> Other office buildings: 25 years

> Warehouses: 20 years.

The only building under a real-estate leasing arrangement

is being depreciated over 25 years.

Notes to the corporate financial statements
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2.3 TRADE NOTES RECEIVABLE
Allowances for doubtful debts are calculated contract by

contract for trade notes receivable where collection is

deemed at risk.

2.4 MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities are recorded at their acquisition

price, excluding fees.

Valuation allowances are established as follows:

> for treasury stock purchased to stabilize market price, a

valuation allowance is established whenever the balance

sheet value, determined by the average stock price over

the last month of the fiscal year, falls below the acquisition

cost;

> for stock purchased for employee option grants, a

valuation allowance is established whenever the average

price is higher than the option purchase price offered to

employees.

No valuation allowances were established in 2002.

2.5 EXPENSES TO AMORTIZE
Termination indemnities collected from tenants are spread

out so as to offset the corresponding loss of rent for the

remaining period of the broken lease. However, if the build-

ing is sold, such amounts are immediately recognized as

income.

Equity security acquisition costs are recorded as expenses

to amortize, prorated over five years. In the event of a sale

or contribution, the outstanding balance is expensed.

Bond issue costs are amortized over the maturity of the

corresponding bond.

Fees relating to the syndicated loan are spread over the

term of the two tranches of the loan, i.e. two years and five

years, proportionate to the amount of each tranche.

Sales fees incurred to sign on new tenants are spread over

the initial term of the lease, for a maximum period of three

years.

2.6 FUTURES/RISK MANAGEMENT/SWAPS
Gains and losses related to swap transactions to cover the

group’s interest rate risk are prorated over the period and

recorded in the income statement accordingly.

Unrealized gains and losses resulting from the estimated

fair market value of contracts at the close of the fiscal year

and their nominal value are not recorded.

2.7 OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Lease income is recorded on the rent due date; building

expenses are re-invoiced to clients when they are paid; and

interest is recorded when earned or paid. At the end of the

fiscal year, accrued amounts not yet due and non-accrued

amounts that have been accounted for in advance are

added to and subtracted from income expenses, respec-

tively.

2.8 CORPORATE INCOME TAX
Klépierre established a tax consolidation group in 1995

with subsidiaries in which it owned at least a 95% equity

interest. Klépierre records the total income tax payable by

the Group, but pursuant to the tax consolidation agree-

ment, records the tax credits earned by its loss-making

subsidiaries under liabilities in a suspense account. The tax

savings are transferred to Klépierre’s income statements at

the end of a period not to exceed five years, subject to their

non-use by the subsidiaries concerned.

If the tax consolidation Group is profitable, any tax savings

attributable to taxable losses of the parent company are

immediately recognized as income. However, if the tax con-

Installations and improvements are depreciated over a peri-

od of 5 to 10 years.

Valuation allowances are established for the impairment of

real-estate holdings to be sold in the short term. The

amounts of such allowances are determined building by

building, based on the difference between the fair market

value (excluding fees) and the net book value.

Since 1998, the company has established liabilities for all

directly owned buildings line by line whenever an other than

temporary material difference exists between the appraised

value (fees included) and the net book value. This differ-

ence is deemed to be material if it exceeds 10% of net

book value.

Reserves established on this basis are released according

to the same principle.

2.2 LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS
Securities of real-estate subsidiaries set up to hold build-

ings that were previously owned directly are recorded at

their nominal subscription value, which corresponds to the

contribution value of the buildings in question.

Other equity investment securities are recorded at their

acquisition cost, excluding fees.

At the end of the year, valuation allowances are established

whenever the cost of acquiring equity securities is lower

than their balance sheet value. This value is determined

based on the net worth of the subsidiaries in question, and

their development prospects.
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solidation Group provides a loss, no accounting entry is

made.

Consequently, corporate income tax includes Klépierre’s

own tax expense, the Group’s tax savings and expense

resulting from adjustments, and savings irrevocably grant-

ed due to losses.

Deferred taxation transactions were valued at year-end at a

rate of 33.33%, plus the additional 3% contribution and the

3.3% social contribution on profits.

3. Commentary 
on balance sheet assets

3.1 TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
3.1.1 – Gross fixed assets

NOTE 1

2

2

2

Gross values Acquisitions, Decreases due to Line item Gross values 
at January 1, creations and divestitures or transfers at December 31,

2002 contributions removal from service 2002

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Start-up costs 726 - 726 -
Other intangible fixed assets 2 2

Total 728 - - - 726 2

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Land 56 333 - - 3 715 - 52 618

Financial leasing 280 280

Lease-purchase 56 053 - 3 715 52 338

Buildings and improvements 159 919 69 - 18 824 540 141 704
Financial leasing 2 729 2 729

Lease-purchase 157 190 69 - 18 824 540 138 975

Buildings and improvements in progress 508 32 - 540 -
Other tangible fixed assets 128 15 - 1 142

Total 216 888 116 - 22 540 - 194 464

TOTAL GROSS FIXED ASSETS 217 616 116 - 22 540 - 726 194 466
in € thousands
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3.1.2 – Depreciation and amortization

NOTE 2

2

2

2

2

Total at Allowances Divestitures Other Total at 
January 1, changes December 31,

2002 2002

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Start-up costs 249 - 249 -
Other intangible fixed assets -

Total 249 - - - 249 -

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Buildings and improvements 72 380 6 516 - 9 735 - 69 161

Financial leasing 1 691 110 1 801

Lease-purchase 70 689 6 406 - 9 735 67 360

Other tangible fixed assets 90 5 - 1 94

Total 72 470 6 521 - 9 736 - 69 255

TOTAL AMORTIZATION 72 719 6 521 - 9 736 - 249 69 255

Total at Allowances Releases Line item Total at
january 1, transfers December 31,

2002 2002

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Buildings and improvements 8 890 - - 3 347 - 5 543

Lease-purchase 8 890 - 3 347 5 543

TOTAL PROVISIONS 8 890 - - 3 347 - 5 543
in € thousands
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3.1.3 – Net fixed assets

NOTE 3

2

2

2

Net values at Increases Decreases Line item Net values at 
January 1, net of net of transfers December 31,

2002 allowances releases 2002

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Start-up costs 477 - - - 477 -
Other intangible fixed assets 2 - - - 2

Total 479 - - - 477 2

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Land 56 333 - - 3 715 - 52 618

Financial leasing 280 - - - 280

Lease-purchase 56 053 - - 3 715 - 52 338

Buildings and improvements 78 649 - 6 447 - 5 742 540 67 000
Financial leasing 1 038 -110 - - 928

Lease-purchase 77 611 - 6 337 - 5 742 540 66 072

Buildings and improvements in progress 508 32 - - 540 -
Other tangible fixed assets 38 10 - - 48

Total 135 528 - 6 405 - 9 457 - 119 666

TOTAL NET FIXED ASSETS 136 007 - 6 405 - 9 457 - 477 119 668
in € thousands

3.2 FINANCIAL ASSETS
3.2.1 – Equity investment securities

NOTE 4 – CHANGE IN EQUITY INVESTMENT SECURITIES

2

Equity investment securities at January 1, 2002 1 961 428
Securities acquired 148 207

- In consideration for buildings or securities contributed to subsidiaries

- Securities purchased, increases in capital and contributions - Offices 1 391

- Securities purchased, increases in capital and contributions - Shopping centers 146 816

Securities sold or transferred - 13 905

EQUITY INVESTMENT SECURITIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 2 095 730
in € thousands
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NOTE 5 – ANALYSIS OF INFORMATION

Financial information - Share Other % Income Revenues Gross Net Deposits Loans Dividends
Subsidiaries and equity interests capital comprehen- ownership (loss) (before tax) book book and and received

sive at value value guarantees advances 
income December 31, granted

2002

1. SUBSIDIARIES (more than 50% owned)
5 Turin SAS 3 468 3 387 100 305 811 6 936 6 936 - - 73

8 rue du Sentier SCI 33 132 - 35 700 100 - 165 - 9 147 - - 2 732 -

Barjac Victor SNC 2 - 100 - 123 2 569 1 336 1 336 - 32 841 -

Capucine BV 2 400 - 100 - 61 - 2 400 2 339 489 13 512 -

Cecotoul SAS 38 - 20 95 - 12 - 72 72 - - -

Cécoville SAS 38 10 100 - 81 3 329 143 143 - 30 946 -

Curial Archereau SAS - - - - - - - - - 59

Foncière de Louvain-la-Neuve SA 61 - 100 - - 61 61 - - -

Immobiliare Magnolia SRL 520 227 85 275 1 486 4 904 4 904 - 1 918 -

Issy Desmoulins SAS 2 020 934 100 - 1 903 - 4 040 1 679 - 61 580 -

Jardin des Princes SNC 2 - 99 - 409 623 1 542 1 542 - 11 960 -

Kléber La Pérouse SNC 4 116 15 100 3 511 - 11 470 11 470 - 88 788 415

Kléber La Pérouse Bis SNC 2 - 1 99 - 1 - 2 2 - - -

Klébureaux SAS (1) 242 595 173 352 100 74 715 76 882 416 121 416 121 - - 23 074

Klécar Europe Est SAS 38 38 100 - 1 - 76 76 - - -

Klécar Europe Sud SAS 237 210 228 946 83 10 424 - 393 684 393 684 - 28 561 9 619

Klécar France SNC 500 881 469 527 83 38 420 38 672 831 462 831 462 72 346 31 888 -

Klécar Participation Italie SAS 49 100 49 100 83 - 411 - 81 506 81 506 - 108 008 -

Klécentres SA (1) 157 623 158 230 83 21 343 28 878 271 975 271 975 - 33 733 19 213

Kléfi Participations SAS 65 65 100 - - 130 130 - - -

Klefin Italia SPA 4 250 9 376 100 - 950 - 13 625 13 625 - 20 326 -

Klégestion SAS 640 84 100 1 593 6 168 876 876 - - 2 755

Klémurs SAS 229 - 365 100 - 138 204 229 229 - 21 778 -

Klépierre Conseil SAS 38 42 100 - 11 5 862 1 391 1 391 - 1 399 1 311

Klépierre Finance SAS 38 4 100 440 - 38 38 - - 207

Klépierre Portugal SA 50 - 100 - 19 - 50 50 24 600 13 482 -

Klépierre Transactions SAS 38 - 171 100 1 422 182 76 76 - 63 979 -

Le Havre Capelet SAS 229 - 3 100 - 15 - 267 267 - 22 -

Le Havre Tourneville SAS 229 - 34 100 - 81 - 267 267 - 863 -

Louis David SAS 11 586 - 1 962 100 262 454 6 098 6 098 - - -

LP 3 SCI 2 - 99 - 15 - 2 2 - 28 -

LP 7 SAS 38 - 24 100 - 29 - 38 38 - 40 -

Maille Nord SNC 2 - 99 114 975 1 1 - 7 784 -

Nancy Bonsecours SAS 38 - 46 100 - 40 - 76 76 - 5 330 -

Novate SRL 4 264 9 316 100 - 1 720 - 13 644 13 644 - 19 617 -

Odysseum Place de Venise SAS 38 - 31 70 - 15 - 27 27 - 21 -

in € thousands
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3.2.2 – Receivables from equity interests 3.2.3 – Loans
Advances to Klépierre’s non-directly owned subsidiaries –

Le Havre Lafayette, Le Havre Vauban and Espace

Cordeliers – totaled €41 million.

3.3 TRADE PAYABLES 
AND DOWN PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS
The total includes a down payment of €23.2 million, includ-

ing interest, made to acquire an equity interest in Delcis,

owner of the Novy Smichov shopping center in Prague.

NOTE 5 – ANALYSIS OF INFORMATION

2

2

2

2

Odysseum Place de France SAS 38 - 137 70 - 17 74 27 27 4 218 808 -

Odysseum Place d’Alexandrie SAS 38 - 71 95 - 43 - 72 72 - 541 -

Pasteur SAS 38 - 25 100 - 16 - 76 76 - - -

Poitiers Aliénor SAS 229 11 100 - 2 - 267 267 - - -

Sodévac SNC* 2 - 99 2 - 2 2 30 197 3 715 -

Sovaly SA 448 40 100 - 59 - 571 429 - 410 -

Zobel Investments B.V. 454 - 364 100 - 32 - 315 - - 410 -

TOTAL I 146 457 167 169 2 075 042 2 063 016 131 850 607 020 56 726

2. EQUITY INTERESTS (10 - 50% owned)
Antin Vendôme SCI 15 - 50 1 196 2 930 8 8 - 13 841 -

Du Bassin Nord SCI 2 - 50 - 432 - 1 1 - 6 009 -

Effe Kappa SRL 12 - 50 - - 6 6 - - -

Galae SNC 330 1 49 - 1 476 109 490 162 - 785 -

Secmarne SAS 2 594 - 3 134 27 4 498 9 914 5 381 5 381 - 3 563 1 248

Ségécé SA 1 600 3 477 50 7 448 48 877 14 459 14 459 - - 3 374

Socoseine SAS 38 123 25 59 732 99 99 - 222 -

Sviluppo Klépierre Finim SPA 104 - 21 50 - - 244 41 - - -

TOTAL II 11 293 62 562 20 688 20 157 0 24 420 4 622

3. MISCELLANEOUS 86

TOTAL III 0 0 0 0 0 86 0

TOTAL I + II + III 157 750 229 731 2 095 730 2 083 173 131 850 631 526 61 348

(1) Interest income. * Fiscal year ended September 30, 2002.

Financial information - Share Other % Income Revenues Gross Net Deposits Loans Dividends
Subsidiaries and equity interests capital comprehen- ownership (loss) (before tax) book book and and received

sive at value value guarantees advances 
income December 31, granted

2002

in € thousands

NOTE 6

2

2002 2001 2000

Advances on equity investment 
securities 585085 434070 435760

Interest on advances 6663 11816 9598

Dividends receivable - - -

Share in net income 39778 34306 1770

TOTAL 631526 480192 447128
in € thousands
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Contrary to fiscal 2001, Klépierre’s tax consolidation group

provided a loss in 2002. The company has a €16.4 million

corporate income tax receivable, of which €13.9 million on

the repayment of advances made and €2.4 million for loss

carry-backs.

3.5 MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities include 190,503 shares of treasury

stock with a purchase value of €18.5 million, equal to 

1.28% of the total equity capital.

These shares include:

> 100,000 shares set aside for the Klépierre group employee

stock option plan, approved by the Executive Board on

June 14, 1999;

> 90,503 shares acquired to stabilize the stock price.

A total of 72,058 shares were sold in 2002, generating a

gross capital gain of €1.4 million.

Other shares are short-term investments of €7.9 million.

3.4 TRADE NOTES RECEIVABLE 
AND MISCELLANEOUS RECEIVABLES
The total €1.3 million in trade notes receivable falls due in

less than one year.

Miscellaneous receivables by due date:

NOTE 6

2

2002 2001 2000

Government 16 918 3 468 2 180
- Corporate income tax 16 367 60 -

- VAT 497 3 408 2 180

- Accrued income 54 - -

Other receivables 36 378 44 114 34 778
- Receivables from the sale of fixed assets 430 803 4 581

- Accrued interest on interest rate swaps 26 452 26 740 -

- Tax consolidation receivables 7 193 10 403 5 444

- Other 2 303 6 168 24 753

TOTAL 53 296 47 582 36 958
in € thousands

SCHEDULE OF RECEIVABLES

2

Total Less than 1 - 5 years More than 
1 year 5 years

Government 16 918 14 558 2 360 -
- Corporate income tax 16 367 14 007 2 360

- VAT 497 497 

- Accrued income 54 54 

Other receivables 36 378 36 378 - -
- Receivables from the sale of fixed assets 430 430 

- Interest on interest rate swaps 26 452 26 452 

- Tax consolidation receivables 7 193 7 193 

- Other 2 303 2 303 

TOTAL 53 296 50 936 2 360 -

in € thousands
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3.6 ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNTS (ASSETS)

Remaining convertible bond issue costs of €2 million were

charged against shareholders’ equity.

NOTE 7

2

2002 2001 2000

Prepaid expenses 960 232 14
Expenses to amortize 
over several periods 5620 10038 6779

- Fixed asset acquisition costs 1487 2009 931

- Bond issue fees 1709 4040 3263

- Fees on borrowings 2403 3859 2250

- Other 21 130 335

Bond issue premiums 2531 2989 -
Convertible bond redemption 
premiums - 2097 3353

TOTAL 9111 15356 10146
in € thousands

4. Notes on balance sheet liabilities

4.1 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

NOTE 8

2

At beginning Bond Net income Distribution Other At end of end 
of fiscal year redemptions appropriation of fiscal year

Equity capital (1) 107 068 12 291 119 359

Issue premiums and additional paid-in capital

Issue premiums 19 762 19 762

Convertible bond issue fees 39 103 134 909 174 012

Contribution premiums 259 318 259 318

Merger premium 113 297 113 297

Bond conversion premiums 113 736 113 736

Legal reserve 9 870 837 10 707

Other reserves

Regulated reserves 99 317 99 317

Other reserves 121 992 121 992

Retained earnings 7 047 64 120 - 41 489 630 (2) 30 308

Earnings for the period 64 957 - 64 957 51 799 51 799

Regulated reserves 73 - 9 64

TOTAL 955 540 147 200 - - 41 489 52 420 1 113 671

(1) Analysis of equity capital

Common shares 13 383 557 1 536 364 14 919 921

Face value in € 8 8 8

(2) The €630,000 in dividends from treasury shares are recorded under Retained earnings.

in € thousands
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4.2 PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES 
AND LOSSES

The tax consolidation suspense account primarily reflects

deferred taxation transactions of €7 million and tax savings

of €28 million recovered by loss-making subsidiaries.

Provisions on loss-making subsidiaries include a €2.7 mil-

lion loss from SCI 8 rue du Sentier and €0.8 million in con-

tingency provisions for the Aubervilliers shopping center

development project.

Calls for building management funds are recorded in third-

party accounts. Consequently, the year’s expense is provi-

sioned and adjusted at a later date, once the final expens-

es have been calculated.

NOTE 9

2

2002 2001 2000

Tax consolidation 
suspense account 34 914 23 931 29 804

Provisions for 
Group companies 3 589 2 868 2 525

Building management expenses 308 275 348

Other provisions for 
contingencies and losses 719 719 1 121

TOTAL 39 530 27 793 33 798
in € thousands

4.3 MISCELLANEOUS BORROWINGS 
AND FINANCING DEBT

NOTE 12

2
in € thousands

2002 2001 2000

Convertible bond - 157 561 201 533
- Principal amount - 153 081 195 802

- Accrued interest - 4 480 5 731

Other bonds and notes 617 620 617 620 -
- Principal amount 600 000 600 000 -

- Accrued interest (1) 17 620 17 620 -

Bank borrowings 860 117 613 536 405 435
- Bond bridge loan - - 100 000

- Accrued interest on bond bridge loan - - 138

- Loans granted by Paribas - - 76 225

- Accrued interest on loans granted by Paribas - - 295

- Bridge loan 225 000 225 000 225 000

- Accrued interest on the bridge loan 343 14 407 479

- Syndicated bank loan 500 000 350 000 -

- Accrued interest on the syndicated bank loan 729 829 -

- Bridge loan to acquire holdings in Italy 110 000 - -

- Accrued interest on the bridge loan to acquire holdings in Italy 21 - -

- Bank overdraft facilities 23 815 23 094 10

- Bank interest 209 206 -

- Accrued interest on interest rate swaps - - 3 288

Miscellaneous borrowings and financing debt 219 439 297 631 203 579
- Security deposits received 2 463 3 298 3 198

- Treasury centralization 43 930 123 658 200 153

- Commercial paper 171 000 170 000 -

- Share in net income 2 046 675 228

TOTAL 1 697 176 1 686 348 810 547

(1) Coupon payable July 10.
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4.4 TRADE NOTES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
At December 31, 2001, trade notes totaled €20.8 million

and included accrued interest on interest-rate swaps

recorded under accrued liabilities. At December 31, 2002,

they were reclassified as other liabilities.

All trade notes fall due in less than one year.

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, Klépierre’s 

borrowings primarily consisted of the following:

> a €600 million bond issued in July of 2001 with a

6.125% yield to maturity;

> a syndicated loan, of which €500 million was drawn at

December 31, 2002, versus €350 million at December 31,

2001 (maximum authorized contract €670 million);

> a €225 million bridge loan;

> a €171 million commercial paper issue;

> a €110 million bridge loan pending a mortgage loan to

be contracted by Klécar Italia by March 31, 2003 to acquire

shopping malls in Italy.

Analysis of debt by due date as of December 31, 2002:

ANALYSIS OF DEBT BY DUE DATE

2

Total Less than 1 - 5 years More than
1 year 5 years

Convertible bond - - - -
- Principal amount - - 

- Accrued interest - - - -

Other bonds and notes 617 620 17 620 - 600 000
- Principal amount 600 000 - 600 000

- Accrued interest 17 620 17 620 - -

Bank borrowings 860 117 135 117 500 000 225 000
- Bridge loan 225 000 - - 225 000

- Accrued interest on bridge loan 343 343 - -

- Syndicated bank loan 500 000 - 500 000 -

- Accrued interest on syndicated bank loan 729 729 - -

- Bridge loan to fund acquisitions in Italy 110 000 110 000 

- Accrued interest on bridge loan for Italy 21 21 

- Bank overdraft facilities 23 815 23 815 - -

- Accrued interest on bank borrowings 209 209 - -

Miscellaneous borrowings and financing debt 219 439 219 439 - -
- Security deposits received 2 463 2 463 - -

- Treasury centralization 43 930 43 930 - -

- Commercial paper 171 000 171 000 - -

- Share in net income 2 046 2 046 - -

TOTAL 1 697 176 372 176 500 000 825 000

in € thousands
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5. Commentary 
on the statement of income

5.1 OPERATING EARNINGS
At December 31, 2002, revenues increased by €1.2 mil-

lion, attributable to rents from office properties and ware-

houses. These revenues were primarily generated in Paris

and the Paris region.

The €8 million decrease in operating income at the

December 31, 2002 reporting date primarily reflects:

> a significant release in allowances recorded on the

Diderot building;

> €3.6 million in expense transfers from the acquisition of

securities and bond issue fees.

The €1.7 million decrease in operating expenses is primar-

ily attributable to a decrease in bank charges and in

allowances for the depreciation of real-estate holdings as a

result of our arbitrage policy.

5.2 NET RESULTS OF JOINT OPERATIONS
The total of €31.2 million at December 31, 2002 includes

Klépierre’s share in Klécar France’s income for fiscal year

2002, which amounted to €31.9 million.

5.3 FINANCIAL RESULTS
At December 31, 2002, financial results represented a loss

of €4.2 million, versus a gain of €11.1 million the previous

fiscal year.

4.5 OTHER LIABILITIES
Current account advances and interest primarily include

€80.5 million in cash advances made by Klépierre’s sub-

sidiaries and €26 million in advances paid by partnerships

on share in net income.

Other liabilities primarily include a €2.4 million bonus paid

on equity interests acquired in La Pérouse.

Analysis of other liabilities:

NOTE 14

2

2002 2001 2000

Advances and interest 
on current account 107176 13852 -

Tax consolidation losses 2462 356 -

Accrued interest 
on interest rate swaps (1) 20221 - -

Other 3254 3082 2747

TOTAL 133113 17290 2747

(1) Accrued interest on interest rate swaps reclassified 
under Other debts at the December 31, 2002 reporting date.
They were previously recorded under Trade notes payable.

in € thousands

DEBT SCHEDULE

2

Total Less than 1 - 5 years More than 
1 year 5 years

Advances and interest recorded 
on current account 107 176 26 023 81 153

Tax consolidation losses 2 462 2 462 

Accrued interest on interest rate swaps (1) 20 221 20 221 

Other 3 254 3 254 

TOTAL 133 113 48 706 3 254 81 153

(1) Accrued interest on interest rate swaps reclassified under Other debts at the December 31, 2002 
reporting date. They were previously recorded under Trade notes payable.

in € thousands
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At December 31, 2002, interest expense primarily 

comprised the following:

> interest on bank borrowings:

- €19.2 million in interest on the syndicated loan,

- €12.1 million in interest on the bridge loan,

- €1.8 million in interest on the bridge loan contracted 

to acquire holdings in Italy,

- €5.9 million in interest on the commercial paper issue;

> interest on current accounts and positive deposit 

balances:

- €4.9 million in interest on treasury centralization,

- €1.2 million in interest on partners’ current accounts,

- €0.9 million in interest on bank overdraft facilities.

Other interest expense is primarily attributable to fees 

on the syndicated loan.

NOTE 20

2

2002 2001 2000

Gains on the sale of marketable securities 49 1 -

Gains on interest-rate swaps 80 822 65 970 16 781

Income from equity investment securities 61 349 72 465 19 352

Interest on advances to Group and partners 30 944 30 452 25 684

Miscellaneous interest earned 1 503 1 293 -

Other interest income 165 31 

Release of interest expense allowance - 208 137

Transfer of interest expense - 3 085 2 250

TOTAL INTEREST INCOME 174 832 173 505 64 204
in € thousands

NOTE 20

2

2002 2001 2000

Interest on bonds 36 789 22 100 5 731

Interest on bank borrowings 39 101 56 087 4 135

Other bank interest 41 21 -

Interest expense on swaps 89 326 70 283 17 411

Interest on current accounts and deposits receivable 7 082 6 969 7 570

Other interest expense 1 476 4 551 2 250

Allowance to fund bond redemption premium 458 744 676

Allowance to fund convertible bond issue fees 1 511 1 476 -

Interest expense allowance 3 217 141 52

TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSE 179 001 162 372 37 825
in € thousands



121

1
.

3
.

2
.

5.4 NON-RECURRING RESULTS

Seven buildings were sold generating a net capital gain 

of €19.5 million, of which €11.1 million for général Foy,

€4.3 million for Salengro and €2 million for général Leclerc.

The liquidation of securities in Extension Evry 2 generated

a capital loss of €0.5 million.

Two wholly owned subsidiaries (Curial Archereau and

Fontenay La Redoute) that have ceased operations were

wound up. Their assets and liabilities were transferred 

to their holding company (Transmission universelle de 

patrimoine – TUP), generating a loss upon liquidation of

€5.7 million.

5.5 CORPORATE INCOME TAX

At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, Klépierre SA

registered a tax loss of €7.1 million. This includes a 

€0.9 million expense attributable to issue premiums in 

connection with the bond conversion.

The total income tax expense includes tax payable and

non-recurring tax:

NOTE 21

2

2002 2001 2000

Capital gains and losses on the sale 
of tangible fixed assets and financial assets 19 001 659 6 004

Gains on the redemption of securities 1 407 679 -

Losses upon liquidation (TUP process) - 5 761 - -

Other non-recurring income and expense - 236 - 473 - 2 611

Net allowances on the release of provisions - 712 - 211 - 329

TOTAL 13 699 654 3 064
in € thousands

NOTE 22

2

2002 2001 2000

Tax and payments - 908 - 299 - 6 072

Tax consolidation loss - - 279 - 238

Tax consolidation gains 2 079 7 798 965

Loss carry-backs 2 360 - -

TOTAL 3 531 7 220 - 5 345
in € thousands

TAX EXPENSE

2
in € thousands

2002 2001 2000

Tax payable 8 385 7 452 - 4 259

Non-recurring tax - 4 854 - 232 - 1 086

TOTAL 3 531 7 220 - 5 345
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6. Commentary on off-balance sheet commitments

6.1 RECIPROCAL OBLIGATIONS ON INTEREST-RATE 
HEDGING INSTRUMENTS
At the December 31, 2002 reporting date, Klépierre held the portfolio of interest-rate cov-

erage instruments detailed below. This portfolio was set up to cover the interest-rate risk

on a portion of the current and future corporate debt in light of Klépierre’s global needs and

the probable term of the financing, evaluated with respect to the Group’s financing policy.

BINDING TRANSACTIONS

2002 2001 2000

Fixed rate payer Klépierre - Variable rate payer BNP Paribas 1 768 * 944 944

Fixed rate payer BNP Paribas - Variable rate payer Klépierre 600 752 152

* o/w €550 million activated at the beginning of January 2003. in € millions

IMPACT ON RESULTS

2002
reference capital of 1 to 10 years Income Expense

Fixed rate payer Klépierre - Variable rate payer BNP Paribas 44 62

Fixed rate payer BNP Paribas - Variable rate payer Klépierre 36 27

in € millions

7. Items relative to affiliates

8. Information on consolidation

Klépierre’s corporate financial statements are fully consolidated into those of BNP Paribas. ●

ITEM

in € thousands

Amounts

Prepaids on fixed assets -

Net equity interest securities 2 083 131

Receivables from equity interests 631 525

Loans -

Down payments to suppliers (current assets) -

Trade notes and accounts receivables -

Other receivables 34 751

Adjustment accounts 2 383

Subscribed capital, called, unpaid -

Convertible bonds -

Other bonds -

Bank borrowings 726 072

Miscellaneous loans and financing debt 135 976

Down payments from clients on orders in progress -

Trade notes and accounts payable 1 113

Other liabilities 130 122

Operating income 109

Operating expenses 5 395

Interest income 170 904

Interest expense 132 3126.2 COMMITMENTS RECEIVED AND GRANTED

NOTE 17 – OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

in € thousands
2

2

2002

Commitments granted
Commitments on the purchase of securities and shopping malls 292 532

Commitments to finance granted to lending institutions 24 913

Other commitments granted 21

TOTAL 317 466

Commitments received
Security deposits received from tenants 1 422

Commitments to finance received from lending institutions 307 487

Commitments to purchase securities 23 000

Commitments for the sale of buildings 236

TOTAL 332 145
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

On the Annual Accounts

Year ended December 31, 2002
(free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors, we present below our

report on:

> the accompanying annual accounts of Klépierre, and;

> the specific procedures and disclosures prescribed by

law, for the year ended December 31, 2002.

These annual accounts are the responsibility of the

Company’s Executive Board. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these annual accounts based on our

audit.

I. OPINION ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
We conducted our audit in accordance with French profes-

sional standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the annual accounts are free from material mis-

statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

annual accounts. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by management, as well as evaluating the overall annual

account presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the annual accounts present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position of the Company 

at December 31, 2002, and the results of its operations 

for the year then ended, in accordance with French

accounting principles.

II. SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 
AND DISCLOSURES PRESCRIBED BY LAW
We have also carried out, in accordance with French 

professional standards, the specific procedures prescribed

by French law.

We have nothing to report with respect to the fairness of

information contained in the Executive Board report and its

consistency with the annual accounts and other informa-

tion presented to shareholders concerning the financial

position and annual accounts.

In accordance with French law, we have ensured that the

required information concerning the purchase of invest-

ments and controlling interests and the names and voting

rights of the principal shareholders has been properly dis-

closed in the Executive Board report.

February 25, 2003

The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin
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On Certain Related Party Transactions

Year ended December 31, 2002
(free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors of your Company, we

are required to report on certain contractual agreements

with certain related parties of which we have been advised.

We are not required to ascertain whether such agreements

exist.

We hereby inform you that we have not been advised of

any agreements covered by Article L. 225-86 of French

Company Law (Code de Commerce).

February 25, 2003

The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin

Special report of the Statutory Auditors
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Ordinary and Extraordinary 
shareholders’ Meeting of April 4, 2003
(free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors of Klépierre, S.A. and

in compliance with Article L. 225-209, paragraph 4 of

French Company Law (Code de Commerce), we hereby

report on the proposed reduction in capital by the cancel-

lation of own shares purchased by the Company and on

the conditions of this operation under Resolution 5.

We have reviewed the proposed reduction in capital in

accordance with French professional standards. These

standards require that we perform a review to determine

the fairness of the conditions of the proposed operation.

This operation involves the repurchase by your Company of

its own shares, representing an amount not in excess of 10%

of its total capital, in accordance with Article L. 225-209,

paragraph 4 of French Company Law (Code de Commerce).

You are requested to approve this operation under

Resolution 5 for a period of eighteen months.

Your Executive Board proposes that it be empowered for a

period of 24 months to proceed with the cancellation of

shares the Company was authorized to purchase, repre-

senting an amount not exceeding 10% of its total capital 

for a period of 24 months.

We have nothing to report on the conditions of the pro-

posed reduction in capital, which will be performed after

you have given prior approval for the Company to repur-

chase its own shares as described in Resolution 5.

February 25, 2003

The Statutory Auditors

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin

Report of the Statutory Auditors

On the proposed reduction in capital through the cancellation of own shares purchased 
or to be purchased by the Company.
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Ordinary and Extraordinary 
shareholders’ Meeting of April 4, 2003
(free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors of Klépierre, S.A. and

in compliance with Article L. 225-135 and of L. 225-138 of

French Company Law (Code de Commerce), we hereby

report on the proposed reserved increase in capital of 

€2,800,000 maximum and the issue of free shares and

other securities, upon which you are called to vote.

This increase in capital, which is submitted for your

approval in accordance with Article L. 225-129 VII of

French Company Law (Code de Commerce), is reserved for

the employees of Klépierre and both French and foreign

legally affiliated entities, under a company savings scheme

or an associated employee saving scheme to be imple-

mented.

Your Executive Board proposes, on the basis of its report,

that it be empowered to determine the conditions of this

operation and requests that you waive your preferential

subscription rights.

We have reviewed the proposed increase in capital in

accordance with French professional standards. These

standards require that we perform a review of the methods

used to determine the amount of exercise price.

Under Article L. 443-5 of French Company Law (Code de

Commerce), the exercise price of the new issue will be

equal to the average share price taken over 20 trading days

of the regulated market on which the Company shares are

listed, preceding the date the Executive Board meet to

determine the opening date for subscriptions, and may not

be reduced by more than 20% for members of the compa-

ny savings scheme or 30% for the members of a voluntary

associated employee scheme implemented under Article 

L. 443-1-2 of French Company Law (Code de Commerce).

Subject to a subsequent review of the conditions for the

proposed increase in capital, we have nothing to report on

the methods used to determine the amount of exercise

price provided in the Executive Board report.

As the exercise price has not yet been determined, we do

not express an opinion on the final conditions for the

increase in capital and, consequently, on the proposed

cancellation of preferential subscription rights, the principal

of which is, however, inherent to the operation submitted

for your approval.

In accordance with Article 155-2 of the law of March 23,

1967, we will issue a supplementary report when the

increase in capital has been performed by your Executive

Board.

February 25, 2003

The Statutory Auditors

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin

Report of the Statutory Auditors

On the proposed increase in capital with cancellation of preferential rights reserved for employees 
under a company savings scheme or associated employee saving scheme
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LEGAL FORM
Klépierre was formed as a société anonyme à conseil d’ad-

ministration (French corporation or public limited company

governed by a board of directors) under the terms of a pri-

vate writing executed in Paris on October 4, 1968.

The Company’s shareholders subsequently agreed to

change the form of corporate governance by replacing the

board of directors with an Executive Board and a

Supervisory Board. The decision was formally approved 

at an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders held on

July 21, 1998.

The Company is governed by French laws applicable 

to sociétés anonymes, in particular Articles L. 225-57 to 

L. 225-93 of French Company Law, and by its own bylaws

and articles of incorporation.

LIFE OF THE COMPANY
99 years, beginning on October 4, 1968.

CORPORATE PURPOSE
In compliance with Article 2 of the bylaws and articles of

incorporation, the Company’s purpose in France and

abroad is:

> to acquire any lands, real-estate rights and buildings;

located in France or abroad, as well as all goods and rights

that might constitute an addition or annex to said buildings;

> to construct buildings and engage in all operations direct-

ly or indirectly related to the construction of these buildings;

> to operate and enhance property value by leasing such

properties or otherwise;

> to enter into any lease agreement as a tenant, in France

or abroad;

> to acquire equity interests in any company whose pur-

pose is to operate rental properties;

History

Klépierre was formed at the end of 1990 from the breakup

of Locabail-Immobilier, whose ordinary rental properties it

maintained.

Since that time, Klépierre has exercised two core busi-

nesses: the holding and management of high-quality office

buildings in Paris and the Greater Paris Area, and the hold-

ing and management of shopping centers in France and

Europe.

In 1998, Klépierre made the strategic decision to become

a major player in the development of new shopping centers

in Europe, through its subsidiary Ségécé. Within France,

the group develops its projects.

Historically, Klépierre’s major shareholder was Compagnie

Bancaire. The merger of this group with and into Paribas in

May of 1998 provided an opportunity for Klépierre to align

certain business activities in the same year:

> the merger by absorption of Compagnie Foncière;

> the contribution of all of the business and assets of

Foncière Chaptal;

> the contribution of 13.6% of equity interests in Klécentres.

These acquisitions radically changed the size of the Company,

strengthening its position in its core investment sectors.

On July 17, 2000, Klépierre and the Carrefour group

entered into an agreement whereby Klépierre would

acquire 160 shopping malls adjacent to Carrefour hyper-

markets. Under the terms of this agreement, Klépierre and

Carrefour, a leader in distribution, have also become part-

ners in management and development.

The total investment is an estimated €1.6 billion. By

December 31, 2002, Klépierre had acquired 47 shopping

malls in Spain. In 2001, the Company increased its hold-

ings by 74 malls, primarily located in France. In 2002,

Klépierre acquired 9 additional malls in France and 4 in

Spain, representing 90% of the total amount called for

under the agreement.

In late 2001, Klépierre began implementing the second

phase of the agreement with Carrefour, which gave

Klépierre priority right on the purchase of new projects

developed by Carrefour in Continental Europe, acquiring 5

new malls in Spain (late 2001) and the Loures mall in

Portugal (2002).

In 2002, Klépierre secured its position in Italy through:

> the acquisition of 11 Carrefour shopping malls;

> the formation, in partnership with Finim, of PSG, the

leading shopping center manager in Italy;

> a strategic agreement sealed with the Finiper group to

acquire a 40% stake in IGC, which owns 9 of Finiper’s

shopping centers. The deal also lays the foundation for

Klépierre and Finiper to develop new shopping centers in

Italy.

With leadership in the French, Spanish, Italian and Belgian

markets, Klépierre is now the second largest shopping

center owner and leading shopping center manager in

Continental Europe.

General information

CORPORATE NAME
Klépierre

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
21, avenue Kléber - 75116 Paris

OFFICES
6, boulevard des Capucines - 75009 Paris

> LEGAL INFORMATION
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> to acquire equity interests in any company or enterprise

exercising any type of activity in the real-estate sector;

> more generally, to engage in all types of civil, commercial,

financial, investment and real-estate transactions directly

related to the aforementioned purpose or in the furtherance

thereof, in particular, borrowing and the constitution of any

guarantees or pledges required in relation thereto.

COMPANY AND TRADE REGISTER
780 152 914 RCS PARIS

NAF 702 C

DOCUMENTS PERTAINING TO THE COMPANY
ARE AVAILABLE FOR CONSULTATION AT
6, boulevard des Capucines - 75009 Paris

Phone: 33 1 40 67 30 01

FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.

STATUTORY DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS
At least 5% of profits for the fiscal year, less any prior loss-

es, are set aside to establish the legally required reserve

fund, until such fund equals one-tenth of the capital stock.

The balance and any retained earnings constitute dis-

tributable profit, from which is deducted any amounts that

the shareholders, acting on the recommendation of the

Executive Board and subject to the approval of the

Supervisory Board, decide to appropriate to one or more

optional, ordinary or extraordinary funds, with or without spe-

cial appropriation, or to carry forward as retained earnings.

The remaining balance is apportioned among the shares.

The annual meeting of shareholders called to approve the

financial statements may grant each shareholder the option

of receiving the dividend in cash or in shares, for all or a

portion of the distributed dividend. This option may also be

granted for advances on dividends.

GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS
General meetings of the shareholders are convened by the

Executive Board or the Supervisory Board, and conduct

business in accordance with the legislative and regulatory

provisions in force.

Shareholders may attend a general shareholders’ meeting

provided that they have held their registered share(s) for at

least five days prior to such meeting, without having to

complete any preliminary formalities.

At least five days before the scheduled meeting date and at the

venue indicated in the notice of meeting, holders of bearer shares

wishing to attend a general meeting of the shareholders must file

a certificate issued by an authorized intermediary attesting to the

non-assignability of their shares until the date of such meeting.

The executive board may, at its option, adopt a general

measure that shortens the time requirements set forth in

the preceding paragraph. Shareholders may vote at all

shareholders’ meetings by mail as provided for by law. To

be counted, votes must be received by the Company at

least three days before the meeting.

STATUTORY DISCLOSURE OF THRESHOLDS
Any natural or legal person, acting alone or in concert, who

directly or indirectly acquires more than 2% of the share

capital or any multiple thereof, is required to notify the

Company of the total number of shares held, within 10 days

of having surpassed one of the aforementioned thresholds,

by certified letter return receipt requested.

For the portion of share ownership which exceeds the per-

centage for which such notification should have been made,

failure to comply with this requirement as indicated above

shall entail the forfeiture of voting rights at all meetings of

shareholders, if such failure to comply is noted at the time

of such meeting and if one or more shareholders together

holding at least 2% of the share capital so request, and this

for a period of two years of the date on which the share-

holder in question has made such notification.

Such persons are also required to inform the Company, as

per the aforementioned procedures and within the stated

deadlines, when their share ownership falls below any of

the thresholds referred to hereinabove.

LITIGATION
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no exceptional

event or litigation of which it is aware to date is likely to

have a material impact on the Company's business, assets,

financial conditions or earnings.

CHANGE IN WORKFORCE
At December 31, 2002, Klépierre had 636 employees,

divided between Klépierre Services (83 people), Klégestion 

(16 people), CB Pierre (4 people) and Ségécé (286 people).

The remainder of the workforce is mainly employed by

Ségécé subsidiaries outside of France.
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General information on equity capital

SHARE CAPITAL – TYPE OF SHARES
At December 31, 2002, equity capital amounted to

€119,359,368, divided into 14,919,921 fully paid-up shares

with a par value of €8.

These shares may be in registered or bearer form, at the

option of the shareholder.

> At the shareholders’ meeting on April 4, 2003, the Executive

Board will recommend that shareholders approve the reduction

of the par value of the shares representing the share capital

from €8 to €4, representing a total of 29,839,842 shares after

the reduction.

> The Executive Board will also recommend that share

capital be raised through the capitalization of reserves and

the free allotment of shares, at the rate of one new share

for every two existing shares with a par value of €4 each.

This will raise share capital to 44,759,763 shares (par value

of €4 each).

AUTHORIZATION TO ISSUE NEW EQUITY
By virtue of the resolutions passed by the extraordinary

meeting of shareholders, the Executive Board is authorized

to raise new equity as indicated in the table below:

AUTHORIZATION TO ISSUE NEW EQUITY

Authorization Maximum amount Date
to raise new equity of authorization Term

To issue shares of common stock, with or 
without warrants, and other MS with a claim €56 000 000 AGM 04/11/2002 (1) 26 months
to the Company's capital, with PSR 

To issue shares of common stock, with or 
without warrants, and other MS with a claim €56 000 000 AGM 04/11/2002 (1) (2) 26 months
to the Company's capital, without PSR

Stock subscription and 3% of share capital, AGM 04/28/1999 (3) 4 years
purchase option 447,598 shares*

OTHER EQUITY SECURITIES
> The meeting of shareholders on October 28, 1998

authorized the Executive Board to issue convertible bonds

without preferential subscription rights for up to FF 4.9 bil-

lion. By virtue of this authorization, the Executive Board

decided on November 2, 1998 to issue convertible bonds,

and empowered its chairman to determine the dates and

terms of the cash issue. The Supervisory Board authorized

this convertible bond issue at its meeting on October 28,

1998. Pursuant to these authorizations, a FF 1,257,031,895

note was issued, evidenced by 970,681 convertible bonds

with a nominal value of FF 1,295. Characteristics of the

bonds:

> offering and settlement date: November 17, 1998;

> coupon/annual interest: 3%;

> redemption in full: January 1, 2006 for FF 1,327.38.

A total of 214,195 bonds were converted between

November 17, 1998 and December 31, 2001, resulting to

the issuance of 441,145 new shares.

In accordance with the conditions set out in the bond issue

contract, Klépierre elected in 2002 to exercise its early call

option on all of outstanding convertible bonds. From

August 14 to November 14, 2002, bondholders had the

option of: 

*Based on the number 
of shares forming the equity
capital on December 31,
2002 (14,919,921 shares).

Abbreviations:
AGE: Annual Extraordinary
General meeting 
of shareholders
MS: marketable securities
PSR: pre-emptive 
subscription rights

(1) For these authorizations,
the maximum increase 
in equity capital 
is €56,000,000,
and the maximum increase 
in corporate debt is
€945,000,000. These
authorizations cancel and
replace the unused portion 
of the previously granted
authorization.

(2) This authorization 
also covers consideration
of any securities that may
be tendered in a public
exchange offer on
securities, provided 
that they fulfill the
conditions set forth 
in Article L. 225-148 of
French Company Law.

(3) Stock subscription 
and purchase options are valid
for 5 to 10 years. They can 
be exercised at any time,
in part or in full, as of the fifth
anniversary of the date 
on which they are granted 
by the Executive Board 
(see the paragraph on
page 133 pertaining 
to stock subscription 
and purchase options).
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NEW EQUITY ISSUES

Dates Type of increase Number Premium Equity capital
of shares issued

July 21, 1998 Merger-absorption 1 036 096 FF550 205 063 FF476 406 400 
of Compagnie Foncière de Paribas

COB Visa no.98-522

July 21, 1998 Contribution of securities of Foncière 1 411 398 FF1 428 037 249 FF617 546 200 
capital (20,041,849 shares)

COB Visa no.98-522

July 21, 1998 Contribution of securities of Klécentres 295 744 FF288 616 351 FF647 120 600 
(1,267,036 shares)
COB Visa no.98-522

October 28, 1998 Decrease in par value - - FF647 120 600 
from FF100 to FF50 (1)

January 19, 1999 Bond conversion (2) 3 124 - FF647 276 800 
COB Visa no.98-850

January 24, 2000 Bond conversion (2) 209 - FF647 287 250 
COB Visa no.98-850

January 30, 2001 Bond conversion (2) 2 910 - FF647 432 750 
COB Visa no.98-850

June 5, 2001 Conversion of equity capital into euros - - €103 589 240 
COB Visa no.98-850

June 15, 2002 Bond conversion (2) 434 902 - €107 068 456 
COB Visa no.98-850

December 3, 2002 Bond conversion (2) 1 536 364 - €119 359 368 
COB Visa no.98-850

(1) AGM of October 28, 1998 – Reduction in par value per share from FF100 to FF50.
Equity capital of FF647,120,600 divided into 12,942,412 shares.

(2) November 1998 Convertible bond – initially evidenced by 970,681 bonds with a face value of FF1,295 
(see the paragraph entitled other equity securities, page 129).

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF CHANGES 
IN SHARE CAPITAL
Between 1993 and 1997, equity capital was unchanged at

FF 372,796,800.

> requesting the conversion of their bonds into shares on

the basis of 2.06 shares per bond tendered;

> redeeming their bonds outright for €203.49 per share.

A total of 745,763 bonds were presented for conversion in

2002, resulting in the issuance of 1,536,364 new shares.

Of the total 970,681 bonds outstanding, 959,958 were

converted, resulting in the issuance of 1,977,509 new shares.

The remaining 10,723 bonds were redeemed in accor-

dance with the issue contract.

> The annual meeting of shareholders held on April 11,

2002 authorized the Executive Board, subject to the prior

approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase equity cap-

ital by a maximum principal amount of €56,000,000, with

pre-emptive subscription rights waived, (I) through the

issue of new shares, with or without stock purchase war-

rants, payable in cash or to redeem a debt, with or without

an issue premium (II) through the issue of securities other

than shares of stock, in accordance with legislation in

force, with a direct or indirect claim to the shares of the

Company at maturity through conversion, exchange or

redemption, or upon presentation of a warrant, whether at

any time, or a determined date or during defined periods.

These securities may be issued in euros or in any other cur-

rency or monetary unit established by reference to several

currencies, up to a total amount of €945,000,000 or its

equivalent in any other currency or monetary unit estab-

lished by reference to several currencies determined at the

date the decision was made to issue them; (III) through the

issue of stock purchase warrants payable in cash, with the

understanding that these warrants may be attached or not

to securities mentioned in paragraph II above, issued

simultaneously (IV) through the simultaneous execution of

one or more of the aforementioned procedures.

This authorization was granted for a period of 26 months.



131

1
.

3
.

2
.

DIVIDENDS
The table below lists the dividend payouts made in the last

five years.

No advances were granted during this period.

To date, no dividend has been distributed in the form of

new shares. Dividends that are unclaimed five years after

the original date of payment are turned over to the French

government.

Capital and voting rights

ANALYSIS OF CAPITAL AND VOTING RIGHTS
Share capital consists of 14,919,921 fully paid-up shares with

a par value of €8.

Shareholders or their designated proxies are entitled to two

votes for each share held at ordinary or extraordinary meetings

of shareholders, provided that their shares are fully paid up

and have been registered in their name as owner of record for

at least two years, or come from a pool of fully paid-up shares,

all of which have been registered in the name of their owners

for at least two years.

All shares converted to bearer shares (or whose ownership is

transferred) forfeit the right to a double vote. However, assign-

ment through inheritance, liquidation of community property

between spouses, or donations inter vivos to a spouse or rel-

ative entitled to inherit do not lead to the loss of acquired vot-

ing rights (pursuant to a decision of the shareholders assem-

bled in an extraordinary meeting on July 21, 1998).

As of December 31, 2002, there were 22,636,425 voting

rights, including 7,907,700 double voting rights.

DIVIDENDS

Year of distribution 1998* 1999* 2000 2001 2002

Number of shares 3 727 968 12 945 536 12 945 745 12 948 655 13 383 557

Net dividend FF28.00 FF15.00 €2.50 €2.75 €3.10 

Tax credit FF14.00 FF7.50 (1)
€1.25 (1)

€1.37 (1)
€1.55 (1)

FF6.75 (2)
€1 (3)

€0.69 (4)
€0.46 (5)

Total distribution FF42.00 FF22.50 (1)
€3.75 (1)

€4.12 (1)
€4.65 (1)

FF21.75 (2)
€3.50 (3)

€3.44 (4)
€3.56 (5)

Net dividend payout FF104 383 104 FF194 183 040 €32 364 362.50 €35 608 801.25 €41 489 026.70

* Based on one share with a par value of FF100 for fiscal year 1998.

(1) 50% tax credit (2) 45% tax credit (3) 40% tax credit (4) 25% tax credit (5) 15% tax credit
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

2

2

Number of Total votes Votes % Capital % Voting
shares ownership rights

Single Double

O.G.D.I. 1 979 358 3 958 716 0 1 979 358 13.27% 17.49%

FONCIÈRE DE LA COMPAGNIE BANCAIRE 2 671 448 5 342 896 0 2 671 448 17.91% 23.60%

SAS KLÉFINANCES 1 015 698 2 031 396 0 1 015 698 6.81% 8.97%

BNP PARIBAS 1 260 323 2 520 423 223 1 260 100 8.45% 11.13%

CARDIF 34 68 0 34 NS NS

FINANCIÈRE MARCHE ST HONORÉ 628 1 256 0 628 NS 0.01%

COMPAGNIE FINANCIÈRE OTTOMANE 950 000 1 900 000 0 950 000 6.37% 8.39%

SETIC 33 198 33 198 33 198 0 0.22% 0.15%

UCB BAIL 140 280 0 140 NS NS

CEIC 2 4 0 2 NS NS

SGCF 7 618 7 674 7 562 56 0.05% 0.03%

TOTAL BNP PARIBAS GROUP 7 918 447 15 795 911 40 983 7 877 464 53.07% 69.78%

Float 6 810 971 6 840 514 6 781 428 29 543 45.65% 30.22%
incl F.F.B 25 602 51 204 - 25 602 0.17% 0.23%

incl A.B.P. 733 471 733 471 733 471 4.92% 3.24%

Treasury shares 190 503 - - - 1.28% 0.00%

Total 14 919 921 22 636 425 6 822 411 7 907 007 100% 100%

TWO-YEAR ANALYSIS OF EQUITY CAPITAL

2

December 31, 2000 December 31, 2001

Shareholder No. of % % No. of % %
shares ownership ownership shares ownership ownership

TOTAL PARIBAS GROUP 7 877 464 60.85% 75.28% 7 918 447 61.15% 75.52%

Float 4 829 489 37.31% 24.72% 4 781 641 36.93% 24.48%

Treasury shares 238 583 1.84% - 248 567 1.92% -

The principal shareholders of 14,919,921 shares (as of

December 31, 2002) are indicated in the table below.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company owned 190,503

treasury shares, representing 1.28% of total equity capital.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the members of

the Supervisory Board hold, either directly or through the

group to which they belong, 53.07% of the capital and

69.78% of the voting rights.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no share-

holders’, private or group agreements involving persons who

exercise or could exercise control over the Company.

AUTHORIZATION TO TRADE IN SHARES AND, 
IF NECESSARY, TO CANCEL SUCH SHARES
In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-209 of

the French Company Code, the ordinary meeting of share-

holders of April 11, 2002 authorized the Executive Board to

purchase the Company’s shares. This authorization allows

the Company to lawfully trade in its own shares for the 

purpose of:

> buying and selling shares on the basis of prevailing 

market conditions;

> stabilizing the market price of its shares by buying and

selling on the stock market (these transactions would be

made to counter adverse price trends);

> implementing a policy aimed at maximizing earnings per

share;

> making shares of stock available to employees and direc-

tors and officers of the Company and Group, as provided

for by law;

> using them as tender in acquisitions;

> remitting shares during the exercise of rights attached to

securities with a claim to shares of the Company at matu-

rity, through conversion, exchange or redemption, upon

presentation of a warrant;

> reducing equity capital by canceling some or all of these

shares.

The maximum number of shares that may be acquired is

limited to 10% of the Company’s equity capital.
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Supervisory Board, to grant options, in one or more grants,

to subscribe to new Company shares or to purchase exist-

ing Company shares from purchases made by the

Company pursuant to applicable law. The subscription or

purchase price on the date the options are granted may not

be less than the average listed price over the 20 preceding

trading days.

The total number of subscription and purchase of options

granted may not exceed 3% of share capital.

Such options will have a vesting period of five to 10 years.

As of December 31, 2002, 70,600 options had been grant-

ed (representing 0.47% of share capital) by the Executive

Board (on June 14 and June 24, 2000).

The maximum purchase price per share is €160 and the

minimum selling price is €80 per share.

This authorization is valid for a period of 18 months.

The Executive Board may also cancel treasury shares held

in connection with stock purchase authorizations, for a

period of two years and up to a maximum of 10% of the

equity capital per 24-month period, for the purchase of

reducing share capital by charging the difference between

the purchase value of the cancelled securities and their par

value to available premiums and reserves.

This authorization was the subject of information memo-

randum, which obtained a visa from the COB (no.02-277) 

on March 26, 2002.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had repurchased

190,503 shares, representing 1.28% of share capital. Of

this total, 100,000 shares were set aside for the stock sub-

scription option program.

> At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on April 4,

2003, the Executive Board will recommend that the share-

holders renew this authorization for a period of 18 months.

The terms and conditions will be substantially the same,

except that the maximum purchase price will be €180 and

the minimum selling price will be €99 for each share with 

a par value of €8.

Subject to shareholder approval of the sixth and seventh

resolutions on the agenda of the shareholders’ meeting,

which pertain to the reduction of the par value of shares

from €8 to €4 and a capital increase through capitalization

of reserves, the maximum purchase price shall be reduced

to €60 and the minimum selling price shall be reduced to

€33.

This authorization will be discussed in a new information

memorandum to be filed with the COB.

SHARE SUBSCRIPTION AND PURCHASE
OPTIONS
At their meeting on April 28, 1999, the shareholders autho-

rized the Executive Board, pending approval of the

STOCK PURCHASE OPTIONS

Date of Extraordinary Stock purchase Stock purchase options Options that may be
shareholders’ meeting options granted Stock purchase options exercisable granted in the form of

but not exercisable stock purchase options

April 28, 1999 70 600 0 29 400

o/w the Executive Board 1 the Executive Board 24 000 0

No stock purchase or subscription was granted or exercised in 2002.
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Capital and stock market

The Company’s shares are listed on the Deferred

Settlement Service (SRD) of the Euronext Premier Marché.

3% CONVERTIBLE BONDS 01/2000-01/2006
As of July 15, 2002, 31% of the convertible bond issued in

July of 2000 had been redeemed at the option of the hold-

er. In light of the 30% difference between the listed price

and the redemption value, Klépierre elected to exercise its

early call option on the remaining convertible bonds.

As of November 14, 2002, a total of 959,958 bonds had

been presented for conversion. Consequently, approxi-

mately 99% of the bonds initially issued have now been

converted, resulting in the issuance of 1,977,509 shares

(1,536,364 in 2002). These conversions increased share-

holders’ equity by €147 million in 2002 and by €190 mil-

lion overall.

Description of the convertible bond:

> principal amount of issue: €191.6 million

> issue price: €197.40

> due date: January 1, 2006

> coupon: 3% (gross yield to maturity 3.31%)

> conversion: 2.06 Klépierre shares per bond

tendered (corresponding price: €98.70)

> redemption price: €202.40

> sicovam code: 18063

> quotation: Euronext, Premier Marché.

Offering circular 98-850 was filed with the COB on

November 3, 1998.

SHARES

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Market capitalization (in € million) (1) 1125 1243 1297 1436 1927

Number of securities traded - Daily average volume 6 043 7071 8051 8148 11729

Share price - high 94.8 102.0 104.0 110.9 134.60
- low 58.7 78.0 89.9 95.0 108.2
- close 86.9 96.0 100.2 107.3 129.1

(1) Last quotation of the year.

TRADING VOLUME OVER THE LAST 12 MONTHS (IN NUMBER OF SHARES AND AMOUNT OF EQUITY TRADED)

Price Price Number of Amount
Month (high) (low) shares traded traded (in € million)

January 2002 112.20 108.20 218 282 23.8

February 2002 117.20 111.70 130 421 14.9

March 2002 119.50 110.10 203 608 23.6

April 2002 123.40 117.20 186 400 22.5

May 2002 134.60 118.80 193 849 24.2

June 2002 132.90 122.10 289 965 36.5

July 2002 130.00 113.90 254 648 31.3

August 2002 123.50 112.50 129 834 15.6

September 2002 121.70 114.50 298 166 35.6

October 2002 117.40 108.20 444 729 49.8

November 2002 130.80 111.70 346 090 42.5

December 2002 133.00 126.40 283 135 36.6

JULY 2008 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

A prospectus dated July 9, 2001 is available from the Company.

DESCRIPTION

Principal amount of the issue: €600 million

Issue price: 99.557% for a principal amount of €500 million
99.006% for a principal amount of €100 million

Due date: July 10, 2008

Coupon: 6.125%

Sicovam code: 48651

Quotation: Luxembourg Stock Exchange
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Supervisory Board

Chairman: Vivien LÉVY-GARBOUA (1) (2) (3) 200 (4) Member of the BNP Paribas Executive Committee

Vice Chairman of the Board: Christian MANSET (1) (3) 104 (4) President of Compagnie Financière Ottomane

Members: Philippe DULAC (2) 204 (4) Chairman of Epargne Association

Bertrand de FEYDEAU (2) (3) 100 (4) Senior Executive Vice President of Economic Affairs for the Paris Archdiocese

Bertrand JACQUILLAT (1) 200 (4) Chairman and CEO of Associés en Finance

Bertrand LETAMENDIA (1) 100 (4) Chief Real Estate Officer, AGF Group

Jean NUNEZ (1) 50 (4) Head of Finance and Control, BNP Paribas Banque de Financement 

Laurent TRECA (3) 20 (4) Head of Development for BNP Paribas

No members of the Supervisory Board are elected by employees.

COMPENSATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
The amount of director’s fees paid to the members of the Supervisory Board in 2002 amounted to €85,371.

SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETINGS
The supervisory board met six times in 2002.

Executive Board

Chairman: Michel CLAIR 2 833 (4)

Members: Claude LOBJOIE 200 (4)

Éric RANJARD 162 (4)

Jean-Paul SABET 200 (4)

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETINGS
The Executive Board meets weekly.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES GRANTED 
TO MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE 
AND SUPERVISORY BOARD:
None.

(1) Member of the Audit
Committee

(2) Member of the
Compensation Committee

(3) Member of the Investment
Committees

(4) Number of shares owned.

Pursuant to COB regulation no.2002-01, the members of the Company’s Supervisory and Executive Boards are required to disclose their dealings in the Company’s securities, 

and must refrain from making any personal transactions outside of authorized periods (“windows”). Klépierre requires that certain of its employees, who hold sensitive positions, 

do the same. ●
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Klépierre has identified the greatest potential sources of

risk facing its operating environment and its core business-

es.

Real-estate market risks

At year-end 2002, Klépierre’s real-estate portfolio com-

prised three-quarters shopping center properties and one-

quarter office holdings. Active in the highly cyclical Paris

office property market, where real-estate and rental prices

tend to fluctuate, Klépierre has high-quality office property

holdings located in prime real-estate areas, which makes

them less vulnerable to market downturns. In the past,

shopping center properties have proven highly resistant to

real-estate market downturns.

Risk related to changes 
in consumption patterns

European consumption trends are one of the main drivers

of shopping center performance. Consumer spending has

risen steadily for more than 50 years in Europe, and market

downturns are generally short-lived. Klépierre protects

itself from temporary downturns in consumer spending by

negotiating longer terms on its leases.

Real-estate development risk

Klépierre does not engage in office real-estate develop-

ment activities. Its shopping center development activity is

restricted to France. Two major development risks have

been identified:

> cost of construction. Where possible, Klépierre gives

preference to development contracts that call for the use of

specialized contractors working for a pre-defined price;

> commercial risk. The success of shopping centers and

the regulatory and zoning restrictions placed on building

new complexes make them highly attractive to large retail-

ers. Most large and mid-sized development projects are

fully leased up when construction work commences.

Tenant insolvency risk

In the Office sector, Klépierre has corporate tenants of the

first rank, operating in the more traditional business sec-

tors. The 10 largest tenants only account for one-third of

full-year rents, improving the risk profile of Klépierre's hold-

ings. The default rate for 2002 remains low (0.25%).

In the Shopping center sector, the insolvency risk is also

adequately spread. The largest tenant only represents 5%

of full-year rents. While the default rate has risen in light of

the significant increase in the volume of leases, it was only

0.7% of invoiced rents at the December 31, 2002 reporting

date.

Risk related to foreign development
projects

Klépierre limits its foreign development projects to

Continental Europe.

Within the eurozone, Klépierre has established a network of

local partners, and has secured the resources needed to

identify, insofar as possible, local market trends and prac-

tices. In Central Europe, Klépierre has a selective develop-

ment policy, and limits its investments in these countries to

no more than 10% of its total portfolio.

Interest-rate risk

As Klépierre’s corporate debt has increased significantly in

recent years, the Company has also taken measures

intended to hedge interest-rate exposure, with the aim of

increasing the percentage of its fixed-rate debt from 60 to

65%, a level that is appropriate given the Group’s asset

profile. As a reminder, lease income earned by the Group is

indexed to the cost of construction index (ICC), which pro-

tects its revenues during prolonged inflationary periods.

Insurance

Klépierre has contracted insurance coverage designed to

protect the capital and income of each of its core business

segments.

SHOPPING CENTERS
Klépierre’s facilities are protected by comprehensive insur-

ance policies that include optional loss settlement clauses

covering the replacement cost of related assets. These

policies also include business interruption coverage, of one

or two years depending on the shopping center, in the

event of an insured accident.

To optimize this coverage, Klépierre has its property hold-

ings in France and abroad appraised on a regular basis by

real-estate valuation experts.

When these policies came up for renewal in late 2002, pre-

mium rate increases of around 20% went into effect.

Insurance premiums for comprehensive property insurance

coverage (excluding loss of lease income) are re-billed to

tenants as an operating expense.

Klépierre has contracted Assurpol third-party liability insur-

ance for its facilities with significant pollution and environ-

mental liability exposure (such as service stations, auto

repair shops).

Ségécé has third-party liability insurance cover for its man-

agement and sales and marketing business.

Risk management
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Legal intelligence

Klépierre’s legal department and supporting departments

work in partnership with external consultants to ensure that

information on new laws and regulations that could have a

material impact on the Group’s situation and its business

development is captured, processed and disseminated

throughout the Group. This intelligence gathering extends

to legislation and regulations in every country in which the

group has equity interests.

OFFICES
Klépierre’s office holdings are protected by a fleet policy

that features an optional loss settlement clause and two-

year business interruption coverage. Co-operative proper-

ties are protected by a contract that supplements, if

needed, other insurance coverage acquired by co-owners. 

At year-end 2002, insurance premiums increased by 17%

for office holdings and by 40% for warehouses. These

sums are re-billed to tenants as operating expenses.

To supplement professional third-party liability coverage for

its management business, Klégestion occasionally con-

tracts property-casualty and construction coverage for ren-

ovation and maintenance work it carries out.

SENIOR OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS IN 2002

Type of compensation

Senior officers and directors Gross salary Directors’ fees Total

Executive Board Michel CLAIR 380 273 3 050 383 323
Claude LOBJOIE 228 917 3 050 231 967
Éric RANJARD 327 788 3 050 330 838
Jean-Paul SABET 285 687 3 050 288 737

Supervisory Vivien LÉVY-GARBOUA 10 671 10 671
Board Bertrand de FEYDEAU 10 671 10 671

Philippe DULAC 10 671 10 671
Bertrand JACQUILLAT 10 671 10 671
Bertrand LETAMENDIA 10 671 10 671
Christian MANSET 10 671 10 671
Jean NUNEZ 10 671 10 671
Laurent TRECA 10 671 10 671

in €

FEES PAID IN 2002 

In € thousands

Compensation and incentives Fees paid to independent
auditors in 2002

2003 Earnings and revenue 
disclosures

January 29, 2003: 2002 annual revenues

February 25, 2003: 2002 annual earnings

April 4, 2003: 2002 annual general meeting 

of shareholders

April 15, 2003: dividend payout

April 23, 2003: first quarter revenues

July 23, 2003: second quarter revenues

September 9, 2003: interim revenues

October 29, 2003: third quarter revenues ●

2

2

2

Ernst & Young Mazars & Guérard

Amount % Amount %

Audit (1)

- Independent audit and certification of corporate 
and consolidated financial statements 315 56.6% 322 35.1%

- Related services 242 43.4% 595 64.9%

Subtotal 557 100.0% 917 100.0%

Other services - - - -

Subtotal - - - -

TOTAL 557 100.0% 917 100.0%

(1) Includes services provided by independent experts or members of the audit network,
at the request of the independent auditors and in relation to the performance of their audits.
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List of senior officers, positions and offices held

By Klépierre’s senior officers at December 31, 2002

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Michel CLAIR
> Chairman and CEO of Klépierre

> Chairman of SAS Klécentres

> Chairman of SAS Valéry Développement

Board member:

> SAS Ségécé

> Régie Immobilière de la Ville de Paris

> Les Trois Vallées

Trustee:

> SNC Kléber La Pérouse

> SARL Société de Recherches 

et de Développement Immobilier

Éric RANJARD
> Member of the Klépierre Executive Board

> Chairman of SAS Ségécé

> Vice Chairman of Conseil National 

des Centres Commerciaux

> Chairman of SAS Ségécar

> Chairman of SAS Soaval

> Chairman of Centro Shopping Gestion (Spain)

> Chairman of Novate SRL (Italy)

> Chairman of Belarcol (Belgium)

> Chairman of Klécar Italia (Italy)

> Chairman of Klefin Italia (Italy)

> Chairman of Eurocenter (Italy)

> Chairman of Klépierre Foncier Makédonia (Greece)

> Vice Chairman of Immobiliare Commerciale

Dodicescima SPA (Italy)

> Vice Chairman of Immobiliare Magnolia SRL (Italy)

> Vice Chairman of Cienneo SRL (Italy)

> Vice Chairman of PSG (Italy)

> Member of the ARCOL Group Supervisory Board

(Slovakia)

Board member:

> SAS Klécentres

> SID ETP

> Belga 7 (Belgium)

> GFK SRL (Italy)

> SKF SPA (Italy)

> Devimo (Belgium)

> Foncière de Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)

> Belarcol (Belgium)

> Centro Shopping Gestion (Spain)

> Klépierre Foncier Makédonia (Greece)

> PSG (Italy)

> Eurocenter (Italy)

> Effe Kappa (Italy)

> Klécar Italia (Italy)

> Klefin Italia (Italy)

> Cienno (Italy)

> Novate (Italy)

> Immobiliare Magnolia (Italy)

> Immobiliare Galerie Commerciali IGC (Italy)

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

> Immobiliare Commerciali Dodicesima – ICD (Italy)

Claude LOBJOIE
> Member of the Klépierre Executive Board

> Chairman of SAS Klégestion

> Chairman of SAS GMII

> Sole director of GIE Klépierre Services

Board members:

> SAS Ségécé

> Comadim

Trustee:

> SNC CB Pierre

Jean-Paul SABET
> Member of the Klépierre Executive Board

> Member of the EPRA Executive Board

> Chairman of the SAS Société Parisienne du Marais

> Chairman of SAS Ceninve

> Senior Executive Officer of Participations Mobilières

> Chairman of SAS Marais Participation

> Chairman of SAS Parisienne des Capucines

> Member of the LDC Supervisory Board

> Senior Executive Officer of Société Centrale d’Investissement

> Chairman of Foncière de Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)

> Vice Chairman of Novate SRL (Italy)

> Vice Chairman of Klépierre Foncière Makédonia (Greece)

> Member of the Supervisory Board of the ARCOL Group

(Slovakia)
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Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Board member:

> SAS Ségécé

> SAS Klécentres

> Régie Immobilière de la Ville de Paris

> Klépierre Foncier Makédonia (Greece)

> Belga 7 (Belgium)

> Cienneo SRL (Italy)

> Immobiliare Commerciale Dodicesima SPA (Italy)

> SKF SPA (Italy)

> Zobel Investment BV (Italy)

> Belarcol (Belgium)

> Southern Star (US)

> Foncière Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)

> Klécar Italia (Italy)

> Klefin Italia (Italy)

> Novate SRL (Italy)

Trustee:

> SNC KLP Bis

KLÉPIERRE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Vivien LÉVY-GARBOUA
> Chairman of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Member of the BNP Paribas Executive Committee

> Head of Banque Privée Gestion d’Actifs

> Chairman of BNP Paribas Private Bank, Paris

> Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of BNP Paribas

Securities Services

> Member of the Supervisory Board of SAS Meunier

Promotion

> Member of the Supervisory Board of PUF

> Chairman of BNP Paribas (Luxembourg) SA

> Chairman of UEB (Switzerland)

Board member:

> COFICEM

> BNP Paribas Immobilier (SAS)

> BNP Paribas SA (Switzerland)

> BNP Paribas (Great Britain)

> Fischer Francis Trees & Watts (US)

Permanent representative:

> of BNP Paribas (SAS Ségécé)

> of Cimoxi (SAS BNP Paribas Immobilier)

Non-voting Board member:

> Cardif

> Natio Vie

Christian MANSET
> Vice Chairman of the Klépierre Supervisory 

Board

> Chairman of Compagnie Financière Ottomane

(Luxembourg)

Board member:

> Finaxa

> Compagnie Financière de Paris

> ERBE SA (Belgium)

Philippe DULAC
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Chairman of Epargne Association (Sicav)

> Member of the ESSO Supervisory Board

Trustee:

> SARL Vénerie

Bertand LETAMENDIA
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Chief Real Estate Officer, AGF Group

> Chairman of SAS AGF Favart

> Chairman of SAS AGF Saint-Marc

> Chairman of SAS Établissements Paindovoine

> Chairman of SAS Étoile Foncière Immobilière

> Chairman of SAS Financière COGEDIM Laennec

> Chairman of SAS du Hameau

> Chairman of SAS Kléber Lamartine

> Chairman of SAS 12 Madeleine

> Chairman of SAS Kléber Passy

> Chairman of SAS Kléber Poincaré

> Chairman of SAS 48 Notre Dame des Victoires

> Chairman of SAS 38 Opéra

> Chairman of SAS Société Commerciale Vernet

> Chairman of SAS Société Foncière Européenne

> Chairman of SAS Société de Négociations Immobilières

et Mobilières Maleville

> Chairman of Sonimm

> Chairman of Vernon SAS

Board member:

> Gecina

> Sophia

> SOGEPROM

> SIMCO

Trustee:

> SNC AGF Immobilier

> SNC Phénix Immobilier

> SNC Suffren Fédération

> SNC Kléber Mirabeau

> SNC AIP

> SCI Centre et Paris

> SCI 12, rue de Rambouillet

> SCI Défense Michelet

> EURL 31, rue Le Peletier

> EURL 20-22, rue Le Peletier

> EURL Allianz Immo 3

> SNC Allianz Bercy

> EURL 5, rue Villebois Mareuil

> SARL Financière et Foncière Européenne

> SARL Laffitte Victoire

> SARL SETRI

> SCI Civilassur

> SCI Remaupin
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> SCI Via Pierre I

> SCI 18, rue Vivienne - Vienne 18

> SCI Ingrassur

> SCI Mozartassur

> SCI Clichassur

> SCI Martinassur

> SCO Corepassur

> SCI Vigic Rayol

> SCI Vi-Jaurès

> SCI 16-18, avenue Georges V

> SCI 25, rue Clapeyron

> SCI 40, rue Duquesne

> SCI 21, rue Largilière

> SCI 30, rue Pergolèse

> SCI 10, rue de Richelieu

> SCI 3, route de la Wantzenau les portes de l’Europe

> SC Prelloyd Immobilier

> Société de Construction et de gestion immobilière 

des Mesoyers

> SCI Sogefo

> SCCV 33 Lafayette

Stock options
No stock options were granted in 2002. ●

Bertrand de FEYDEAU
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Senior Executive Vice Chairman 

of Economic Affairs for the Paris Archdiocese

> Chairman and CEO of AXA Aedificandi “Cœur Défense”

(sicav)

> Chairman and CEO of AXA Immobilier SA

> Chairman and CEO of Immoconcept 

(subsidiary of AXA Immobilier SA)

Board member:

> Bail Investissement

> SIMCO

> Société Beaujon

> Affine

> SITC

> Ahorro Familiar

Permanent representative of:

> AXA Immobilier SA

> AXA Conseil Vie Assurance Mutuelle

> AXA Conseil Vie Logement Français

> SNC Transacxim

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Senior officer,
Positions and offices held

Jean NUNEZ
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Head of Finance and Control for the Banque 

de Financement et d’Investissements BNP Paribas

Board member:

> AXA Re Finance

Laurent TRECA
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Head of Development at BNP Paribas

> Member of the Cetelem Supervisory Board

Board member:

> BNP Paribas E Cube

> Union de Creditos Immobiliarios (UCI)

> Consors Discount Broker Ag (Germany)

> Answork

Bertrand JACQUILLAT
> Member of the Klépierre Supervisory Board

> Chairman and CEO of Associés en Finance

Board member:

> Total Fina ELF ●
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Klépierre GIE Ségécé Ségécar Klécentres Klécar Galae CSG - Klécar EFFE PSG Klécar IGC Klépierre FMC Arcol Devimo Klégestion - Klébureaux Other/

Klépierre and France and Europe KAPPA* Italia Portugal - CB Pierre external
Services subsidiaries subsidiaries Sud

- Klécar
Foncier
Iberica

- Klécar
Foncier
España

Klépierre Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing Financing

GIE SF HRM HRM CAM CAM HRM CAM CAM CAM HRM CAM
Klépierre AM SF FM FM AM FM FM FM AM FM
Services SF AM AM SF SF AM

SF

Ségécé DVPT Financing LPM LM Financing Financing LPM Financing CAA CAA CAA Financing Financing LPM
CAA LOP DVPT CAA LOP CAA LOP LOP DVPT
LPM CAA CAA

Ségécar PM PM

Klécentres Property Property

Klécar Property Property
France

Galae Multimedia Multimedia Multimedia WSD
Multimedia

CSG LPM LPM
CAA CAA

- Klécar Property Property
Europe
Sud

- Klécar
Foncier
Iberica

- Klécar
Foncier
España

EFFE CAM
KAPPA* FM

AM

PSG LPM LPM LPM
CAA CAA CAA

- Klécar Property Property
Italia

- IGC

Klépierre Property
Portugal

FMC LPM LPM

Arcol Property

Devimo CAA LPM
CAA

Klégestion LPM LPM PM
CAA MCAA

- Klébureaux Property
- CB Pierre

WSD: Web site design PM: Property management
DVPT: Development LM: Lease management
SF: Support functions LPM: Lease and property management
CAM: Company administrative management HRM: Human resources management
AM: Accounting management LOP: Leasing of personnel
FM: Financial management CAA: Consultancy and assistance on acquisitions

*EFFE KAPPA is jointly owned by Klépierre and Finim.
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Person responsible for this document

Statement of the officer responsible for the shelf registration document

To the best of our knowledge, the facts stated in this document are true and accurate in all material respects, and there

are no facts the omission of which would make misleading any statement of fact or opinion. The document provides

investors with the information they require to make an investment decision on the basis of the assets, business, financial

condition, earnings and outlook of the issuer and its Group. 

Michel Clair

March 10, 2003 Chairman of the Executive Board

Persons responsible for financial disclosures and audits

Persons responsible for audits

INCUMBENT AUDITORS
ERNST & YOUNG Audit
Tour Ernst & Young

92037 Paris La Défense Cedex

Patrice COSLIN

First appointed: AGM Nov. 4, 1968

Re-appointed: AGM Mar. 20, 1998

Expires: fiscal year 2003

MAZARS & GUÉRARD
Le Vinci - 4, allée de l’Arche

92075 Paris La Défense Cedex

Odile COULAUD

First appointed: AGM Nov. 4,1968

Re-appointed: AGM Mar. 20, 1998

Expires: fiscal year 2003

ALTERNATE AUDITORS
Jean-Marc MONTSERRAT
Tour Ernst & Young

92037 Paris La Défense Cedex

First appointed: AGM Nov. 4, 1968

Re-appointed: AGM March 20, 1998

Expires: fiscal year 2003

José MARETTE
Le Vinci - 4, allée de l’Arche

92075 Paris la Défense Cedex

First appointed: AGM Nov. 4, 1968

Re-appointed: AGM March 20, 1998

Expires: fiscal year 2003

AGM: Annual General Meeting

Persons responsible 
for financial information

PERSONS RESPONSIBLE 
FOR FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Jean-Paul SABET
Member of the Executive Board

Tel: 33 1 40 67 31 81

Jean-Michel GAULT
Chief Financial Officer

Tel: 33 1 40 67 35 05 ●
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Report of the Statutory Auditors on the Registration Document
(Document de Référence)

(A free translation of the French original)

In our capacity as statutory auditors of Klépierre and in com-

pliance with the COB1 Regulation no.98-01, we have verified,

in accordance with French professional standards, the infor-

mation in respect of the financial position and historic finan-

cial statements included in the accompanying Registration

Document (Document de Référence).

This Registration Document is the responsibility of the

Chairman of the Executive Board. Our responsibility is to

issue an opinion on the fairness of the information contained

therein with respect to the financial position and financial

statements.

We conducted our review in accordance with French profes-

sional standards. This review consisted in assessing the fair-

ness of the information on the financial position and financial

statements and to verify their consistency with the audited

accounts. We also reviewed other financial information con-

tained in the Registration Document in order to identify any

significant inconsistency with information in respect of the

financial position and financial statements and to bring to

your attention any obvious misstatements we noted based

on our general understanding of the company gained

through our audit. The prospective information is based 

on management’s expectations and intentions and not on

properly prepared projections on individual components of

the prospective information.

We issued an unqualified opinion on the annual and consol-

idated accounts for the years ended December 31, 2000,

2001 and 2002 drawn up by the Executive Board, in accor-

dance with French professional standards. Our report on the

consolidated accounts for the year ended December 31,

2000 was unqualified but we drew attention to the change in

accounting methods resulting from the implementation of the

new consolidation principles as defined in the Regulation 

99-02 of the Comité de la Règlementation Comptable.

We have nothing to report with respect to the fairness of the

information on the financial position and financial statements

contained in the Registration Document (Document de

Référence).

March 10, 2003

The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by

Mazars & Guérard: Odile Coulaud

Ernst & Young Audit: Patrice Coslin

(1) French Stock Exchange Regulatory Body Regulation.
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Shelf registration document

COB correspondence table

This financial report was registered on March 10, 2003 as a shelf registration document (document de référence).

Financial report

CHAPTER I – Person responsible for the document and for auditing financial statements
Person responsible for the document page 142
Statement page 142
Persons responsible for auditing financial statements page 142
Independent auditor’s opinion page 143
Financial disclosures page 142

CHAPTER II – Information concerning the issuer and its share capital
General information pages 127 - 128
Information concerning the share capital pages 129 to 133
Capital ownership pages 11 - 132
Market in company securities pages 10 - 11 - 134
Dividends pages 23 - 65 to 67 - 131

CHAPTER III – Information concerning the issuer’s business
Presentation of the company and the Group pages 3 – 14 and 15 – 22 and 23
Litigation page 128
Workforce pages 17 - 23 - 37 - 57 - 102 - 128
Investment policy pages 6 to 8; 29 to 31; 42
Risk management pages 136 - 137

CHAPTER IV – Information concerning the issuer’s assets, financial position and earnings
Issuer’s financial statements pages 56 to 62; 63 to 66; 72 to 103; 104 to 123
Assets pages 22 and 23 - 29 - 38 and 39 - 43 and 44 - 50 to 54 - 59

CHAPITRE V – Information concerning corporate governance and administration
Interest of officers in the share capital of the issuer page 135
Compensation page 137
Positions and offices held pages 138 to 140
Stock options page 140

CHAPTER VI – Recent developments and outlook
Recent developments pages 26 to 37; 40 to 44; 48 to 54
Outlook pages 3 - 6 - 7 - 9 - 34 - 43 - 49

“Pursuant to COB regulation 98-01, 

this shelf registration document was registered

with the Commission des Opérations 

de Bourse (the French stock exchange

regulatory authority) on March 10, 2003.

It may be used in connection with a financial

transaction only if accompanied by a 

transaction memorandum registered with 

the Commission des Opérations de Bourse.”


